United Arab Emirates University Scholarworks@UAEU

Dissertations

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

6-2019

THE ROLE OF HISTAMINE H3 RECEPTOR ANTAGONISTS IN MODULATING AUTISTIC BEHAVIORS AND ALTERED CENTRAL INFLAMMATORY RESPONSES IN DIFFERENT MOUSE MODELS OF AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER

Nermin Abdel Wahab Mahmoud Eissa Abdel Zaher

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uaeu.ac.ae/all_dissertations

Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Eissa Abdel Zaher, Nermin Abdel Wahab Mahmoud, "THE ROLE OF HISTAMINE H3 RECEPTOR ANTAGONISTS IN MODULATING AUTISTIC BEHAVIORS AND ALTERED CENTRAL INFLAMMATORY RESPONSES IN DIFFERENT MOUSE MODELS OF AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER" (2019). *Dissertations*. 100.

https://scholarworks.uaeu.ac.ae/all_dissertations/100

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at Scholarworks@UAEU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholarworks@UAEU. For more information, please contact mariam_aljaberi@uaeu.ac.ae.





جامعة الإمارات العربية المتحدة United Arab Emirates University

United Arab Emirates University

College of Medicine and Health Sciences

THE ROLE OF HISTAMINE H3 RECEPTOR ANTAGONISTS IN MODULATING AUTISTIC BEHAVIORS AND ALTERED CENTRAL INFLAMMATORY RESPONSES IN DIFFERENT MOUSE MODELS OF AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER

Nermin Abdel Wahab Mahmoud Eissa Abdel Zaher

This dissertation is submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Under the Supervision of Dr. Bassem Shaban Sadek

June 2019

Declaration of Original Work

I, Nermin Abdel Wahab Mahmoud Eissa Abdel Zaher the undersigned, a graduate student at the United Arab Emirates University (UAEU), and the author of this dissertation entitled "*The Role of Histamine H3 Receptor Antagonists in Modulating Autistic Behaviors and Altered Central Inflammatory Responses in Different Mouse Models of Autism Spectrum Disorder*", hereby, solemnly declare that this dissertation is my own original research work that has been done and prepared by me under the supervision of Dr. Bassem Shaban Sadek, in the College of Medicine and Health Sciences at UAEU. This work has not previously been presented or published or formed the basis for the award of any academic degree, diploma or a similar title at this or any other university. Any materials borrowed from other sources (whether published or unpublished) and relied upon or included in my dissertation have been properly cited and acknowledged in accordance with appropriate academic conventions. I further declare that there is no potential conflict of interest with respect to the research, data collection, authorship, presentation and/or publication of this dissertation.

Student's Signature: Date: 4/7/2019

This Doctorate Dissertation is approved by the following Examining Committee Members:

1) Advisor (Committee Chair): Bassem Shaban Sadek

Title: Associate Professor

Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics

College of Medicine and Health Sciences

Signature Bath Jorden

 Member: Shreesh K. Ojha Title: Associate Professor Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics College of Medicine and Health Sciences

Signature SSIM

3) Member: Ernest A. Adeghate

Title: Professor

Department of Anatomy

College of Medicine and Health Sciences

Signature From Acarf (

4) Member (External Examiner): Andrew Harkin

Title: Professor

Department of Pharmacology

Institution: Institute of Neuroscience, School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Trinity College, Dublin, Ireland.

Signature Andrew Harbon Date fure 12 2019

Date June 12, 2019

Date 12 June 2019

Date 12 6 2019

This Doctorate Dissertation is accepted by:

Dean of the College of Medicine and Health Sciences: Professor Juma M. Al Kaabi

Signature _

____ Date <u>4/7/2019</u>

Acting Dean of the College of Graduate Studies: Professor Ali Al-Marzouqi

Signature

1 At-in

taman Date 4/2/2019

Copy 8 of 20

Copyright © 2019 Nermin Abdel Wahab Mahmoud Eissa Abdel Zaher All Rights Reserved

Advisory Committee

Advisor: Bassem Shaban Sadek
Title: Associate Professor
Department of Pharmacology & Therapeutics
College of Medicine and Health Sciences

2) Co-advisor: Rami A. BeiramTitle: Assistant ProfessorDepartment of Pharmacology & TherapeuticsCollege of Medicine and Health Sciences

3) Member: Farah MustafaTitle: Associate ProfessorDepartment of BiochemistryCollege of Medicine and Health Sciences

4) Member: Shreesh K. OjhaTitle: Associate ProfessorDepartment of Pharmacology & TherapeuticsCollege of Medicine and Health Sciences

Abstract

Autistic spectrum disorder (ASD) represents a neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by impairment of social communication and restricted/repetitive behavior patterns or interests. Brain histamine and acetylcholine play a crucial role in cognitive functions. Considering this, the effects of systemic sub-chronic treatment with H3R antagonist DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg) on autistic-like behavioral parameters, oxidative stress, and neuroinflammation in male Tuck-Ordinary (TO) and C57BL/6 (C57) mice, prenatally exposed to valproic acid (VPA, 500 mg/kg), were investigated. the effects of dual-active H3R Furthermore, antagonist and balanced acetylcholinesterase inhibitor E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg) on autistic-associated abnormalities of VPA- exposed male C57 mice as well as BTBR T+tf/J (BTBR) mice were assessed. The results showed that VPA-exposed mice exhibited significantly lower sociability and social novelty preference compared to VPA-exposed TO and C57 mice pretreated with DL77 (10 mg/kg) or (15 mg/kg), respectively. Moreover, the same doses of DL77 attenuated repetitive/compulsive behaviors of both strain of mice, without appreciable effects on disturbed anxiety and hyperactivity when compared to the reference drug donepezil (1 mg/kg). The amelioration in autistic-like phenotypes by DL77 were accompanied by the attenuation of oxidative stress by increasing glutathione and decreasing malondialdehyde levels, and attenuation of proinflammatory cytokines interleukin-1 β , interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor- α in brain tissues from VPA-exposed mice. Comparing the results observed for DL77, the dual-active E100 (10 mg/kg) showed significantly higher improvement of autistic behavioral alterations in VPA-exposed C57 mice, and significantly palliated disturbed anxiety levels. In addition, E100 attenuated several pro-inflammatory cytokines and inflammatory mediators through the suppression of upregulated NF-kB signaling. Immunofluorescence analysis showed significant reduction in ionized calciumbinding adaptor molecule-1 increased expression in VPA-exposed C57 mice by E100, demonstrating attenuation of activated microglia. Similarly, oxidative stress status was also mitigated by E100 in brain tissues. The promising effects of E100 on autistic features in C57 mice were further complemented with the results following treatment with E100 (5 mg/kg) in BTBR mice as idiopathic model of ASD. These results provide evidence that simultaneous modulation of brain histaminergic and cholinergic neurotransmissions may have therapeutic efficacy for core symptoms of ASD. Further preclinical investigations are still necessary to corroborate and expand these observed data.

Keywords: ASD, mouse models, histamine H3 receptor antagonists, autistic-like behaviors, neuroinflammation, oxidative stress.

Title and Abstract (in Arabic)

دور مثبطات مستقبل الهيستامين H3 في تعديل السلوك التوحدي واستجابات الالتهاب المركزي المتغيرة في نماذج فئران مختلفة من اضطراب طيف التوحد

الملخص

يمثل اضطراب طيف التوحد (ASD) اضطرابًا في النمو العصبي ويتميز بضعف التواصل الاجتماعي وأنماط أو اهتمامات سلوكية مقيدة أو متكررة، ويلعب الهستامين و الأسيتيل كولين دوراً حاسماً في الوظائف الإدراكية. وبامعان النظر ، فقد تم فحص آثار المعالجة شبه المزمنة لدى مثبطات مستقبل الهستامين H3R (7D 5، 10 ، أو 15 ملغ / كلغ) على المعاملات السلوكية الشبيهة بالتوحد ، والإجهاد التأكسدي ، والتهاب الأعصاب في ذكور فئران المعاملات السلوكية الشبيهة بالتوحد ، والإجهاد التأكسدي ، والتهاب الأعصاب في ذكور فئران (TO) رTO) و Juck-Ordinary (TO) ، التي تعرضت قبل الولادة لحمض فالبرويك (TO) ماع مالغم / كغم) . كما ايضا تم اختبار وتقييم E100 (5 ، 10 ، أو 15 مجم / كجم) ثنائي الفعالية كمثبطات مستقبل الهستامين H3R وكذلك مثبط الاستيل كولينيستراز على الاعراض المرتبطة بالتوحد على فئران C57 الذكور و كذلك فئران (BTBR T+tf/j (BTBR)

وقد أكدت النتائج أن الفئران المعالجه بـ VPA قد أظهرت انخفاضاً كبيرًا في التواصل الاجتماعي وتفضيل الوحدة الاجتماعية مقارنة بفئران TO و C57 المعرضة لـ VPA و المعالجة بـ DL77 (10مجم / كجم) أو (15 مجم / كجم) على التوالي. علاوة على ذلك ، فإن نفس جرعات DL77 أدت إلى إنخفاض في السلوكيات المتكررة / القهريّة لكلتا السلالتين ، دون آثار ملحوظة على القلق المضطرب وفرط النشاط عند مقارنتها بالعقار المرجعي دونيبزيل (1 مغ / كغ). وقد رافق التحسن في الأنماط الظاهرية الشبيهة بالتوحد بواسطة TD باستعادة الإجهاد التأكسدي عن طريق زيادة الondialdehyde وانخفاض مستويات DL77 باستعادة الإجهاد وتخفيف السيتوكينات الموالية للالتهابات βlutathion ، 6- interleukin ، وتحفيف السيتوكينات الموالية للالتهابات راحك ، متحوضت قبل الولادة ل VPA برحات معلمي أنسجة المع لدى الفئران التي تعرضت قبل الولادة ل VPA

بمقارنة النتائج التي لوحظت في DL77 ، أظهر المركب E100 ثنائي الفعالية (10 مغ / كغ) تحسنا أعلى بكثير في التغيرات السلوكية التوحدية في فئران C57 المعرضة لـ VPA ، ومستويات القلق المضطربة بشكل ملحوظ. بالإضافة إلى ذلك ، خفف E100 العديد من السيتوكينات المؤيدة للالتهابات و وسطاء الالتهابات من خلال قمع إشارة NF-KB المنتظمة.

أظهر (Immunofluorescence analysis) انخفاضًا كبيرًا في زيادة التعبير مهيء رابط الكالسيوم الأيوني الجزئ- ١ في فئران C57 المعرضة لـ VPA ، مما يدل ،لى اثار E100 على توهين الخلايا المجهرية المنشطة. وبالمثل ، تم تخفيف حالة الإجهاد التأكسدي أيضًا عن طريق E100 في أنسجة المخ. وتم فهم الآثار الواعدة لـ E100 على ميزات التوحد في الفئران C57 مع النتائج التي لوحظت مع (5 E100مجم / كجم) في الفئران BTBR كنموذج مجهول السبب من ASD.

توفر هذه النتائج دليلًا على أن التعديل المتزامن للناقلات العصبية الهيستامينية والكولينينية في الدماغ قد يكون له فعالية علاجية للأعراض الأساسية لـ ASD. ولكن ، لا تزال هناك حاجة للمزيد من التجارب والدراسات قبل السريرية لتأكيد وتطوير هذه النتائج التي تم الحصول عليها.

مفاهيم البحث الرئيسية: ASD ، نماذج الفأر ، مثبطات مستقبلات الهستامين H3 ، السلوكيات الشبيهة بالتوحد ، الالتهاب العصبي ، الإجهاد التأكسدي.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank all people who have helped and inspired me during my doctoral study. Foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude and deep appreciation to my advisor Dr. Bassem Shaban Sadek for his continuous support and motivation throughout my journey towards accomplishing the PhD study. His endless patience, guidance, and immense knowledge helped me in all the time of research.

I am profoundly grateful to my committee members: Dr. Farah Mustafa, Dr. Shreesh K. Ojha, Dr. Rami Beiram for their encouragement and valuable suggestions that helped during the research. Sadly, my deepest thanks to Dr. Fakhreya Y. Jalal who passed away during the last stage of my work, for her guidance and continuous advices.

I would like to thank all members of the Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics at College of Medicine and Health Sciences for assisting me all over my studies and research. My special thanks are extended to the United Arab Emirates University for supplying us with grant to support the research.

Special thanks to Ms. Petrilla Jayaprakash, Ms. Nadia Khan, Mr. Sheikh Azimullah and Dr. Richard L. Jayaraj for their truly co-operation to make this work possible. I extend my gratitude and heartily thankfulness to my dear friends Dr. Arwa, Dr. Eslam, Dr. Shaima and Dr. Amira for the constant high support they gave me.

A very special and deep gratitude to my husband and children for their tolerance of my absence from home during many evenings, weekends, and holidays during the past years, and for their endurance of the hardships in daily life associated with my studentship. My very deep appreciation and sincere love to whom words are not enough, my parents and brothers for supporting me spiritually during my PhD study and throughout my life. I owe them my success. Dedication

To my beloved parents and family

Table of Contents

Title	i
Declaration of Original Work	ii
Copyright	iii
Advisory Committee	iv
Approval of the Doctorate Dissertation	v
Abstract	vii
Title and Abstract (in Arabic)	ix
Acknowledgements	xi
Dedication	xii
Table of Contents	xiii
List of Tables	xvii
List of Figures	xviii
List of Abbreviations	XX
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Autism Spectrum Disorder	1
1.1.1 Etiology of ASD	2
1.2 Central histamine and histaminergic system (HS)	
1.2.1 Histamine receptors	6
1.2.2 Implication of HS in brain disorders and ASD	9
1.2.3 Role of H3R antagonists in CNS diseases and ASD	
1.3 Correlation of neurotransmitter dysfunction in ASD	
1.3.1 Serotonin	
1.3.2 Dopamine	
1.3.3 GABA and Glutamate	
1.3.4 Acetylcholine	
1.3.5 Histamine	
1.4 Current pharmacological intervention	
1.4.1 Atypical antipsychotics	
1.4.2 Neurotransmitter reuptake inhibitors	
1.4.3 Tricyclic antidepressants	
1.4.4 Anticonvulsants	
1.4.5 Glutamate antagonists	
1.4.6 Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors	
1.4.7 Psychostimulants	
1.4.8 Adrenergic alpha (α) ₂ receptor agonists	

1.4.9 Opiate antagonists	
1.5 Animal models of ASD	
1.5.1 Genetic animal models of ASD	
1.5.2 Non-genetic animal models of ASD	
1.6 Neuroinflammation and ASD	
1.7 Aims and Objectives	53
Chapter 2: Methods	55
2.1 Animals	55
2.2 Establishing VPA animal model of autism	55
2.3 Drugs and chemicals	56
2.4 Study design	58
2.5 Behavioral tests	63
2.5.1 Three-chamber test (TCT)	63
2.5.2 Marble burying test (MBT)	65
2.5.3 Nestlet shredding test (NST)	66
2.5.4 Elevated plus-maze (EPM) test.	66
2.5.5 Open-field test (OFT)	67
2.6 Brain collection and tissue preparation for biochemical studies	67
2.6.1 Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)	68
2.6.2 Oxidative stress marker estimations	69
2.6.3 Western blot analysis	71
2.7 Immunofluorescence staining of Iba-1	
2.8 Determination of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity in	
BTBR mice cerebellum	
2.9 Statistical analysis	74
Chapter 3: Results	
3.1 Effects of DL77 and DOZ on sociability deficits assessed in	
VPA-exposed TO mice in TCT	
3.2 Effects of DL77 and DOZ on social novelty deficits assessed	
in VPA-exposed TO mice in TCT	
3.3 Effects of DL77 and DOZ on elevated stereotyped repetitive	
behavior in VPA-exposed TO mice in MBT.	
3.4 Effects of DL77 and DOZ on elevated stereotyped repetitive	
behavior in VPA-exposed TO mice in NST	
3.5 Effects of DL77 and DOZ pretreatment on exploratory	
behavior in VPA-exposed TO mice in EPM test.	82
3.6 Effects of DL77 and DOZ pretreatment on levels of	
malondialdehyde (MDA) and glutathione (GSH) in the	
cerebellum of VPA-exposed TO mice.	
-	

Chapte	er 4: Discussion 12	28
	of BTBR mice	26
	3 23 Effects of E100 on activated microglia in cerebellum tissues	23
	BTBR model of ASD in OFT	25
	3 22 Effects of E100 on anxiety levels and locomotor activity of	
	BTRR model of ASD in EDM	$\gamma\gamma$
	ASD IN MIBT AND NST.	20
	ODSESSIVE-COMPUTSIVE DENAVIORS OF BIBK MOUSE MODEL OF	20
	5.20 Effects E100 on stereotyped repetitive and	
	cerebellum tissues of BTBR mice	18
	3.19 Effects of E100 on acetylcholine esterase activity in	10
	impairments of BTBR mouse model of ASD	17
	3.18 Effects of E100 on sociability and social novelty	17
	tissues of VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice	15
	3.1 / Effects of E100 on iba-1 positive microglia in cerebellum	1.5
	C57BL/6J mice	12
	COX-2 in cerebellum and hippocampus of VPA-exposed	
	3.16 Effects of E100 on expression of NF-κB p65, iNOS &	
	in the cerebellum of VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice	09
	3.15 DL77 and E100 restored levels of oxidative stress markers	.
	cytokines in the cerebellum of VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice10	06
	3.14 DL77 and E100 restored levels of proinflammatory	
	OFT	04
	anxiety-like behaviors in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in	~ .
	3.13 Effects of DL77 and E100 pretreatment on exploratory and	
	EPM test	00
	and locomotor activity in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in	0.0
	3.12 Effects of DL77 and E100 pretreatment on anxiety responses	
	in NST.	97
	compulsive-like behaviors in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice	
	3.11 Effects of DL77 and E100 on elevated repetitive and	
	MBT	94
	repetitive behavior in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in	
	3.10 Effects of DL77 and E100 on elevated stereotyped	
	assessed in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in TCT	91
	3.9 Effects of DL77 and E100 on social novelty deficits	
	in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in TCT.	88
	3.8 Effects of DL77 and E100 on sociability deficits assessed	
	cerebellum of VPA-exposed TO mice.	86
	proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α in the	
	3.7 Effects of DL77 and DOZ pretreatment on levels of	

Chapter 5: Conclusion	
Future direction	
References	155
List of Publications	

List of Tables

Table 1: Selected medications of different classes that are currently used	
to manage different symptoms of ASD	
Table 2: Primary and secondary antibodies used in Western blot and their	
dilutions	

List of Figures

Figure 1: Histaminergic neuronal projections from tuberomammillary	
nucleus (TMN).	4
Figure 2: Schematic illustration of histaminergic System (HS)	6
Figure 3: Structural development from imidazole-based to non-imidazole	
based Histamine H3 receptor antagonist	14
Figure 4: Structural relationship between Pitolisant and DL77	15
Figure 5: Reported findings in different brains of ASD patients with	
altered central transmission.	16
Figure 6: Schematic depiction of microglia activation neuronal cell death	50
Figure 7: Effect of genetic and environmental factors on neuronal	
dysfunction and immune response modulating ASD symptoms	52
Figure 8: Chemical structure and in vitro affinities of DL77 and E100	
with regard to hH1R, hH3R, hH4R, in-vivo potency of DL77;	
and in vitro data of E100 against EeAChE, and EqBChE	58
Figure 9: Schematic diagram of drug treatments, behavioral studies, and	
biochemical assessments with VPA mice.	62
Figure 10: Apparatus used for behavior tests	65
Figure 11: Effects of DL77 and DOZ on sociability deficits assessed in	
VPA-exposed TO mice in TCT.	76
Figure 12: Effects of DL77 and DOZ on social novelty deficits assessed	
in VPA-exposed TO mice in TCT	78
Figure 13: Effects of DL77 and DOZ on elevated stereotyped repetitive	
behavior in VPA-exposed TO mice in MBT	80
Figure 14: Effects of DL77 and DOZ on elevated stereotyped repetitive	
behavior in VPA-exposed TO mice in NST	82
Figure 15: Effects of DL77 and DOZ pretreatment on exploratory	
behavior in VPA-exposed TO mice in EPM test	84
Figure 16: Effects of DL77 and DOZ pretreatment on levels of	
malondialdehyde (MDA) and glutathione (GSH) in the	
cerebellum of VPA-exposed TO mice	86
Figure 17: Effects of DL77 and DOZ pretreatment on levels of	
proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α in the	
cerebellum of VPA-exposed TO mice	87
Figure 18: Effects of DL77 and E100 on sociability deficits assessed in	
VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in TCT.	90
Figure 19: Effects of DL77 and E100 on social novelty deficits assessed	
in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in TCT	93
Figure 20: Effects of DL77 and E100 on elevated stereotyped repetitive	
behavior in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in MBT	96

Figure 21: Effects of DL77 and E100 on elevated repetitive and
compulsive-like behaviors in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice
in NST
Figure 22: Effects of DL77 and E100 pretreatment on anxiety responses
and locomotor activity in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in
EPM test
Figure 23: Effects of DL77 and E100 pretreatment on exploratory and
anxiety-like behaviors in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in
OFT106
Figure 24: DL77 and E100 restored levels of proinflammatory cytokines
in the cerebellum of VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice
Figure 25: DL77 and E100 restored levels of oxidative stress markers in
the cerebellum of VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice
Figure 26: Effects of E100 on expression of NF-κB p65, iNOS & COX-2
in cerebellum and hippocampus of VPA-exposed C57BL/6J
mice
Figure 27: Effects of E100 on iba-1 positive microglia in cerebellum
tissues of VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice
Figure 28: E100 improved sociability and social novelty deficits of
BTBR mouse model of ASD
Figure 29: Effects of E100 on acetylcholine esterase activity in
cerebellum tissues of BTBR mice
Figure 30: E100 mitigated stereotyped repetitive behavior in MBT and
attenuated increased obsessive-compulsive features in NST
Figure 31: Effects of E100 and DOZ pretreatment on anxiety levels and
locomotor activity in BTBR mice in EPM test
Figure 32: Effects of E100 and DOZ pretreatment on anxiety levels and
locomotor activity in BTBR mice in OFT126
Figure 33: Effects of E100 on iba-1 positive microglia in cerebellum
tissues of BTBR mice
Figure 34: Schematic illustration of possible mechanism of action of
E100145

List of Abbreviations

ASD	Autism Spectrum Disorder
5-HT	Serotonin
ACh	Acetylcholine
AChEI	Acetylcholine esterase inhibitor
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ADHD	Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
cAMP	cyclic Adenosine Triphosphate
CAT	Catalase
CNS	Central Nervous System
COX	Cyclooxygenase
СРХ	Ciproxifan
DA	Dopamine
DAT	Dopamine transporter
DOZ	Donepezil
DOZ	Donepezil
DR	Dopamine Receptor
DS	Dopaminergic System
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
GABA	λ -amino butyric acid

Glu	Glutamate
GPCR	G-protein coupled receptors
GSH	Glutathione
НА	Histamine
HDC	Histidine Decarboxylase
HNMT	Histamine N-methyl Transferase
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
HS	Histaminergic System
i.p.	Intraperitoneally
Iba-1	Ionized calcium binding adaptor molecule -1
IL	Interleukin
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
mAChR	Muscarinic acetylcholine receptor
MDA	Malondialdehyde
nAChR	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor
NE	Norepinephrine
NF-κB	Nuclear Factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NMDA	N-Methyl-D-aspartate
NRXN	Neurexin
PBS	Phosphate buffer Saline
PD	Parkinson's disease
ΡΚΔ	Protein Kinase A

PYR	Pyrilamine
RAM	R-alpha methyl histamine
RIPA	Radioimmunoprecipitation
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
SCH	Schizophrenia
SCO	Scopolamine
SOD	Super oxide dismutase
SSRI	Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
TMN	Tuberomammillary Nucleus
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
ТО	Tuck Ordinary
TS	Tourette syndrome
VPA	Valproic Acid
ZOL	Zolantadine

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Autism Spectrum Disorder

Autistic spectrum disorder (ASD) is a biologically based neurodevelopmental disorder affecting two major core behavioral symptoms, namely impairments in social skills and restricted /repetitive behavioral pattern or interest of ASD patients (Baronio, Castro, Gonchoroski et al., 2015). These core symptoms can be observed before the age of three years and are lasting for the whole lifetime (Andres, 2002). ASD has become a high priority for scientists and health care providers, and has also attracted the public attention because of reported increase in its prevalence (Sheldrick & Carter, 2018; Xu, Strathearn, Liu et al., 2018). The worldwide estimated prevalence of individuals with ASD diagnosis is strikingly high with prevalence varying across numerous studies, but it is estimated that one in 160 children has an ASD worldwide, and it is expected to increase globally (Arvidsson, Gillberg, Lichtenstein et al., 2018). Despite its increasing prevalence, the pathophysiology of ASD is still understood incompletely, and this can be attributed to challenges in identifying suitable animal models and the complexity of the neurobiology in brain function (Nestler & Hyman, 2010). Several lines of evidence suggest that strong genetic and environmental factors raise the occurrence of ASD in childhood (Baronio et al., 2015). Additionally, the heterogenicity of clinical and behavioral symptoms in autistic children is part of the difficulty in understanding the pathophysiology of this disorder, and consequently no specific treatment can be effective to all autistic children. Therefore, subgrouping of children based on their responding to intervention is essential (James, Melnyk, Fuchs et al., 2009). Studying the drug effects on core symptoms in ASD is very challenging, despite advances in early diagnosis and intervention, efficacious reversal of these core autistic symptoms is still not approved to date. To date, there are no efficient therapeutic interventions that target the core symptoms of ASD, namely social communication impairments and restricted/repetitive behavior (Sheldrick et al., 2018; Xu et al., 2018). However, pharmacological interventions may be used to provide symptomatic control of associated comorbidities but not to treat core deficits (Hanson, Kalish, Bunce et al., 2007; Wong & Smith, 2006). These associated symptoms of ASD include inattention, hyperactivity, anxiety, sleep disturbances, irritability, aggression and self-injuries. Psychiatric drugs are frequently used for treating these symptoms in autistic children (Findling, 2005). Currently, risperidone and aripiprazole are the only two US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved drugs for treating behavioral symptoms associated with ASD, mainly for irritability (Matson, Sipes, Fodstad et al., 2011). Targeting ASD core symptoms for complete and effective treatment has been challenging and not yet achieved as mentioned earlier. Therefore, developing drug therapies for improving and perhaps treating the core symptoms of ASD is significantly important, aiming to improve the quality of life for the suffering patients and easing the burden on their families.

1.1.1 Etiology of ASD

ASD is broadly considered to be a multi-factorial disorder that results from genetic as well as non-genetic risk factors. There is cumulative evidence for the involvement of genetic factors in the etiology of ASD, since siblings born in families with ASD are at 35–40% greater risk to develop ASD and with an increase in the current rate of approximately 1% from a rate of 0.05% in 1970s (Stubbs, Henley, & Green, 2016). Moreover, genetic studies revealed that alteration in the developmental pathways of neuronal and axonal structures that are strongly involved in

synaptogenesis emerge from single gene mutations (Chang, Gilman, Chiang et al., 2015; Geschwind, 2011; Voineagu, Wang, Johnston et al., 2011). It is likely that interactions between multiple genes, and variability in expression as a result of epigenetic factors and exposure to environmental factors are responsible for ASD (Muhle, Trentacoste, & Rapin, 2004). In a previous clinical study involving a twin, it was appraised that the risk of developing ASD was 35-40% due to genetic variability, and the remaining 60% was contributed to by prenatal, perinatal, and postnatal environmental factors (Hallmayer, Cleveland, Torres et al., 2011). Accordingly, environmental factors implicated with ASD included prenatal and perinatal complications (Glasson, Bower, Petterson et al., 2004; Maramara, He, & Ming, 2014), birth and neonatal complications (Gardener, Spiegelman, & Buka, 2011; Guinchat, Thorsen, Laurent et al., 2012), viral infection, autoimmune diseases, and exposure to teratogens and maternal anticonvulsants such as valproic acid (VPA) (Kern & Jones, 2006; Kolevzon, Gross, & Reichenberg, 2007). Therefore, an increased understanding of the interface between genetic and environmental factors in the pathogenesis of ASD may lead to an optimized therapeutic strategy.

1.2 Central histamine and histaminergic system (HS)

Histamine and its receptors have long been known as part of immune and gastrointestinal systems but their discovery in the central nervous system (CNS) and their role in behavior, was largely studied in recent years. The possibility of histamine targeting treatments has recently received considerable attention, basically in neurogenerative diseases (Sadek, Saad, Sadeq et al., 2016c). The role of histamine in cognition, sleep, sensory, motor functions and neuroinflammation have attracted considerable interest (Haas, Sergeeva, & Selbach, 2008; Shan, Bao, & Swaab, 2015;

Witkin & Nelson, 2004). Moreover, histamine was suggested through recent evidence to have a role in regulating microglial activation (Dong, Zhang, Zeng et al., 2014; Frick, Rapanelli, Abbasi et al., 2016), cytokine release (Rocha, Pires, Esteves et al., 2014) and migration (Ferreira, Santos, Goncalves et al., 2012). The HS in the CNS consists of cell bodies of histaminergic neurons confined in one area of posterior hypothalamus called tuberomammillary nucleus (TMN), sending projections to spinal cord, brain stem and many telencephalic brain areas (Brown, Stevens, & Haas, 2001; Haas et al., 2008) (Figure 1). Hence, central histamine has been suggested to be a regulator of activity of the "whole brain" (Wada, Inagaki, Yamatodani et al., 1991).



Figure 1: Histaminergic neuronal projections from tuberomammillary nucleus (TMN).

Innervations originates from TMN to all over the CNS from ventral part to the hypothalamus and septum, and from dorsal part to the thalamus, hippocampus, amygdala, and forebrain. There is one descending pathway to the brain stem, cerebellum and spinal cord. Adapted from (Sadek, et al., 2016c).

Histamine is biosynthesized mainly in the TMN, where the dietary amino acid

pre-cursor L-histidine is decarboxylated and converted to histamine by a specific

enzyme called histidine decarboxylase (HDC). The central histamine action is inactivated by histamine N-methyltransferase (HNMT) in the extracellular space throughout the brain (Brown et al., 2001; Haas et al., 2008; Prell, Hough, Khandelwal et al., 1996). In the CNS, histamine biosynthesis and release is modulated by H3 autoreceptors through cAMP/PKA dependent pathways (Bongers, Bakker, & Leurs, 2007). Histamine may be able to activate both ligand-operated channels and receptors linked to second messengers. With regard to receptors, the effects of histamine are exerted through activation of four different G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) subtypes namely H1-H4R, expressed through the brain (Arrang, Devaux, Chodkiewicz et al., 1988; Arrang, Garbarg, & Schwartz, 1983, 1985, 1987; Hill, 1990; Hill, Ganellin, Timmerman et al., 1997; Lovenberg, Roland, Wilson et al., 1999), however, H1-3Rs are highly founded in the brain and H4Rs have extremely low expression through CNS with unclear function (Sadek & Stark, 2016e; Schneider & Seifert, 2016). The H3Rs are predominantly and heterogeneously expressed in the CNS. They are mainly expressed in the basal ganglia, globus pallidus, hippocampus, cerebellum and cortex in humans (Li, Zhu, & Wang, 2014; Martinez-Mir, Pollard, Moreau et al., 1990). As mentioned earlier pre-synaptic H3R are coupled to Gi/Go-proteins and function as auto-receptors that control firing of histamine neurons modulating synthesis and release of histamine with high constitutive activity. In addition, H3Rs function as hetero-receptors and can also regulate the release of other neurotransmitters like dopamine (DA), serotonin (5-HT), norepinephrine (NE), acetylcholine (ACh), λ amino butyric acid (GABA) and glutamate (Glu) in several brain regions. Thus, blockade of inhibitory histamine H3 auto-receptors reinforces histamine neurotransmission, while antagonism of H3 hetero-receptors accelerates the corticolimbic liberation of ACh, NE, DA, 5-HT and GABA and Glu (Brown et al., 2001; Haas et al., 2008) (Figure 2). Accordingly, the brain HS and its modulation have been implicated in many brain disorders, suggesting that it may play a critical role in their pathophysiology.



Figure 2: Schematic illustration of histaminergic System (HS). Possible mechanisms by which histamine H3 receptor antagonists provide various pharmacological effects. Adapted from (Eissa, Al-Houqani, Sadeq et al., 2018).

1.2.1 Histamine receptors

Ash and Schild discovered the H1R in 1966, while studying the effect of antihistamine drugs in the rat uterus and stomach (Ash & Schild, 1966). The three other receptors (H2R, H3R, and H4R) were identified after that. The four receptors are

part of the GPCR superfamily, and they all present with constitutive activity (Bhowmik, Khanam, & Vohora, 2012; Nijmeijer, Leurs, & Vischer, 2010; Schneider, Schnell, Strasser et al., 2010; Threlfell, Exley, Cragg et al., 2008). Activation of these receptors without the presence of agonist was proven by the discovery of constitutively active mutant receptors (Seifert & Wenzel-Seifert, 2002). Ligand binding to a receptor may initiate activity (agonist with positive intrinsic activity) or abolish the effect of an agonist (antagonist with zero intrinsic activity). The agonists stabilize the receptor in active conformation, while the inverse agonists stabilize the receptor in inactive conformation hence, reduces the activity (negative intrinsic activity) (Tao, 2008). Two isoforms of the H3R are highly constitutively active: the wild type and an isoform with a deletion in the third intracellular loop (Bond & Ijzerman, 2006).

H1R is found in different tissues and cells, including smooth muscle, brain, and lymphocytes (Chang, Tran, & Snyder, 1979; Hill & Young, 1978). H1R signal transduction results in activation of phospholipase C, which promotes the inositol triphosphate-dependent release of Ca^{2+} from intracellular stores and diacylglycerolsensitive activation of protein kinase C (Haas et al., 2008; Smit, Hoffmann, Timmerman et al., 1999). H1R is involved in the modulation of important processes and mice lacking this receptor display different impairments, such as, in spatial memory and in sleep-wake characteristics (Huang, Mochizuki, Qu et al., 2006; Masuoka & Kamei, 2007).

Similarly, as H1R, H2R presents with typical GPCR characteristics. Its activation stimulates adenylyl cyclase leading to cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) production, a second messenger that has different roles in the cell (Hegstrand, Kanof, & Greengard, 1976). The role of H2R in the CNS is not understood completely,

but basic research reports that H2R is related to the processes of learning and memory, motor control, and thermoregulation (Dai, Kaneko, Kato et al., 2007; Tabarean,

Sanchez-Alavez, & Sethi, 2012).

H3R is mainly found in the brain, as reported it regulates food intake, memory, acetylcholine release, and consolidation of fear memories (Cangioli, Baldi, Mannaioni et al., 2002; Gemkow, Davenport, Harich et al., 2009). H3R's activation inhibits cAMP synthesis and activates MAP kinases and the AKT/GSK3β axis (Bakker, Timmerman, & Leurs, 2002; Bongers, Sallmen, Passani et al., 2007; Mariottini, Scartabelli, Bongers et al., 2009). When activated, the receptor inhibits cell firing and decreases the release of histamine by histaminergic neurons, moreover inhibits secretion of norepinephrine, serotonin, and other neurotransmitters by non-histaminergic neurons (Gomez-Ramirez, Ortiz, & Blanco, 2002; Threlfell et al., 2008; Yamasaki, Tamai, & Matsumura, 2001). Recently, mice lacking H3R reported several alterations. They presented with enhanced histaminergic neurotransmission, which led to changes in the behavioral phenotype (Gondard, Anaclet, Akaoka et al., 2013).

H4R was the last histamine receptor to be identified. It is mainly implicated with immune functions, however its presence in the brain, the bone marrow, peripheral blood, spleen, thymus, small intestine, colon, heart, and lung is known (Moya-Garcia, Rodriguez, Morilla et al., 2011; Nakamura, Itadani, Hidaka et al., 2000; Zampeli & Tiligada, 2009). It is involved in modulation of different processes, for example, dendritic cell activity, interleukin (IL) release, and likely regulation of blood brain barrier permeability (Karlstedt, Jin, & Panula, 2013; Mommert, Gschwandtner, Koether et al., 2012; Simon, Laszlo, Lang et al., 2011).

1.2.2 Implication of HS in brain disorders and ASD

The HS has been reported to be involved in several brain disorders such as in Alzheimer's disease (AD), schizophrenia (SCH), sleep disorders, drug dependence, and Parkinson's disease (PD) (Baronio, Gonchoroski, Castro et al., 2014).

In recent studies it was reported that histaminergic signalling abnormalities may contribute to rare diseases such as Tourette syndrome (TS) (Paschou, Fernandez, Sharp et al., 2013). TS was also reported to be among the most prevalently comorbid neurodevelopmental disorders with ASD (Gillberg & Billstedt, 2000), sharing genetic risk factors (Clarke, Lee, & Eapen, 2012; Fernandez, Sanders, Yurkiewicz et al., 2012). Additionally, both conditions share features of neuroinflammation (Kern, Geier, Sykes et al., 2015; Muller, 2007; Theoharides, Tsilioni, Patel et al., 2016), and increased microglia activation (Frick et al., 2016). Histamine plays a role in neuroinflammation (Jutel, Blaser, & Akdis, 2005; Theoharides et al., 2016), and microglia regulation (Dong et al., 2014; Ferreira et al., 2012; Frick et al., 2016; Rocha et al., 2014), suggests the HS may partly mediate the neuroinflammatory phenotype associated with these disorders. A study of TS reported a rare non-sense mutation in HDC, a gene encoding Histidine decarboxylase enzyme that synthesizes histamine from histidine (Karagiannidis, Dehning, Sandor et al., 2013). Other recent studies of ASD also implicate potential involvement of HS in this disorder as de novo deletions overlap in Histamine N-methyl transferase, a gene which encodes the enzyme that inactivates histamine (Griswold, Ma, Cukier et al., 2012; Mulatinho, de Carvalho Serao, Scalco et al., 2012). Furthermore, analysis of gene mapping of rare copy number variant in TS reported significant overlap with those revealed in ASD (Fernandez et

al., 2012). All of these findings and overlaps between the two disorders, raised the possibility of the implication of HS in ASD.

In addition, replicated findings suggested that SCH and ASD may share similar biological pathways demonstrating that both conditions have structural variation at regions 16p11.2 (McCarthy, Makarov, Kirov et al., 2009; Weiss, Shen, Korn et al., 2008), 22q11.2 (Guilmatre, Dubourg, Mosca et al., 2009; Vassos, Collier, Holden et al., 2010) and 1q21.1 (Brunetti-Pierri, Berg, Scaglia et al., 2008; Ikeda, Aleksic, Kirov et al., 2010; Mefford, Muhle, Ostertag et al., 2010; Stefansson, Rujescu, Cichon et al., 2008), which are susceptibility factors for a variety of neurodevelopmental phenotypes.Moreover, copy number variations and deleterious mutations in synaptic organizing proteins including NRXN1 have been associated with both SCH and ASD (Gauthier, Siddiqui, Huashan et al., 2011). Other recent publications of single-genome wide copy number variation revealed rare variants at NRXN1 and catenin alpha3 loci suggesting a risk factor overlap with both ASD and SCH. In addition to the genetic overlap between both disorders, they also share behavioral symptoms. Social cognitive impairments are a hallmark behavioral deficit of both ASD and SCH (Couture, Penn, Meyer, Feldon, Dammann, & Roberts, 2006; & 2011). Furthermore, neuroinflammation as a consequence of microglia activation plays an important role in both SCH and ASD (Nakagawa & Chiba, 2016). Considering these evidences, it is suggested that HS dysfunction may be involved in the aetiology of ASD, since both SCH and TS disorders have substantial genetic and symptomatic overlap with ASD.

1.2.3 Role of H3R antagonists in CNS diseases and ASD

Exploring the potential role of histamine H3R antagonist in number of CNS diseases like AD, epilepsy, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD),

narcolepsy (Baronio et al., 2015.; Baronio et al., 2014; Kasteleijn-Nolst Trenite, Parain, Genton et al., 2013; Savage, Rosenberg, Wolff et al., 2010; Witkin et al., 2004), SCH (Passani & Blandina, 2011) and recently in Tics, TS (Rapanelli & Pittenger, 2016b) and ASD (Baronio et al., 2015), suggest that H3R antagonists may be a potential therapeutic agent for treatment of several symptoms including cognitive impairments. Investigations of H3R antagonist/inverse agonist GSK239512 to assess cognitive enhancing effects showed positive results on memory, attention (Nathan, Boardley, Scott et al., 2013) and displayed improvement in episodic memory in patients with AD (Grove, Harrington, Mahler et al., 2014). Preclinical studies reported that ciproxifan (CPX), an imidazole based H3R antagonist demonstrated improvements in hyperactivity and memory deficits after administration of this drug in a mouse model of AD (Bardgett, Davis, Schultheis et al., 2011). On the other hand, treatment with JNJ-10181457, a selective non-imidazole H3R antagonist reversed cognitive deficits induced by the muscarinic cholinergic antagonist scopolamine (Galici, Boggs, Aluisio et al., 2009), impairments that are commonly featured in ASD. These evidences suggest the potential role of H3R antagonists in rescuing core symptoms of ASD through modulation of cognitive functions. Cognition include self-regulation and social cognition that allows people to appropriately regulate actions related to social issues, and to make plans (Heatherton & Wagner, 2011).

Moreover, recent clinical trials demonstrated the successful effect of pitolisant (Wakix®), an H3R antagonist in treatment of narcolepsy (Baronio et al., 2014). Pitolisant is approved by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) and is the first in class drug to be introduced into clinics. Pitolisant was also suggested to be effective in epilepsy, which is highly comorbid with ASD (Kasteleijn-Nolst Trenite et al., 2013). In addition, clinical studies revealed the positive effects of H1R and H2R antagonists in children and adolescence with ASD suffering from behavioral and sleep disturbances (Linday, Tsiouris, Cohen et al., 2001; Rossi, Posar, Parmeggiani et al., 1999). Again, accumulated evidence supports the implication of HS in ASD. Additionally, a recent study revealed that impairments in social behavior was ameliorated by H3R antagonists in rodents exposed to phencyclidine (PCP), suggesting its therapeutic value for ASD (Griebel, Pichat, Pruniaux et al., 2012). Based on these findings, Baronio et al. (2015) assessed for the first time the effect of imidazole based H3R antagonist CPX in an animal model of autism induced by prenatal exposure to VPA. The effect of acute administration of CPX (3 mg/kg) 30 minutes before the behavioral test demonstrated efficacy of improving some social impairments and stereotypies in VPA mice. These results suggested that some of the main clinical alterations displayed in ASD could be improved at late time stage, as at adulthood, although at that stage when the tests were carried out many changes had already occurred during brain development and have reached equilibrium. Regardless, a single application of CPX was sufficient to attenuate behavioral deficits (Baronio et al., 2015).

Although several imidazole based H3R antagonists as CPX, showed potency and selectivity in preclinical animal experiments with oral bioavailability (Ligneau, Lin, Vanni-Mercier et al., 1998; Stark, Sadek, Krause et al., 2000), this drug class appeared to have poor CNS penetration and incidence of off-target activity at H4R or other receptors. In addition, imidazole-based agents showed powerful CYP450 isoenzyme inhibitory properties developing many metabolic interactions (Berlin, Boyce, & Ruiz Mde, 2011; Panula, Chazot, Cowart et al., 2015; Sadek & Stark, 2016e). Consequently, medicinal chemistry efforts developed new chemical entities of various non-imidazole H3R antagonists (Figure 3) with higher affinity and selectivity than the imidazole based H3R antagonist.

DL77, is a novel non-imidazole H3R antagonist that strongly resembles pitosilant in structure (Figure 4) (Sadek, Saad, Latacz et al., 2016b). In previous studies, DL77 showed improvements in cognitive performance by exerting its action through different memory stages, namely acquisition, consolidation, and retrieval (Sadek, Saad, Subramanian et al., 2016d). A very recent preclinical study demonstrated that DL77 ameliorated cognitive deficits induced by the N-methyl-Daspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonist MK801 in an inhibitory passive avoidance paradigm and in novel object recognition tests in rats (Eissa, Khan, Ojha et al., 2018). These findings demonstrated the potential role of DL77 for treatment of neuropsychiatric disorders associated with cognitive symptoms (Sadek et al., 2016d). As mentioned earlier, social cognitive deficits are a hallmark characteristic of ASD (Couture et al., 2006). Moreover, H3R antagonist DL77 provided promising anticonvulsant activity in experimental epilepsy models (Sadek et al., 2016d). Clinical reports estimated that approximately 20-25% of children with ASD have epilepsy (Woolfenden, Sarkozy, Ridley et al., 2012). It was also reported in a recent population study that 44% of children with ASD were subsequently diagnosed with epilepsy and 54% of children with epilepsy were subsequently diagnosed with ASD (Jokiranta, Sourander, Suominen et al., 2014).

Additionally, several studies demonstrated that H3R antagonists are effective in behavioral impairment and memory deficit in animal model of SCH (Steele,
Minshew, Luna et al., 2007), symptoms which are also found in patients of ASD. However, the preclinical use of numerous non-imidazole-based H3R antagonists, e.g. ABT-239 and A-431404, ameliorated ketamine- and/or MK-801-induced cognitive impairments in experimental rats, demonstrating enhanced results when compared with reference antipsychotics like risperidone or olanzapine (Brown, Whitehead, Basso et al., 2013b).

To this end, based on the accumulation of evidences, the focus on pharmacological evaluation of H3R antagonist DL77 with its high *in-vitro* H3R affinity/selectivity and potent *in-vivo* H3R antagonist activity, on the ASD-like behavioral phenotypes in genetic (BTBR) and nongenetic (VPA induced) animal model of ASD has been proposed.



Figure 3: Structural development from imidazole-based to non-imidazole-based Histamine H3 receptor antagonist. Adapted from (Sadek et al., 2016c).



Figure 4: Structural relationship between Pitolisant and DL77.

Showing similar *in vitro* affinities, and *in vivo* antagonist potencies. ^a Central histamine H3R assay *in vivo* after p.o. administration to mice, n=3. ^b [¹²⁵I] Iodoproxyfan binding assay at human H3R stably expressed in CHO-K1 cells, n=3. ^c[³H] Histamine binding assay performed with cell membrane preparation of Sf9 cells transiently expressing the human histamine H4R and co-expressed with Gai2 and Gβ1γ2 subunits, n=3. ^d [³H] Pyrilamine binding assay performed with cell membrane preparation of CHO-hH1Rcells stably expressing the human H1R, n=3.

1.3 Correlation of neurotransmitter dysfunction in ASD

Research has also focused on the study of neurotransmitters, in search of sensitive and specific markers of ASD as well as potential therapeutic interventions. Several central neurotransmitters (e.g., 5-HT, ACh, DA, GABA and Glu) play a role in initial brain development and the etiology of ASD. Disruption of brain neurotransmitters early during the development phase of the CNS may provide a rational for pharmacological intervention that helps to cure and maybe even preclude some of the severe behavioral symptoms of ASD. Ideally, research in genetics may be able to explain these neurochemical defects at birth, providing possible appropriate insight into medical treatment for infants who are at increased risk for ASD. Growing evidence suggests that a variety of neurotransmitter systems such as ACh, 5-HT, DA, GABA, Glu, and HA are implicated in the onset and progression of ASD -along with genetic and environmental factors discussed below- (Bacchelli, Battaglia, Cameli et al., 2015; Chen, Davis, Guter et al., 2017; Ellenbroek & Ghiabi, 2015; Hellings,

Abbreviations: H3R: H3 receptor; p.o.: peroral, CHO: Chinese hamster ovary Adapted from (Sadek et al., 2016b; Sadek et al., 2016d).

Arnold, & Han, 2017; Hellmer & Nystrom, 2017; Naaijen, Bralten, Poelmans et al., 2017; Nakai, Nagano, Saitow et al., 2017; Paval, 2017; Paval, Rad, Rusu et al., 2017; Shah & Wing, 2006; Wang, Almeida, Spornick et al., 2015) (Figure 5).





Adapted from (Eissa et al., 2018).

1.3.1 Serotonin

Among all neurotransmitters investigated so far in ASD, 5-HT has motivated the most research efforts and investigations. 5-HT signaling facilitates several neural processes including neurogenesis, cell migration and survival, synaptogenesis, and synaptic plasticity. Interestingly, high 5-HT levels in the blood have been described for up to 45% of tested ASD subjects (Chen, Penagarikano, Belgard et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2017; Ellenbroek, August, & Youn, 2016). Moreover, preclinical investigations using ASD-like animal models reported that hyperserotonemia significantly reduced the motivation for social interest through inhibition of separation distress, potentially accounting for the social impairments found in ASD individuals (Ellenbroek et al., 2016; Nakai et al., 2017) . Furthermore, 5-HT was found to accumulate mainly in platelets utilizing the specific 5-HT transporter. In line with these findings, genetic studies of linkage stated that the 17q11.2 region containing the 5-HT transporter gene *SLC6A4* polymorphisms appear to be associated with ASD, as Gly56 conversion to Ala56 in the transporter protein resulted in autistic phenotypic features combined with an amplified p38-mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK)-sensitive basal phosphorylation process. In addition and in a previous study, higher clearance rates of hippocampal 5-HT were observed and hence hyperserotonemia, which led to a significant hypersensitivity of brain 5-HT (1A) as well as 5-HT (2A) receptors, social impairment and repetitive behavior (Veenstra-VanderWeele, Muller, Iwamoto et al., 2012) (Figure 5).

1.3.2 Dopamine

Dopamine (DA) plays a fundamental role in brain functioning, and the pathophysiological role of dopaminergic system (DS) deficits in ASD is well recognized, with the wide clinical use of antipsychotics that mainly target the D2 receptors (D2Rs) (Baronio et al., 2014; Seeman, 2010) Interestingly, and in a very recent preclinical study, it has been shown that mice with increased dopaminergic neurotransmission in the dorsal striatum via the suppression of dopamine transporter (DAT) expression in substantia nigra neurons or the optogenetic stimulation of the nigro-striatal circuitry exhibited significant deficits in sociability and repetitive behaviors relevant to ASD pathology in several rodent models, while these behavioral changes were blocked by using D1R antagonists (Lee, Kim, Kim et al., 2017). Therefore, D1R agonists produced typical autistic-like behaviors in normal mice or the

genetic knockout (KO) of D2Rs (Lee et al., 2017). Furthermore, the siRNA-mediated inhibition of D2Rs in the dorsal striatum was shown to replicate ASD-like phenotypes in D2R KO mice (Lee et al., 2017). With regard to the DS, genetic studies have demonstrated that mutations of DS-associated genes such as the DAT (Hamilton, Campbell, Sharma et al., 2013), DA receptors (Hettinger, Liu, Schwartz et al., 2008; Qian, Chen, Forssberg et al., 2013), and enzymes of DA biosynthesis (Nguyen, Roth, Kyzar et al., 2014) are implicated in ASD. These studies expanded the evidence of genetically linking between DA transporter and ASD (Bowton, Saunders, Reddy et al., 2014; Hamilton et al., 2013). ASD is strongly associated with a mutation in the DA transporter gene SLC6A3, which codes for a protein that contributes to regulation of DA levels in the brain. In fact, DAT is the crucial regulator of DA homeostasis and alteration of this homeostasis as a consequence of DAT dysfunction is associated with ASD and other neuropsychiatric conditions (Hamilton et al., 2013; Hellings et al., 2017; Paval, 2017; Paval et al., 2017). Moreover, it has been found that the dopaminergic fibers arising from the ventral tegmental area (VTA) project to the prefrontal cortex and to regions of the limbic system, such as the nucleus accumbens (NAcc), forming the mesocorticolimbic (MCL) circuit. This circuit was found to be involved in high order brain functions, such as emotional social behavior, reward, motivation and cognition (Paval et al., 2017) (Hellings et al., 2017) (Figure 5). Notably, the DS has been related to behavioral skills belonging to executive functioning, such as analyzing, planning and prioritizing (Baronio et al., 2014; Seeman, 2010). In line with that, children diagnosed with ASD were found to show deficits in tasks linked to executive functioning, including response/selection, planning/working memory and flexibility (Hellings et al., 2017; Paval et al., 2017). Moreover, the DS has strongly been linked to social behavior, attentional skills and perception, and motor activity, while developmental abnormalities in these areas have all been linked to ASD as well (Hellings et al., 2017; Paval et al., 2017)

1.3.3 GABA and Glutamate

GABAergic as well as glutamatergic systems are also proposed as potential mechanisms for ASD. Consequently, mutations in the respective synaptic proteins would lead to defective neurotransmission at excitatory and inhibitory synapses, leading to disruption of excitatory-inhibitory balance of neurotransmission in postsynaptic neurons, a key mechanism which has strongly been associated with ASD (Jamain, Betancur, Quach et al., 2002; Naaijen et al., 2017). In addition to numerous reports stating the duplication of 15q11-13 locus in ASD populations, a majority of the cases do not show mutations at this locus. However, they do exhibit abnormalities in the expression of protein encoded by 15q11-13 gene, as reported. These results demonstrated the involvement of 15q11-13 locus in ASD, either directly by mutation or indirectly by epigenetic factors (Hogart, Nagarajan, Patzel et al., 2007; Nakai et al., 2017). This site employs numerous genes coding for particular subunits of GABA receptors, namely GABRB3, GABRA5 and GABRG3. There are numerous signalling and scaffolding proteins which are implicated in normal development and GABA synapse function. Therefore, mutations in the genes encoding these proteins consequently result in GABAergic dysfunction, hence inhibitory signalling deficits. For example, deletions in gene encoding a protein contactin-associated protein 2 (CNTNAP2) has been linked to autism (Gregor, Albrecht, Bader et al., 2011; Nord, Roeb, Dickel et al., 2011; Stephan, 2008). Moreover, deficiency in CNTNAP2 results in reduction in GAD1 (Glutamate Decarboxylase 1), parvalbumin and inhibitory

interneurons along with impairments in inhibitory signalling (Penagarikano, Abrahams, Herman et al., 2011; Soghomonian, Zhang, Reprakash et al., 2017). This evidence suggests an association between mutations affecting the function of GABA and ASD. Furthermore, reduced expression of GABAergic genes and lower density of GABA related proteins have been found in brains of ASD patients. Consequently, alterations in GABA-A receptor genes and other genes expressed on GABA interneurons, as well as GABA biosynthesis enzymes (GAD 65 and GAD 67) in the cerebellum and parietal cortex, are strongly implicated in ASD (Coghlan, Horder, Inkster et al., 2012; Fatemi, Halt, Stary et al., 2002).

On the contrary, an increased level in the expression of excitatory Glu receptor AMPA, and of Glu transporter proteins were observed in individuals diagnosed with ASD, with highest expression abnormalities found in the cerebellum (Purcell, Jeon, Zimmerman et al., 2001) (Figure 5). Based on the aforementioned, altered expression of genes related to GABA and/or Glu might be linked to several ASD phenotypic features including cognitive deficits and/or hyperactivity (Jamain et al., 2002; Naaijen et al., 2017). Moreover, abnormalities in both neurotransmitters including an increase in the excitatory Glu and/or decrease in the inhibitory GABA were found to lead to epileptic seizure, a clinical feature which is commonly observed in ASD patients (Ballaban-Gil & Tuchman, 2000; Gillberg, Lundstrom, Fernell et al., 2017; Levisohn, 2007).

1.3.4 Acetylcholine

The brain cholinergic neurotransmission system with ACh plays an essential role in regulating ASD-related behavioral symptoms including attention (Arnold, Burk, Hodgson et al., 2002), cognitive flexibility (Ragozzino, Pal, Unick et al., 1998),

social interaction (Avale, Chabout, Pons et al., 2011) and stereotypical behaviors (Bacchelli et al., 2015; Hellmer et al., 2017; McConville, Sanberg, Fogelson et al., 1992; Wang et al., 2015). Mounting evidence suggests the involvement of cholinergic system dysfunction in the phenotypic outcomes of ASD-related behavioral features, in both humans and animal models - (Karvat & Kimchi, 2014). In ASD patients, there are remarkable abnormalities in the cholinergic system. Anatomically there is irregularity in the number and structure of neurons in a basal forebrain cholinergic nucleus of patients diagnosed with ASD (Kemper & Bauman, 1998). Also, a decrease in the level of choline, the precursor of the neurotransmitter ACh and the agonist for nicotinic-cholinergic receptor (nAChR), was determined in individuals diagnosed with ASD (Friedman, Shaw, Artru et al., 2006), with the severity of ASD related to the decreased level of cytosolic ACh (Sokol, Dunn, Edwards-Brown et al., 2002). Moreover, and by using immunohistochemical analyses, abnormalities in nAChR were observed in several brain regions (e.g. neocortex, cerebellum, thalamus and striatum) of ASD patients, specifically with the major abnormalities being reduction in nAChR subunits and muscarinic receptors (M1 type) (Mukaetova-Ladinska, 2017; Mukaetova-Ladinska, Westwood, & Perry, 2010). Moreover, brain ACh like several other brain neurotransmitters, e.g. DA, 5-HT and GABA, playing a key role in ASD are regulated by different central mechanisms including histamine H3 hetero-receptors (H3Rs), highlighting the potential for HS involvement in ASD. Genetically, studies reported duplications and mutations in CHRNA7, the gene encoding the α 7nAChR subunit, in ASD patients (Leblond, Heinrich, Delorme et al., 2012), (Mikhail, Lose, Robin et al., 2011), whereas deletion of the *CHRNB2* gene, encoding the β 2-subunit of nAChR was observed in other cases (Granon, Faure, & Changeux, 2003). Furthermore, autism related behavior may be linked to M1 type mAChR inhibition (McCool, Patel, Talati et al., 2008) and cholinergic cell damage (Walker, Diefenbach, & Parikh, 2007) (Figure 5). Consequently, social deficits and repetitive behaviors are the main phenotypic ASD features connected to disruption in cholinergic neurotransmission system (Wang et al., 2015). Also, reduced attention (Arnold et al., 2002), decreased cognitive flexibility (Ragozzino et al., 1998), reduced social communications (Avale et al., 2011) and conventional behaviors have been strongly linked to cholinergic neurotransmission dysfunction (Bacchelli et al., 2015; Hellmer et al., 2017; McConville et al., 1992; Wang et al., 2015).

1.3.5 Histamine

As mentioned earlier, the brain HS was found to display a critical role in cognition, sleep and other neuropsychiatric disorders including SCH and TS that share comorbidity with ASD (Wright, Shin, Rajpurohit et al., 2017). Moreover, in addition to the altered gene expression found for histamine-*N*-methyltransferase (HNMT) enzyme , an enzyme responsible for metabolism of central histamine (HA), gene alteration was also reported for histamine receptor subtypes H1-, H2-, and H3R (Wright et al., 2017). Notably, there has been a rising interest in studying the role of brain HA on behaviors in both physiological conditions and psychiatric diseases, e. g. SCH (Sadek et al., 2016c; Sadek & Stark, 2016e). Interestingly and as revealed in several clinical reports, patients with SCH shared a variety of common symptoms and genetic factors with ASD (Carroll & Owen, 2009; Konstantareas & Hewitt, 2001). Moreover, a significant role for the brain HA has been projected, and a range of several H3R ligands has been developed so far for dual-targeting of both dopaminergic as well as histaminergic neurotransmissions (Baronio et al., 2014; Bishara, 2010).

Furthermore and as discussed above, deficits in regulations of various other neurotransmitters including DA, 5-HT, GABA, and Glu are postulated (Witkin et al., 2004). Therefore, the role of central HA which influences behavior in CNS disorders, may be considered an important pharmacological target for therapeutic purposes (Haas et al., 2008; Naddafi & Mirshafiey, 2013; Shan, Bossers, Luchetti et al., 2012; Tiligada, Kyriakidis, Chazot et al., 2011). There is particular interest in brain H3Rs, as brain H3Rs act as auto-receptors or hetero-receptors and regulate the biosynthesis and release of HA and several other neurotransmitters, which consequently play a role in cognitive and homeostatic processes, as shown in (Figure 2 & 5). Therefore, there is an indirect indication that histaminergic neurotransmission may have a significant role in SCH and that potent and selective H3R antagonists could lead to therapeutic improvements of cognitive symptoms associated with SCH and ASD (Brown, Whitehead, Basso et al., 2013a; Esbenshade, Browman, Bitner et al., 2008; Sadek et al., 2016c; von Coburg, Kottke, Weizel et al., 2009; Witkin et al., 2004).

To date there are scarce literature studies concerning the association of H3R antagonists and treatment of ASD behavioral deficits. Accordingly and in a previous preclinical study, the imidazole-based H3R antagonists, namely thioperamide and ciproxifan, improved impaired prepulse inhibition in an animal model of SCH (Brown et al., 2013a) (Figure 2). Thioperamide and ciproxifan are selective and potent imidazole-based H3R antagonists that are widely used in preclinical animal experiments (Ligneau et al., 1998; Stark et al., 2000). (Brown et al., 2013a). Interestingly, H3R antagonists possess antioxidant activity which could increase their potential clinical use, since oxidative stress is, also, considered as possible mediators of intensified symptoms of SCH and ASD (Mahmood, Khanam, Pillai et al., 2012b).

Moreover, a study considering the effectiveness of the non-imidazole H3R antagonist ABT-288 in the treatment of cognitive deficits linked with SCH revealed that schizophrenic features remained constant during the whole time period of the study, with acceptable safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetic profile of ABT-288 at a 15fold higher dose and 12-fold higher exposures in subjects with SCH than previously observed in healthy volunteers (Coruzzi, Pozzoli, Adami et al., 2012) (Hsieh, Chandran, Salvers et al., 2010). Moreover, the use of a H3R antagonist ameliorated behavioral impairments in an animal model of SCH, including spatial working memory deficit, an abnormality which also characterizes patients with ASD (Steele et al., 2007). Also, as mentioned previously, a recent preclinical study reported that an acute systemic administration of ciproxifan palliated some sociability impairments and stereotypic behavior in an animal model of VPA-induced ASD in mice (Baronio et al., 2015). However, further research efforts are still necessary to support these initial observations and to achieve enhanced understanding of pathophysiology and therapeutic management of ASD. Based on the aforementioned observations, numerous brain neurotransmitters, e.g. 5-HT, DA, GABA, Glu, ACh, and HA appear to be implicated in the pathophysiology of ASD, since disruption of genes encoding proteins (receptors and/or catalysing biosynthesis enzymes different for neurotransmitters) that affect the respective neurotransmission functionality leads to a variety of phenotypic features of ASD. Interestingly, the above discussed dysfunctions of neurotransmitters, namely 5-HT, DA, GABA, Glu, ACh, and HA were, also, found to be influentially implicated in the clinical outcome features of SCH, a disorder that is comorbid and shares multiple aetiologies and risk factors with ASD (Chisholm, Lin, Abu-Akel et al., 2015; Devor, Andreassen, Wang et al., 2017).

1.4 Current pharmacological intervention

Based on the aforementioned abnormalities in genes as well as various neurotransmitter systems, studying the effects of a given drug on core symptoms in ASD is very challenging. Despite advances in early diagnosis and intervention, efficacious reversal of core autistic symptoms is still not accomplished to date. At the present time there is no definite pharmacological treatment for ASD but treatments for ASD are based on behavioral therapies and the use of highly controlled learning environments. The recent approaches to treatment of ASD set behavioral therapy and atypical language development, as keystone for ASD therapy along with other treatments that tends to ameliorate associated symptoms and not the core deficits (Srinivasan, 2009). The heterogeneity of clinical and behavioral features in children diagnosed with ASD contributes to the difficulty in understanding the pathophysiology of this disorder, and consequently, no specific treatment can be effective for all ASD children. Therefore, subgrouping of children based on responses to intervention is essential (James et al., 2009). As mentioned above, targeting ASD core symptoms for complete and effective treatment has been challenging and not yet achieved, however several pharmacological medications maybe effective in various associated symptoms that often cause significant impairments in ASD (Volkmar, Cook, Pomeroy et al., 1999). These associated symptoms of ASD include inattention, hyperactivity, anxiety, sleep disturbances, irritability, repetitive behavior, aggression and self-injury. Antipsychotics are often used for therapeutic management of ASD symptoms in children (Findling, 2005). Currently, atypical antipsychotics risperidone and aripiprazole are the only two drugs which have so far been approved by FDA for improving behavioral symptoms associated with ASD (Matson et al., 2011), however, there are several other pharmacological interventions that show effective clinical management of ASD symptoms. The most promising drugs reported for managing behavioral and neurological symptoms of ASD are acting on different brain targets and are summarized in (Table 1). Accordingly, therapeutic benefits have been observed and described with several classes of drugs including selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (sertraline, citalopram, fluoxetine) for anxiety and repetitive behaviors, psychostimulant (methylphenidate) for hyperactivity, opioid antagonist (naltrexone) for hyperactivity, and atypical antipsychotics (risperidone, olanzapine, clozapine) for temper tantrums, aggression, or self-injurious behavior (Aman, 2004; Kumar, Prakash, Sewal et al., 2012; Moore, Eichner, & Jones, 2004). Notably, numerous candidates of the classes discussed below have progressed to several phases of clinical trials.

1.4.1 Atypical antipsychotics

Clozapine belongs to the class of atypical antipsychotics because it shows capability of binding to 5-HT and DA receptors (Chen, Bedair, McKay et al., 2001; Gobbi & Pulvirenti, 2001; Zuddas, Ledda, Fratta et al., 1996). It is an atypical antipsychotic medication mainly used for SCH that does not improve following use of other antipsychotic medications. In patients with SCH and schizoaffective disorder it may decrease the rate of suicidal behavior. It is possibly more effective than typical antipsychotics and in patients who are resistant to other medications. Clozapine was found to improve hyperactivity and aggression in ASD children, adolescents and adults, but has a limited clinical use because of its hematological safety profile, the potential to lower the seizure threshold in patients, necessitating therapeutic monitoring of patients taking this medication (Chen et al., 2001; Gobbi et al., 2001; Zuddas et al., 1996). The antipsychotic medication with risperidone is mainly used in ASD patients with SCH, bipolar disorder, and/or irritability symptoms, as this drug has been revealed to be superior to placebo in treating irritability, repetitive behavior, aggression, anxiety, depression and nervousness (McCracken, McGough, Shah et al., 2002; McDougle, Holmes, Carlson et al., 1998). Moreover, risperidone has shown a neuroprotective effect and has enhanced the antioxidant and neuroprotective activity of astroglia cells in brain disorders such as ASD without clinical evidence of extrapyramidal side effects or seizures except mild sedative effects (McCracken et al., 2002; McDougle, Holmes, et al., 1998). However, other side effects with use of risperidone were reported to include increased appetite, fatigue, dizziness and drowsiness (Table 1) (McCracken et al., 2002; McDougle, Holmes, et al., 1998). Aripiprazole is another atypical antipsychotic primarily recommended for the treatment of SCH and bipolar disorder. Other uses include an add-on treatment for major depressive disorder, tic disorders and irritability associated with ASD. It shows a different mechanism of action from those of the other atypical antipsychotics (e.g., clozapine, and risperidone) by acting rather as a partial agonist on the D2Rs and 5-HT1A receptors (Hirsch & Pringsheim, 2016; Marcus, Owen, Kamen et al., 2009; Owen, Sikich, Marcus et al., 2009). However, it displays an antagonist profile at 5-HT2A and 5-HT7 receptors and acts as a partial agonist at the 5-HT2C receptor, both with high affinity (Hirsch et al., 2016; Marcus et al., 2009; Owen et al., 2009). The latter action may be the reason for the minimal weight gain observed during the course of therapy with aripiprazole.

1.4.2 Neurotransmitter reuptake inhibitors

The class of neurotransmitter reuptake inhibitors, e.g. fluoxetine (selective

serotonin reuptake inhibitor) (SSRI) has shown numerous prospective therapeutic benefits, including decreases in rituals, stereotyped and repetitive monotonous behaviors in ASD children and adolescents (DeLong, Ritch, & Burch, 2002; Fatemi, Realmuto, Khan et al., 1998; Hollander, Phillips, Chaplin et al., 2005). Fluoxetine is a SSRI which does not significantly inhibit norepinephrine and dopamine reuptake at therapeutic doses (DeLong et al., 2002; Fatemi et al., 1998; Hollander et al., 2005). It does, however, delay the reuptake of serotonin, resulting in serotonin persisting longer when it is released (DeLong et al., 2002; Fatemi et al., 1998; Hollander et al., 2005). Fluoxetine was found to produce some adverse effects including disinhibition, hypomania, agitation, and hyperactivity (DeLong et al., 2002; Fatemi et al., 1998; Hollander et al., 2005). Fluvoxamine is a drug which functions as a SSRI and $\sigma 1$ receptor agonist (DeLong et al., 2002; Fatemi et al., 1998; Hollander et al., 2005). Fluvoxamine is used mainly for the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder and is also used to treat major depressive disorder and anxiety disorders such as panic disorder and post-traumatic stress disorder. Notably, fluvoxamine is approved to treat social anxiety disorder (DeLong et al., 2002; Fatemi et al., 1998; Hollander et al., 2005). Fluvoxamine has also shown similar potential effects as fluoxetine against autistic disorder (DeLong et al., 2002; Fatemi et al., 1998; Hollander et al., 2005). In a clinical trial, fluvoxamine was found to be well tolerated in ASD adults and it has improved compulsive as well as repetitive behaviors and aggression (DeLong et al., 2002; Fatemi et al., 1998; Hollander et al., 2005). Other SSRIs, including sertraline, paroxetine and escitalopram, showed almost the same potential benefits and adverse effects as compared to fluoxetine and fluvoxamine (Hellings, Kelley, Gabrielli et al., 1996; McDougle, Brodkin, Naylor et al., 1998). Venlafaxine is another SSRI which has, also, shown improvements of restricted behaviors, decreased interests, social deficits, hyperactivity and communication problems in individuals with ASD (Hellings et al., 1996; McDougle, Brodkin, et al., 1998) (Table 1).

1.4.3 Tricyclic antidepressants

The second-generation tricyclic antidepressant nortriptyline is used in the therapeutic management of major depression and childhood nocturnal enuresis (bedwetting), chronic fatigue syndrome, chronic pain and migraine, and labile affect in some neurological brain disorders (Campbell, Fish, Shapiro et al., 1971; Kurtis, 1966). Clomipramine is another tricyclic antidepressant used for the treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder, panic disorder, major depressive disorder, and chronic pain (Gordon, State, Nelson et al., 1993; Sanchez, Campbell, Small et al., 1996). Interestingly, nortriptyline has been described to be effective in children with ASD as it improved the hyperactivity, aggressiveness, and ritualized behavior, while imipramine was not well tolerated in ASD children (Campbell et al., 1971; Kurtis, 1966). In a previous clinical trial, 58% of ASD subjects have found clomipramine to be superior to placebo and the antidepressant desipramine in improving ASD symptoms, anger, and compulsive and ritualized behaviors (Gordon et al., 1993; Sanchez et al., 1996). In another clinical study, clomipramine has caused several adverse effects such as sedation and worsening of behaviors like aggression, irritability, and hyperactivity (Gordon et al., 1993; Sanchez et al., 1996) (Table 1).

1.4.4 Anticonvulsants

Lamotrigine, a member of the sodium channel blocking class of anticonvulsants clinically used in the treatment of children diagnosed with epilepsy, decreased symptoms in approximately 62% of ASD individuals, and no considerable change among placebo-treated and lamotrigine-treated patients was observed in a study comprising 35 patients diagnosed with ASD (Uvebrant & Bauziene, 1994). On the contrary, VPA with its anticonvulsant effect due toblockade of voltage-dependent sodium channels and increased GABA levels in the brain, has shown -as an orphan drug- valuable effects in improving various symptoms and psychiatric comorbidities, e.g. receptive language, affective instability, and aggression, without appreciable clinical effects on core symptoms of ASD (Jobski, Hofer, Hoffmann et al., 2017; Uvebrant et al., 1994). Notably, VPA has been reported to be an inhibitor for histone deacetylase (HDAC), an enzyme which plays -together with other HDACs- an essential regulating role in gene transcription and phenotypic differentiation (Balasubramaniyan, Boddeke, Bakels et al., 2006; Chomiak, Turner, & Hu, 2013; Hsieh & Gage, 2004, 2005; Jessberger, Nakashima, Clemenson et al., 2007). Accordingly, numerous studies reported that specific expression forms of HDAC1 and HDAC2, which are categorized as class I of HDACs, in the murine brain are existent at various developmental ages with HDAC1 expressed in neural stem cells/progenitors and glia, and HDAC2 being upregulated in postmitotic neuroblasts and various but not in fully differentiated glia (Chomiak et al., 2013). Therefore, modulation of HDAC in diverse cell types and at several maturational time points may possibly lead to the observation of intensely diverse clinical outcomes and may explain why HDAC inhibition (for instance with VPA) in adulthood leads to improvement of ASD-like features in animals exposed prenatally to VPA (Chomiak et al., 2013). In previous studies, in utero exposure to VPA in mice induced ASD-like behavioral social interaction deficits, anxiety and spatial learning incapacity (Kataoka, Takuma, Hara et al., 2013). However, all these behavioral impairments were ameliorated following chronic (5-weeks) treatment with VPA (30 mg/kg/d, i.p.) (Kataoka et al., 2013; Takuma, Hara, Kataoka et al., 2014), suggesting that dose (300-600 mg/kg for acute induction of ASD or 30 mg/kg for chronic treatment goals) or time point (prenatal or 8-week old animals) of using VPA determines whether it is ASD-inducing or palliating cognitive dysfunction (Takuma et al., 2014). VPA-induced ASD in rodents will be discussed in more details under section Non-genetic Animal Models of ASD. Moreover, the anticonvulsant drug levetiracetam was found to be valuable in decreasing hyperactivity, impulsivity, aggression, and emotional lability (Rugino & Samsock, 2002) (Table 1). These clinical observations for several antiepileptic drugs demonstrate that the prevalence of psychopharmacotherapy and polypharmacy in ASD patients is considerable, which is directed to the treatment of non-core ASD symptoms and psychiatric comorbidities, with a lack of pharmacological treatment options for ASD core symptoms.

1.4.5 Glutamate antagonists

Levels of glutamate have been found to be excessively increased in postmortem brain samples of some ASD individuals (Chez, Burton, Dowling et al., 2007; Owley, Salt, Guter et al., 2006). Numerous studies have publicized the effectiveness of several glutamate antagonists, e.g. amantadine and memantine, in ASD patients (Chez, Burton, et al., 2007; Owley et al., 2006). In a controlled clinical trial, amantadine showed improving effects on hyperactive behavior and inappropriate speech in ASD children (Chez, Burton, et al., 2007; Owley et al., 2006). Also, the clinical use of memantine in the treatment of ASD individuals has shown therapeutic progress with regard to memory, hyperactivity, irritability, language, social behavior and self-stimulatory behavior (Chez, Burton, et al., 2007; Owley et al., 2006) (Table 1).

1.4.6 Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors

Dysfunction of brain cholinergic neurotransmission has been described in several patients diagnosed with ASD (Chez, Aimonovitch, Buchanan et al., 2004; Hardan & Handen, 2002; Nicolson, Craven-Thuss, & Smith, 2006; Niederhofer, Staffen, & Mair, 2002; Perry, Lee, Martin-Ruiz et al., 2001). Therefore, acetylcholinesterase inhibitor (AChEI) e.g. rivastigmine, donepezil, and galantamine, have in many studies been investigated for the use in ASD children (Chez et al., 2004; Hardan et al., 2002; Nicolson et al., 2006; Niederhofer et al., 2002). Interestingly, the clinical application of rivastigmine in ASD children significantly relieved overall ASD behaviors, however, several adverse effects including nausea, diarrhoea, hyperactivity and irritability were reported (Chez et al., 2004; Hardan et al., 2002; Nicolson et al., 2006; Niederhofer et al., 2002). Among AChEI, donepezil has shown capability to improve irritability and hyperactivity of ASD children (Chez et al., 2004; Hardan et al., 2002; Nicolson et al., 2006; Niederhofer et al., 2002). Moreover, galantamine produced substantial improvements in hyperactivity, irritability, social withdrawal, inappropriate speech, attention deficiency, and reduction in anger in children diagnosed with ASD (Chez et al., 2004; Hardan et al., 2002; Nicolson et al., 2006; Niederhofer et al., 2002) (Table 1). These improvements observed for several AChEI strongly support the hypothesis that enhancing cholinergic neurotransmission in ASD results in positive therapeutic effects.

1.4.7 Psychostimulants

Methylphenidate, the most commonly known CNS stimulant widely used in the therapeutic management of ADHD and narcolepsy, is commonly indicated for autistic children and adolescents (Di Martino, Melis, Cianchetti et al., 2004; Handen, Johnson, & Lubetsky, 2000; Jahromi, Kasari, McCracken et al., 2009; Kim, Shonka, French et al., 2017). Methylphenidate mainly acts as a norepinephrine-dopamine reuptake inhibitor. In numerous controlled studies, methylphenidate palliated several behavior ASD features including impulsivity, attention deficiency, and hyperactivity, but it correspondingly exhibited some initial adverse effects such as aggression, anorexia, and increased wakefulness (insomnia) (Di Martino et al., 2004; Handen et al., 2000; Jahromi et al., 2009; S. J. Kim et al., 2017) (Table 1).

1.4.8 Adrenergic alpha (α)₂ receptor agonists

Oral or transdermal administration of selective centrally acting α_2 adrenergic agonist, e.g. clonidine, have revealed to improve mood instability, hyperactive behavior, , aggressiveness and nervousness in ASD individuals (Fankhauser, Karumanchi, German et al., 1992; Ming, Gordon, Kang et al., 2008). Clonidine is a drug used to treat high blood pressure, ADHD, anxiety disorders, tic disorders, withdrawal (from either alcohol, opioids, or smoking), migraine, and certain pain conditions, with largely tolerable adverse effects (Fankhauser et al., 1992; Ming et al., 2008). Also, previous clinical trials carried out with clonidine in ASD subjects have demonstrated clinical effectiveness and safety profile in ASD and related brain disorders (Fankhauser et al., 1992; Ming et al., 2008). Moreover, a retrospective study revealed that the use of guanfacine, a selective α_2 adrenergic receptor agonist used in the treatment of ADHD, anxiety, and hypertension, was accompanied with improvements in insomnia, attention deficiency, hyperactivity and tics (Boellner, Pennick, Fiske et al., 2007; Posey, Puntney, Sasher et al., 2004; Scahill, Aman, McDougle et al., 2006). However, the most common adverse effects observed with guanfacine were mood alteration fatigue, blurred vision, and headache (Boellner et al., 2007; Posey et al., 2004; Scahill et al., 2006) (Table 1).

1.4.9 Opiate antagonists

Based on the reputed role of endogenous opioids such as β -endorphin and encephalin in the regulation of social behavior, the opiate antagonist naltrexone has been assessed in ASD (Bouvard, Leboyer, Launay et al., 1995; Clifford, Dissanayake, Bui et al., 2007; Elchaar, Maisch, Augusto et al., 2006; Kolmen, Feldman, Handen et al., 1995; Panksepp & Lensing, 1991). The results observed in numerous studies for naltrexone showed that it might be able to treat behavioral aberrations perceived in ASD patients and induced by dysfunction of the brain opioid system (Bouvard et al., 1995; Clifford et al., 2007; Elchaar et al., 2006; Kolmen et al., 1995; Panksepp et al., 1991). Moreover, numerous studies revealed the significant improvements of various behavioral symptoms obtained with the use of naltrexone in ASD children (Bouvard et al., 1995; Clifford et al., 2007; Elchaar et al., 2006; Kolmen et al., 1995; Panksepp et al., 1991). Furthermore, these studies reported that naltrexone treatment provided substantial enhancements in self-injurious behavior, hyperactivity, social withdrawal, agitation and irritability in ASD patients (Bouvard et al., 1995; Clifford et al., 2007; Elchaar et al., 2006; Kolmen et al., 1995; Panksepp et al., 1991). (Table 1).

The aforementioned described drugs acting at different targets are used to therapeutically manage the behavioral as well as psychiatric symptoms of ASD. However, several brain regions are altered in ASD individuals, resulting in loss of neuronal function, and behavioral and sensory impairments, including inattention, hyperactivity, mood fluctuations, aggressiveness, agitation, social deficits and repetitive and restricted behavior. In the brain, the plasticity of brain tissue, nerve connections and balance of several neurotransmitters are all implicated in pathophysiology of ASD individuals. Apart from environmental factors, other pathological conditions such as autoimmunity, chronic neuroinflammation, oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction are involved in etiopathogenesis of ASD (Kumar et al., 2012).

Up until now, there is no approved drug existing in the market, which is specific for treating symptoms associated with ASD, however, preclinical and clinical research and development are in progress to find new therapeutic entities. Currently, there are several candidates that successfully passed different clinical phases of drug development, with different pharmacological targets to modulate ASD behavioral and neurological symptoms. Interestingly, 10% of these clinical candidates are currently in phase 1, 46% have already progressed to phase 2, 27% advanced to phase 3, and 15% reached to phase 4 of clinical development, whereas 2% are currently of preclinical interest (Ruhela, Prakash, & Medhi, 2015)

Table 1: Selected medications of different classes that are currently used to manage different symptoms of ASD

Class	Medication	Structure	Pharmacological effects	Side effects	Reference
/chotics	Clozapine		Improves hyperactivity and aggression in ASD patients	Requires patient's haematological safety monitoring and it lowers seizure threshold	(Chen et al., 2001; Gobbi et al., 2001; Sahoo, Padhy, Singla et al., 2017; Zuddas et al., 1996)
typical Antipsy	Risperidone		Reduces irritability, repetitive behavior, aggression, anxiety, and depression & nervousness. It shows neuroprotective activity, modulates astroglia function, and increases the brain antioxidant activity.	Mild sedation, increased appetite, fatigue, dizziness, drowsiness, tremor, and constipation	(Hara, Ago, Taruta et al., 2017; McCracken et al., 2002; McDougle, Holmes, et al., 1998)
IV	Arıpıprazole		Reduces autistic symptoms in children such as irritability, stereotypy, and hyperactivity	Fatigue, vomiting, weight gain, tremor, and extrapyramidal symptoms	(Hirsch et al., 2016; Marcus et al., 2009; Owen et al., 2009)
keuptake I)	Fluoxetine		Reduces stereotyped and repetitive behavior in children and adolescents with ASD.	Hypomania. agitation, and hyperactivity	(DeLong et al., 2002; Fatemi et al., 1998; Hendriksen, Klinkenberg, Collin et al., 2016; Hollander et al., 2005)
Selective Serotonin R inhibitor (SSR	Tiuvoxannine	F ₃ C NH ₂	Improves compulsive repetitive behaviors, aggression	Irritability, and increase risk of suicidal ideas	(Brown, Eum, Cook et al., 2017; Howes, Rogdaki, Findon et al., 2018; Lee, Kim, Kim et al., 2018; Martin, Koenig, Anderson et al., 2003; McDougle, Naylor, Cohen et al., 1996)

Class	Medication	Structure	Pharmacological effects	Side effects	References
(Continued)	Sertraline Paroxetine		All SSRIs possess similar effects to fluoxetine and fluvoxamine. Sertraline shows improvements in repetitive and disruptive behavior in adults with ASD, paroxetine reduced aggression, and escitalopram shows improvements in irritability, stereotypy, hyperactivity and inappropriate speech.		(AlOlaby, Sweha, Silva et al., 2017; Hellings et al., 1996; McDougle, Brodkin, et al., 1998)
ake inhibitor (SSRI) (Escitalopram				(Davanzo, Belin, Widawski et al., 1998; Hellings, Reed, Cain et al., 2015) (Brown et al., 2017;
Selective Serotonin Reupt	Venlafaxine		Improves restricted behavior & interest, social and communication deficits, and hyperactivity	Irritability, and increase risk of suicidal idea	Owley, Walton, Salt et al., 2005; Viktorin, Uher, Reichenberg et al., 2017) (Carminati, Deriaz, & Bertschy, 2006; Carminati, Gerber, Darbellay et al., 2016)

Table 1: Selected medications of different classes that are currently used to manage different symptoms of ASD (continued)

Table 1: Selected medications of	f different classes that	are currently used	to manage different	symptoms of ASD	(continued)
		2	0	v 1	1

Class	Medication	Structure	Pharmacological effects	Side effects	Reference
idepressant	Nortriptyline	NH I	Improves hyperactivity and aggressiveness in autistic children	Sedation, increase in aggression, irritability and hyperactivity	(Campbell et al., 1971; Hong, Lee, Han et al., 2017; Kurtis, 1966)
Tricyclic Ant	Clomipramine	C CI	Improves anger and compulsive and ritualized behavior		(Gordon et al., 1993; Hong et al., 2017; Sanchez et al., 1996)
ts	Lamotrigine	$ \begin{array}{c} CI \\ CI \\ N_{N} \\ H_{2}N \\ N_{N} \\ N_{N} \\ N_{2} \end{array} $	Improves overall autistic symptoms	Life-threatening skin reactions, including Stevens-Johnson syndrome, drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms, and toxic epidermal necrolysis	(Jobski et al., 2017; Uvebrant et al., 1994)
Anticonvulsar	Valproic acid	ОН	Improves receptive language, affective instability, aggression, and social skills	Irritability, weight gain, anxiety	(Anagnostou, Esposito, Soorya et al., 2006; Hollander, Chaplin, Soorya et al., 2010; Hollander, Soorya, Wasserman et al. 2006;
	Levetiracetam		Decreases symptoms such as hyperactivity, impulsivity, aggression, and affective lability	CNS effects such as somnolence, decreased energy, headache, dizziness, mood swings and coordination difficulties	Jobski et al., 2017) (Jobski et al., 2017; Rugino et al., 2002)

Class	Medication	Structure	Pharmacological effects	Side effects	Reference
Glutamate antagonist	Amantadine Memantine	NH ₂ NH ₂ H ₃ '''CH ₃	Improves hyperactivity and speech disturbance Improves memory, hyperactivity, irritability, social behavior and communication, and self-stimulatory behavior	Nervousness, anxiety, agitation, insomnia, difficulty in concentrating, and exacerbations of pre-existing seizure disorders and psychiatric symptoms in patients with SCH or PD Few autistic individuals experienced worsening of autistic symptoms	(King, Wright, Handen et al., 2001; Naaijen et al., 2017) (Chez, Burton, et al., 2007; Naaijen et al., 2017; Owley et al., 2006; Vorstman, Parr, Moreno-De-Luca et al., 2017)
Acetylcholine esterase inhibitors	Rivastigmine Donepezil Galantamine		Improves overall autistic behavior Improves irritability and hyperactivity Improves several autistic symptoms in children such as irritability, hyperactivity, social interaction deficits, inappropriate speech, loss of attention, and anger	Nausea, diarrhoea, hyperactivity, and irritability Nausea and vomiting, decreased appetite and weight loss	(Vorstman et al., 2017) (Hardan et al., 2002; Vorstman et al., 2017) (Nicolson et al., 2006; Niederhofer et al., 2002; Vorstman et al., 2017)

Table 1: Selected medications of different classes that are currently used to manage different symptoms of ASD (continued)

Class	Medication	Structure	Pharmacological effects	Side effects	Reference
Psychostimulant	Methylphenidate		Improves several autistic behavioral symptoms in children and adolescents such as hyperactivity, impulsivity, attention, social communication, and self-regulation	Anorexia, aggression, and insomnia	(Di Martino et al., 2004; Handen et al., 2000; Jahromi et al., 2009; S. J. Kim et al., 2017)
Adrenergic a2 receptor agonists	Clonidine Guanfacine	$\begin{array}{c} H \\ H \\ H \\ H \\ H \\ H \\ C \\ C \\ C \\ C \\$	Improves hyperactivity, mood fluctuation, aggressiveness and agitation, sleeping pattern and night time awakenings Improves attention, hyperactivity, and tics	Sedation, dry mouth, and hypotension Insomnia, fatigue, blurred vision, mood instability, sedation, constipation, irritability, and aggression.	(Fankhauser et al., 1992; Ming et al., 2008; Nash & Carter, 2016) (Boellner et al., 2007; Nash et al., 2016; Posey et al., 2004; Scahill et al., 2006)
Opiate antagonist	Naltrexone	HO O O HO O H N	Improves, hyperactivity, irritability, self- injuries. However, ineffective in social deficits.	Gastrointestinal complaints such as diarrhoea and abdominal cramping.	(Bouvard et al., 1995; Clifford et al., 2007; Elchaar et al., 2006; Kolmen et al., 1995; Nash et al., 2016; Panksepp et al., 1991)

Table 1: Selected medications of different classes that are currently used to manage different symptoms of ASD (continued)

1.5 Animal models of ASD

For the understanding of the aetiology and pathogenesis of any human disease, e.g. ASD, experimental rodent models are of substantial meaning. Modelling of human neuropsychiatric diseases with animals is very challenging due to the multifaceted nature of these disorders, combined with the absence of effective diagnostic biomarkers and objective tests for accurate diagnosis (Nestler et al., 2010). Moreover, neuropsychiatric diseases, such as ASD, are multifactorial with genetic, medical and neurodevelopmental conditions associated with the disease (Masi, DeMayo, Glozier et al., 2017; Medline Â, 2016). Generally, there are two types of rodent models for ASD, namely the genetic and non-genetic animal models. Accordingly, ASD genetic animal models are highly applicable when they reproduce the ASD features that are existent in an individual human genetic disease such as tuberous sclerosis and fragile X syndrome. Therefore, the ASD genetic models induced in mice should be established on an identified genetic cause of a disease, reflect key aspects of the human symptoms and respond to pharmacotherapies that are operational in the human diseases (Chadman, Yang, & Crawley, 2009).

1.5.1 Genetic animal models of ASD

A considerable advancement in detecting the genetic basis of several human diseases has been achieved by geneticists. These achievements include AD, Huntington's disease, and some forms of breast cancer. However, more difficulties were associated with the detection of genetic factors for multifaceted diseases such as SCH, diabetes, bipolar disorder, and also ASD (Fregeac, Colleaux, & Nguyen, 2016; Hu, Ehli, & Boomsma, 2017; Narahari, Hussain, & Sreeram, 2017; Wei, Yuan, Liu et al., 2015). In the case of ASD, extensive research efforts elucidated underlying mechanisms of the disorder and concluded that these mechanisms might include dysfunctions of neuronal microRNAs (miRNAs), which are regulators of gene expression, and which have gained much attention in pathophysiology of various psychiatric illnesses (Andolina, Di Segni, & Ventura, 2017). Accordingly, about half of all identified miRNAs in humans are expressed in the CNS and exhibit modulatory functions crucial for numerous biological processes associated to the development of the CNS (Hu et al., 2017). Consequently, disruptions in miRNA biogenesis and miRNA-target interaction have been linked with CNS diseases, including ASD (Hu et al., 2017). Moreover, three miRNA (miRNA-7, miRNA-9, and miRNA-106b) were found to be associated with neurodegenerative diseases and only one, namely miRNA-9, with intellectual disability (Doxakis, 2010; Y. Hu et al., 2017; Wang, Liu, Zong et al., 2010; Xu, Zong, Li et al., 2011). Furthermore, it was recognized that the intellectual disability in Down syndrome which is a neurodevelopmental disorder, was caused by an extra-copy of chromosome 21 (Lejeune, Gautier, & Turpin, 1959). However, it is now being firmly established that deletions in the chromosome 21 are commonly discovered in some patients with intellectual disability including ASD (Hogart, Wu, LaSalle et al., 2010). Similarly, increased risk of delayed development, intellectual disability and neurological as well as psychiatric problems associated with ASD, SCH, epilepsy and hypotonia was found to be the result of micro deletions in the long (q) arm of the chromosome in a region designated q21.1 (Knight, Regan, Nicod et al., 1999; Mefford, Cooper, Zerr et al., 2009; Ravnan, Tepperberg, Papenhausen et al., 2006). Moreover, chromosome 15 has been described to be as one of several chromosomes enriched in segmental low copy repeats or duplicons (Bailey, Gu, Clark et al., 2002). These duplicons were revealed to strongly contribute to a

mechanism in which low copy repeats facilitated misalignment during meiosis I, leading to unequal recombination of nonallelic homologous and developing a sequence of common cut-off point along the 15q11.2-q13 region (Christian, Fantes, Mewborn et al., 1999; Robinson, Bernasconi, Mutirangura et al., 1993; Robinson, Binkert, Gine et al., 1993; Robinson, Spiegel, & Schinzel, 1993). Previous reports suggested, also, several cases of ASD with cytogenetic abnormalities in the 15q11–13 region (Cook, Courchesne, Cox et al., 1998), and the frequency of cytogenetic abnormalities in this region was found to be around 0-3% in ASD, and in fact, the most frequent cytogenetic abnormality in this population (Lord, Cook, Leventhal et al., 2000). Moreover, it has been reported that the paternal inheritance of a cytogenetical abnormality leads to a normal phenotype; maternal inheritance leads to autism or atypical autism (Tabet, Verloes, Pilorge et al., 2015). Furthermore, previous efforts revealed that 16p13.1 micro duplication syndrome is caused by interstitial duplications encompassing 16p13.1, which is a risk factor for a range of neuropsychiatric disorders, including ASD, intellectual disability, SCH, and ADHD (Grozeva, Conrad, Barnes et al., 2012; Mefford et al., 2009; Ramalingam, Zhou, Fiedler et al., 2011; Ullmann, Turner, Kirchhoff et al., 2007). There are, also, monogenic diseases that have been associated with ASD and display its characteristic features: tuberous sclerosis, fragile X syndrome, Rett syndrome and neurofibromatosis 1 (Hulbert & Jiang, 2016; Wetmore & Garner, 2010). Accordingly, single gene mutation gave rise to several human syndromes leading to an increase in the risk for developing ASD. Moreover, autistic traits are also connected to copy-number variants that lead to inheritance of maternal 15q11–13 duplication, resulting in Prader-Willi syndrome (Ogata, Ihara, Murakami et al., 2014). Furthermore, the developed strategies for the identification of genetic variants has led to the description of novel syndromic forms of ASD and facilitated an understanding of the relationship between genetic traits and phenotype. Consequently, these genetic dissimilarities identified so far, along with the newly developed strategies for genetic engineering, improved the expansion of genetic animal models for ASD. Accordingly, mice are the major animal model for ASD due to their genetic manipulability and their capacity to show behavioral deficits associated with ASD features (Chen et al., 2015). Moreover, construct as well as face validity of mice ASD animal models together with the availability of well-established techniques to manipulate their genome and study brain function at numerous levels of analysis contribute to the overall validity of mouse models (Hulbert et al., 2016). Also, mice as mammals are genetically and biologically similar to humans, however, their rapid reproduction and accelerated development allow for the testing of large numbers of animals at a relatively low cost (Hulbert et al., 2016). Accordingly, animal models for genes of a syndromic disorder were commonly found to present autistic traits including Fragile X (FMR1) with social interaction deficits, hyperactivity, and cognitive impairments (Bhattacharya, Kaphzan, Alvarez-Dieppa et al., 2012; Y. Hu et al., 2017; Hulbert et al., 2016; Ronesi, Collins, Hays et al., 2012; Willem Verhoeven, 2011), Rett syndrome and MECP2 mutations with the resulted repetitive and stereotypic/restricted behaviors, abnormal gait and reduced anxiety, decreased pain and normal olfactory discrimination (Chao, Chen, Samaco et al., 2010; Samaco, McGraw, Ward et al., 2013). Other common syndromic disorder with ASD phenotype include tuberous sclerosis TSC1 or TSC2 with social interaction deficits and repetitive/restricted behavior or interest (Chao et al., 2010; Willem Verhoeven, 2011), Timothy syndrome (TS) CACNA1C with impairments in social interactions, repetitive/stereotypic

behaviors, and increased fear conditioning (Ergaz, Weinstein-Fudim, & Ornoy, 2016) and Phelan-McDermid syndrome with restricted interest as well as cognitive and motor deficits (Ergaz et al., 2016; Giza, Urbanski, Prestori et al., 2010) In addition to PTEN mutations and Cortical dysplasia focal epilepsy with deficits in social interactions, restricted interest, sensory sensitivity, elevated anxiety, and seizures (Scott-Van Zeeland, Abrahams, Alvarez-Retuerto et al., 2010)(Cook & Scherer, 2008; LaSalle, Reiter, & Chamberlain, 2015; Piochon, Kloth, Grasselli et al., 2015). All behavioral features of the above described syndromes are associated with ASD. Numerous inbred mouse strains show face validity as ASD models in addition to the genetically modified animal models of ASD. As such inbred strains display robust and well-replicated social deficits and repetitive behaviors (Kazdoba, Leach, Yang et al., 2016). These inbred strains are found to display idiopathic autism, as their ASDrelevant behaviors are not caused by known genetic mutations (Kazdoba et al., 2016). For instance and while assessing sociability, inbred strains like A/J, BALB/cByJ (BALB), BTBR T+Itpr3tf/J (BTBR), C58/J (C58), and 129S1/SvImJ mice showed lack of sociability, as compared to inbred mouse strains with high sociability, such as C57BL/6J (B6) and FVB/NJ mice (Brodkin, 2007; Y. Hu et al., 2017; Kazdoba et al., 2016; McFarlane, Kusek, Yang et al., 2008; Moy, Nadler, Poe et al., 2008; Moy, Nadler, Young et al., 2007). Moreover, it has been shown that several mouse strains, e.g. BTBR and C58, also demonstrate explicit motoric stereotypies or repetitive behaviors, such as jumping, digging, and high levels of self-grooming and marble burying (Kazdoba et al., 2016; Pasciuto, Borrie, Kanellopoulos et al., 2015).

1.5.2 Non-genetic animal models of ASD

Environmental animal models are induced by prenatal exposure of pregnant

animals to certain chemical compounds, infections, or inflammations. The environmental inducing factor is only of significance if the chemicals used in the animal model cause the same effects in humans. Accordingly, the antiepileptic drug, VPA was found to significantly increase the ASD degree in offspring of treated mothers (Christianson, Chesler, & Kromberg, 1994; Moore, Turnpenny, Quinn et al., 2000), and similarly showed to induce ASD-like behaviors in mice and rats (Anshu, Nair, Kumaresan et al., 2017; Nicolini & Fahnestock, 2017; Rodier, Ingram, Tisdale et al., 1997). Therefore, the ASD-like animal model induced by in utero exposure to the anticonvulsant drug VPA has been well established and recognized to study ASD features (Nicolini et al., 2017). Moreover, the immunomodulatory drug thalidomide, which was used by pregnant women in the 1950s, was revealed to be associated with a marked escalation in the incidence of ASD in their offspring (Stromland, Nordin, Miller et al., 1994). Furthermore, several reports revealed that methylmercury, which is formed from inorganic mercury by the action of microbes that live in aquatic systems including lakes, rivers, wetlands, sediments and soils, exposure during childhood caused a variety of neuropsychological abnormalities, e.g. memory, attention and language, (Davidson, Cory-Slechta, Thurston et al., 2011; Falluel-Morel, Sokolowski, Sisti et al., 2007; Grandjean, Budtz-Jorgensen, White et al., 1999). Also, a previous study has shown that acute systemic administration methylmercury during developmental phases elicited hippocampal cell death, reductions in neurogenesis, and severe learning impairments (Grandjean et al., 1999). Thimerosal was a widely used preservative in numerous biological and drug products since 1930s, including many vaccines. It is a mercury-containing organic compound which contains ethyl mercury, a compound supposed to be the cause of several adverse neurodevelopmental deficits, including ASD (Hviid, Stellfeld, Wohlfahrt et al., 2003). Also, a previous study in which 10,000 cases have been examined showed that there is a significant association between maternal viral infection in the first trimester and ASD in the offspring (Atladottir, Thorsen, Ostergaard et al., 2010). Indeed, when animals were exposed to the maternal immune activation with polyinosine: cytosine (poly I:C) at embryonic day 9.5, the offspring displayed histological and behavioral abnormalities that resembled ASD (Garay, Hsiao, Patterson et al., 2013; Hsiao, McBride, Chow et al., 2012; Shi, Smith, Malkova et al., 2009). On behavioral level, these animals demonstrated impaired sociability, communication differences and increased repetitive stereotyped behaviors and had smaller brain sizes at birth, followed by macroencephaly in adulthood. In line with these observations, it has been shown that viral infections in the mother can prompt substantial changes in the immune system in both mother and fetus, leading to long-term epigenetic alterations in the offspring (Kong, Frigge, Masson et al., 2012). Consequently, the timing of immune insults during developmental phase may be one source of the heterogeneity in the phenotypic features observed in ASD (Kong et al., 2012). Accordingly, male rats treated with thalidomide/VPA demonstrated immunological changes such as decreased splenocyte proliferative response to mitogenic stimulation, lower thymus weight, and decreased interferon (IFN)- γ /IL-10 ratio in peritoneal macrophages, whereas female rats in this study failed to show many of these behavioral and immunological changes, indicating that sex-specific responses to some environmental factors might play a significant role on the phenotypic outcomes of several ASD features (Schneider, Roman, Basta-Kaim et al., 2008). Also and subsequent to viral infection, the immune response was found to produce various cytokines, such as (IL)-1, -2 and -6 which modulate the release of several monoamines such as 5-HT in the hippocampus and other brain regions (Libbey, Sweeten, McMahon et al., 2005). Indeed, maternal infection was found to lead to elevated levels of cytokines and chemokines including IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, and IL-12p40 in the plasma of ASD children, and such increases were reported to be associated with more reduced communication skills and abnormal behaviors (Patterson, 2012). Also, the offspring of infected animal mothers given poly (I:C) exhibited both ASD-like behavioral and neuropathological deficits as described above (Gadad, Hewitson, Young et al., 2013; Garay et al., 2013; Hsiao et al., 2012; Patterson, 2012; Shi et al., 2009). Based on the aforementioned results, environmental influences both *during* and *after* pregnancy can significantly influence the immune system and the developing nervous system to play a role in constructing several neurodevelopmental disorders including ASD.

It should be stressed that experimental animal models (genetically manipulated animal models, animal models obtained by destruction of certain CNS areas, and animal models obtained by using maternal factors) are indispensable for exploring the pathophysiologic causes of brain disorders, e.g. ASD, although they do not reflect the entire state of ASD disease. Moreover, animal models (mostly rodents) are widely used to study the development of cortical neurocircuit, genetic analysis and molecular mechanisms underlying ASD, and the palliative effects of newly developed drugs on core as well as associated symptoms of ASD. Furthermore, genetic as well as nongenetic rodent models have the capability of being the major objects of pharmaceutical industry in testing drug efficacy, dosage and acute as well as (sub)chronic toxicology.

1.6 Neuroinflammation and ASD

Neuroinflammation is a response that involves neurons, microglia and macroglia, which are cells that are present in the CNS (Bradl & Hohlfeld, 2003; Carson, Doose, Melchior et al., 2006). Neuroinflammation has been reported to be an important feature of many neurodegenerative disease and neuropsychiatric conditions such as multiple sclerosis, AD, PD, narcolepsy and ASD (Carson, Thrash, & Walter, 2006; Frick et al., 2016). Implication of the role of inflammation in aetiology of ASD was based on evidence and medical history of autistic individuals that show signs of neuroinflammation, altered inflammatory responses and immune abnormalities throughout life. This is confirmed by increasing clinical and experimental evidence that links immune and inflammatory alterations with the pathogenesis of ASD (Lucchina & Depino, 2014). Moreover, post mortem studies have supported this evidence and have shown neuroinflammation in several brain regions of patients with ASD (Vargas, Nascimbene, Krishnan et al., 2005). Microglia as the brain's resident inflammatory cells have critical role in mediating neuroinflammation and regulation of brain development and homeostasis. In fact, they play critical role in defence and tissue repair. Microglia activation is the first sign of neuroinflammation, and abnormalities in microglia have been implicated in autism (Carson et al., 2006; Frick et al., 2016). After being activated they may cause neuronal dysfunction and cell death (neurodegenerative role). Activated microglia roundup, proliferate, migrate, phagocytes, present antigens to T-cells, release a variety of oxidants such as reactive oxygen species (ROS), and activate several genes and proteins, such as inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), cyclooxygenase1 (COX1), cyclooxygenase2 (COX2), and variety of proinflammatory cytokines including IL-1 β , tumor necrosis factor alpha
(TNF- α) (Figure 6), and that is what is notably observed in autism (Monnet-Tschudi, Defaux, Braissant et al., 2011). In chronic neuroinflammation, microglia remain activated for long periods, with continuous release of cytokines and neurotoxic molecules that contribute to loss of synaptic connections and neuronal death (Lyman, Lloyd, Ji et al., 2014). Chronic or excessive neuroinflammation is diagnosed in ASD (Kern et al., 2015), this observed chronic glia activation and altered inflammatory function maybe partly responsible for the observed behavioral features in ASD, as chronic peripheral inflammation and abnormal inflammatory responses in the brain may lead to cognitive dysfunction (Lucchina et al., 2014).



Figure 6: Schematic depiction of microglia activation neuronal cell death.

Neuroinflammatory proteins and cytokines due to microglia activation by genetic and different environmental activators, leading to neuron dysfunctions and cell death. Adapted from (Shabab, Khanabdali, Moghadamtousi et al., 2017).

During pregnancy, both environmental and genetic risk factors may affect inflammatory response of new-borns, hence altering postnatal brain development (Adams-Chapman & Stoll, 2006). These genetic and environmental factors can directly elicit chronic neuroinflammation which in turn may modulate neuronal function and immune response through glia activation, or directly through affecting neuronal function (Depino, 2013) (Figure 7). VPA as an environmental risk factor showed activation in different brain regions, with evidence of long-lasting glia activation in hippocampus and cerebellum (Lucchina et al., 2014). Hippocampus (Depino, Lucchina, & Pitossi, 2011) and cerebellum (DeLorey, Sahbaie, Hashemi et al., 2008; Martin, Goldowitz, & Mittleman, 2010) are two brain regions linked to autism-related behavior, namely social interaction and repetitive behaviors. Additionally, several studies showed that cerebellar inflammation may alter social behavior in adult mice as cerebellum is involved in executive and cognitive functions (Koziol, Budding, Andreasen et al., 2014; Lucchina et al., 2014; Shi et al., 2009; Wang, Kloth, & Badura, 2014). Furthermore, evidence suggests that astrocyte and microglia activation in cortex and cerebellum increase expression of cytokines including IL-6, TNF- α , MCP-1, TGF- β 1, IFN γ , IL-8 and other associated genes involved with the immune response in different brain regions of autistic subjects (Chez, Dowling, Patel et al., 2007; Chez & Guido-Estrada, 2010; Garbett, Ebert, Mitchell et al., 2008; Li, Chauhan, Sheikh et al., 2009; Vargas et al., 2005). Alternatively, both these environmental and genetic factors, could chronically alter immune response through increasing production of free radicals, which consequently activate glia cells, increasing inflammatory response, affecting neurons, mediating clinical symptoms of autism (Depino, 2013). These findings suggest that neuroinflammation may contribute to ASD behavioral effect, hence, controlling microglia activation and inhibiting cytokine and free radical production would be a therapeutic strategy for treating ASD.



Autism sprectrum disorders

Figure 7: Effect of genetic and environmental factors on neuronal dysfunction and immune response modulating ASD symptoms.

All possibilities contributing to ASD through glia activation (grey arrow), or through directly altering peripheral immune cells (white arrows) which in turn activates glia affecting the neuronal function (black arrows). Adapted from (Depino, 2013).

The emergence that the HS may be implicated in ASD and may contribute in ameliorating its core symptoms, necessitates further research to investigate what role the HS may or may not have in enhanced neuroinflammation in ASD. Possible role of central histamine as regulator of neuroinflammatory processes has received scant attention, but lately the potential importance of HA regulation of microglia (Rocha et al., 2014) was highlighted by the fact that both HA and microglial dysregulation are implicated in neuropsychiatric disease states such as TS and a range of neurodegenerative syndromes. Recent finding of microglial abnormalities in the HDC knockout mouse, a validated model of the pathophysiology of TS (Baldan, Williams, Gallezot et al., 2014), further emphasizes the importance of understanding HA's role in regulating microglial function, especially that TS and ASD have a high degree of overlap. An *in vitro* study demonstrated that all known histamine receptors are expressed on microglia cells (Ferreira et al., 2012). Another experimental study suggested a role for histamine in the modulation of microglial inflammatory response, demonstrating a dual role of histamine in neuroinflammation regulation, mediated by activated microglia, through modulating cell recruitment and proinflammatory cytokine release, as IL-1 β and TNF- α (Ferreira et al., 2012).

A growing understanding of histamine has shed light on the possibility of targeting histamine for therapeutic use to treat CNS disorders associated with microglia-derived inflammation. A very recent study demonstrated the dual role of histamine in the modulation of microglial responses, suggesting that while histamine per se can induce microglia injurious effects, oppositely under inflammatory context, it can inhibit them (Barata-Antunes, Cristovao, Pires et al., 2017a), opening a new perspective for the therapeutic use of histamine to improve inflammation-associated processes in disorders associated with microglia- derived inflammation. The role of H3R antagonist in stimulating the synthesis and release of histamine in brain, as mentioned earlier, suggest that therapeutic use of H3R antagonists may ameliorate neuroinflammation and consequently, improve ASD behavioral symptoms. Moreover, the antioxidant effect of H3R antagonist, as demonstrated by (Mahmood et al., 2012b; Mani, Jaafar, Azahan et al., 2017) strongly suggest that H3R antagonist may have therapeutic potential in the management of ASD.

1.7 Aims and Objectives

Based on all aforementioned evidences and results from our lab, H3 receptor (H3R) antagonists are considered potential therapeutic agents for the management of different brain disorders associated with cognitive impairments. Accordingly, the

hypothesis of my PhD research project is that targeting the brain histaminergic system using H3R antagonists may be new therapeutic agents for reversing core deficits of ASD, using different mouse models of ASD.

The primary focus of this study is to investigate the effects of sub-chronic treatment of non-imidazole H3R antagonists (DL77) on autistic-like animal's behaviors, mainly sociability and social novelty preference deficits, repetitive/ compulsive-like behaviors, abnormal anxiety, hyperactivity through a battery of standard behavioral tests. Another objective of the research is to study the role and implications of the histaminergic system in neuroinflammation and oxidative stress levels, which have been associated with ASD as mentioned earlier. This is approached by determining the effects of DL77 on levels of neuroinflammatory and oxidative stress markers using various experimental approaches in mice brain tissues.

Finally, accumulation of evidence as mentioned above suggested the implicates a variety of neurotransmitter systems such as ACh, 5-HT, DA, GABA, Glu, and HA in the onset and progression of ASD. In view of that, recent advances of developing novel agents with multiple pharmacological effects have become a promising strategy for treatment of diseases of a multifactorial nature, such as ASD. Therefore, we were interested to investigate the effects of novel dual-active ligand E100 with histamine H3 receptor (H3R) antagonist affinity (hH3R Ki = 203 nM) and acetylcholine esterase inhibitory effect (EeAChE IC50 = 1.93μ M and EqBuChE IC50 = 1.64μ M) on autistic-like behavioral parameters, oxidative stress, and neuroinflammation in male C57BL/6 mouse model of ASD induced by prenatal exposure to valproic acid (VPA, 500 mg/kg, i.p.) and in BTBR mice.

Chapter 2: Methods

2.1 Animals

Three mice strains at 8 weeks of age were used in this study, Tuck-Ordinary (TO) mice (Harlan, UK), C57BL/6 (C57) and BTBR T+tf/J (BTBR) mice (Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, USA). BTBR is a genetic animal model of autism. It is an inbred strain that naturally exhibits several behavioral symptoms of autism. All mice were bred in the local central animal facility of the College of Medicine and Health Sciences, United Arab Emirates University (Bastaki, Abdulrazzaq, Shafiullah et al., 2018). They were housed in plastic cages under a standard light/dark cycle (12 h dark/light cycle, lights at 6 a.m.) at a constant temperature of 22–25°C, with free access to tap water and a standard rodent chow diet.

2.2 Establishing VPA animal model of autism

Mice were kept for mating. Female mice were observed daily and placed in a separate cage when pregnancy was confirmed by the presence of a vaginal plug. This day was considered embryonic day 0 (E0). On E12.5, pregnant females were i.p. injected i.p with VPA 500 mg/kg (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) dissolved in isotonic 0.9% sodium chloride solution, and control mice were injected with saline, as previously described (Kataoka et al., 2013; Takuma et al., 2014). The day of delivery was defined as postnatal day 0 (P0). All offspring were weaned, sex-grouped (5–6 mice/cage) at P 21. Pups from VPA-exposed mothers were considered as the VPA mouse model of autism and were used for experiments at8 weeks of age. On the other hand, pups for mothers exposed to saline were used as control mice. TO and C57 VPA

mouse model of autism were developed by this method and all the tests were carried out on both strains.

2.3 Drugs and chemicals

Two H3R antagonists were used in this study. DL77 [1-(3-(4-tertpentylphenoxy) propyl) piperidine] and E100 [1-(7-(4-chlorophenoxy) heptyl) homopiperidine] (Figure 8). Both compounds were designed and synthesized in the Department of Technology and Biotechnology of Drugs Krakow, Poland, according to a previously described procedure (Kuder, Łażewska, Latacz et al., 2016; Lazewska, Jonczyk, Bajda et al., 2016; Lazewska, Ligneau, Schwartz et al., 2006) and were provided to us. Sodium valproate (VPA) (500 mg/kg, i.p.), donepezil hydrochloride (DOZ) (1 mg/kg, i.p.) (reference drug), the H3R agonist R-α methyl histamine (RAM) (10 mg/kg, i.p.), the brain-penetrant H1R antagonist pyrilamine (PYR) (10 mg/kg, i.p.), the brain-penetrant H2R antagonist zolantadine (ZOL) (10 mg/kg, i.p.), Scopolamine hydrochloride (SCO) (0.3 mg/kg, i.p.), LPS (lipopolysaccharide from E. coli serotype 0111:B4), and the assay kit for reduced glutathione (GSH), rabbit anticyclo-oxygenase2 (COX2), rabbit anti-inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) antibodies was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). The lipid peroxidation assay kit for estimation of malondialdehyde (MDA) was obtained from North West Life Science (Vancouver, WA, USA). The assay kits for superoxide dismutase (SOD) and catalase (CAT) were purchased from Cayman chemical (Ann Arbor, MI, USA). For estimation of levels of proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α and TGF- β commercially available ELISA kits were purchased from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN, USA). Rabbit anti- nuclear transcription factor – kappa B p65 (NF-κB p65) antibody was purchased from Abcam, (Cambridge, MA, USA).

Anti-actin antibody was obtained from MERCK (Millipore, USA), while the goat antimouse and goat anti rabbit secondary immunoglobulin G antibodies conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (HRP) were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Dallas, TX, USA). Anti-ionized calcium-binding adaptor molecule-1 (Iba-1) polyclonal rabbit was purchased from Wako Chemicals (Richmond, VA, USA). Alexa Fluor 488- conjugated secondary goat anti-rabbit antibodies were purchased from Life Technologies (Grand Island, NY, USA). Protease and phosphatase inhibitors were obtained from Thermo Scientific (Waltham, MA, USA). The Pierce® BCA Protein Assay Reagent Kit and the SuperSignal® West Pico PLUS chemiluminescence substrate kit were purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. (Rockford, IL, USA). Mini-Protean TGX® precast electrophoresis gels were obtained from BIO-RAD (Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc, USA). Vectashield®, fluorescent mounting media was procured from Vector laboratories (Burlingame, CA, USA). Acetylcholinesterase activity colorimetric assay kit was purchased from BioVision (Milpitas, CA, USA). All the reagents used in the study were of analytical grade and were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, US). Except for E100, which was dissolved in 1% aqueous solution of Tween 80, all drugs were dissolved in isotonic saline solution. All mice were i.p. injected at a volume of 10 ml/kg adjusted to body weight, and all doses are expressed in terms of the free base.



Figure 8: Chemical structure and *in vitro* affinities of DL77 and E100 with regard to *h*H1R, *h*H3R, *h*H4R, *in-vivo* potency of DL77; and *in vitro* data of E100 against EeAChE, and EqBChE.

(^a) [¹²⁵I] Iodoproxyfan binding assay at human H3R stably expressed in CHO-K1 cells, n=3 for DL77 and [³H] N^{α} -Methylhistamine binding assay performed with cell membrane preparation of HEK-*h*H3 cells stably expressing the human for H3R, n= 3 for E100, as reported previously (Lazewska et al., 2006) (^b) [³H] Pyrilamine binding assay performed as previously reported, with cell membrane preparation of CHO-*h*H1R cells stably expressing the human H1R; n=3 (Schibli & Schubiger, 2002; Schlotter, Boeckler, Hubner et al., 2005). (^c) [³H] Histamine binding assay performed as reported previously, with cell membrane preparation of Sf9 cells transiently expressing the human H4R and coexpressed with G_{ai2} and β1γ2 subunits; n=3 (Meier, Apelt, Reichert et al., 2001). (^d) Central histamine H3R assay in vivo after po administration to mice, n=3 (Lazewska et al., 2006). *h*H1R: human histamine H1 receptor; ^(e and f) E100 comparable inhibitory potency for both cholinesterases (EeAChE, and EqBChE) in low micromolar range. Abbreviations: CHO: Chinese hamster ovary; Eq: equine; Ee: electric eel.

2.4 Study design

Pregnant mice (TO and C57) were i.p. injected with either VPA (500 mg/kg) or saline on embryonic day 12.5 (E12.5) (Moy, Nadler, Perez et al., 2004) and returned to their home cages. VPA was dissolved in isotonic 0.9% NaCl solution (saline). After the injection of VPA few pregnant mice died, and some gave still birth or underwent desorption. From the successfully delivered pups, male offspring only from both VPA-exposed mothers and from mothers that received saline were divided into 2 groups (Group 1: prenatally VPA-exposed offspring; Group 2: prenatally saline-exposed offspring). Then the mice in each group were further divided into subgroups and i.p. treated as shown in the schematic experimental design (Figure 9). Group 1 was

subdivided into eight subgroups of VPA-exposed mice and Group 2 was subdivided into three subgroups of saline-exposed mice as follows:

Group 1: prenatally VPA-exposed offspring (5-7 mice/group)

Group I: VPA-exposed mice injected with saline

Group II: VPA-exposed mice injected with DL77 (5 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group III: VPA-exposed mice injected with DL77 (10 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group IV: VPA-exposed mice injected with DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group V: VPA-exposed mice injected with DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group VI: DL77 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) was co-administered with RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group VII: DL77 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) was co-administered with PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group VIII: DL77 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) was co-administered with ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group 2: prenatally saline-exposed offspring (5-7 mice/group)

Group I: saline-exposed mice injected with saline

Group II: saline-exposed mice injected with DL77 (10 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group III: saline-exposed mice injected with DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.)

All treatments and vehicle (saline) were injected once daily for 21 days from P44 onwards. After one week of treatment, the battery of behavioral tests was started in a sequence shown in Figure 9. Treatments or saline were administered 30–45 min before each behavioral test. To reduce the number of animals used, the biochemical

analysis, Western blotting and immunofluorescence staining were performed in the same groups of animals that were subjected to behavioral tests. The behavioral experiments of the study were conducted between 9:00 am and 3:00 pm. Before the behavioral tests animals were habituated in the study place for at least 1 h. All procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Ethics Committee of College of Medicine and Health Sciences/United Arab Emirates University (approval no. ERA-2017-5603). All methods were carried out in accordance with relevant guidelines and regulations.

The same study design (Figure 9) was followed using DL77 and E100 as treatments on C57 mice prenatally exposed to VPA, and again the offspring were divided as follows: (Group 1: prenatally VPA-exposed offspring; Group 2: prenatally saline-exposed offspring). Group 1 was subdivided into fifteen subgroups of VPAexposed mice and Group 2 was subdivided into four subgroups of saline-exposed mice as follows:

Group 1: prenatally VPA-exposed offspring (8-12 mice/group)

Group I: VPA-exposed mice injected with 1% aqueous solution of Tween 80

Group II: VPA-exposed mice injected with DL77 (5 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group III: VPA-exposed mice injected with DL77 (10 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group IV: VPA-exposed mice injected with DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group V: VPA-exposed mice injected with E100 (5 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group VI: VPA-exposed mice injected with E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group VII: VPA-exposed mice injected with E100 (15 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group VIII: VPA-exposed mice injected with DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group IX: DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.) was co-administered with RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group X: DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.) was co-administered with PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group XI: DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.) was co-administered with ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group XII: E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) was co-administered with RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group XIII: E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) was co-administered with PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group XIV: E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) was co-administered with ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group XV: E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) was co-administered with SCO (0.3 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group 2: prenatally saline-exposed offspring (8-12 mice/group)

Group I: saline-exposed mice injected with 1% aqueous solution of Tween 80

Group II: saline-exposed mice injected with DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.),

Group III: saline-exposed mice injected with E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.),

Group IV: saline-exposed mice injected with DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.)

For further elaboration and authentication, effects of systematic pre-treatment of E100 was investigated in male BTBR mice following the same sequence of behavioral tests (Figure 9) and the groups were divided as follows (6-8 mice/group):



Group II: BTBR mice injected with 1% aqueous solution of Tween 80

Group III: BTBR mice injected with E100 (5 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group IV: BTBR mice injected with E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group V: BTBR mice injected with E100 (15 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group VI: BTBR mice injected with DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.)

Group VII: E100 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) was co-administered with RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.)



Figure 9: Schematic diagram of drug treatments, behavioral studies, and biochemical assessments with VPA mice.

Pregnant mice were injected with VPA (500 mg/kg, i.p.) at embryonic day 12.5 (E12.5). Treatments started from postnatal day (P44). Injections (once daily) continued for 21 days until P64. Behavioral studies was started from P51. All mice were then sacrificed at P64 for biochemical analyses. Abbreviations: VPA: Valproic acid; i.p.: intraperitoneal; DOZ: Donepezil; RAM: R-alpha methyl histamine; PYR: Pyrilamine; ZOL: Zolantidine; TCT: Three-chamber test; EPM: Elevated plus-maze; OFT: Open field test; MBT: Marble Burying test; NST: Nestlet shredding test.

2.5 Behavioral tests

2.5.1 Three-chamber test (TCT)

TCT assesses cognition in the form of general sociability and social novelty preference in rodents, identifying rodents with deficits in sociability and/or social novelty. The TCT of social interaction and social novelty recognition was performed as described previously (Silverman, Yang, Lord et al., 2010), but with a slight modification in the apparatus, with one center chamber ($40 \text{ cm} \times 20 \text{ cm} \times 22 \text{ cm}$) and two side chambers (40 cm \times 20 cm \times 22 cm) separated by two sliding doors under a light intensity of ~120 lux (Figure 10). The test was composed of four 10-min sessions. In the first session, a test mouse was habituated to the center chamber with the two doors closed for 5 min. In the second session, the doors were opened, and a test mouse was allowed to explore all three chambers for 5 min. Before starting the third session, a stranger mouse (same age and sex with no previous contact with the test mouse), referred to as a novel mouse 1, was placed in a small plastic cage in either the left or right chamber, selected randomly to avoid side preference, while the other cage in the opposite chamber was kept empty and was referred to as a novel object. In the third session, the test mouse was allowed to explore all three chambers and cages for 10 min. The time spent exploring (direct contact) the novel mouse 1 was compared with the time spent exploring the novel object. As previously described, the sociability index (SI) and social novelty preference index (SNI) were calculated by applying a mathematical equation to allow the direct comparison of social behavior of the treated groups (Bambini-Junior, Zanatta, Della Flora Nunes et al., 2014). As the score for SI became more positive and closer to 1, the more social was the tested animal. The SI was calculated using the following equation:

SI = <u>Time exploring novel mouse 1 – Time exploring novel object</u>

Time exploring novel mouse 1 + Time exploring novel object

After the end of the third session a new stranger mouse was added to the empty cage after which the test mouse was allowed to explore the environment for 10 min, which made up the fourth session. The new stranger mouse was referred to as novel mouse 2, while the novel mouse 1 from the previous session was then referred to as the familiar mouse. The exploratory time was measured as in the previous session to evaluate the preference of the test mouse to novel mouse over familiar mouse in the cage. Similarly, SNI was calculated where a value closer to 1 indicated that an animal was more interested in social novelty. The SNI was calculated as follows:

SNI = <u>Time exploring novel mouse 2 – Time exploring familiar mouse</u>

Time exploring novel mouse 2 + Time exploring familiar mouse

The reason for the first session is that it might increase mouse exploration of side chambers relative to the center chamber in sessions 3 and 4. Another objective of habituation in the center chamber before the whole-apparatus habituation was to make the center chamber a familiar "home base" of the test mouse (Crawley, 2004), as reported in the original papers (Moy et al., 2004; Nadler, Moy, Dold et al., 2004). In addition, the time of habituations could be flexible (5–30 min) (Crawley, 2004). Stranger mice (8–16 weeks old) were habituated to the plastic cage in the three-chamber apparatus for 30 minutes 24 h before the test, as described previously (Moy et al., 2004). The trace movements and sniffing during the experiment were automatically recorded using EthoVision® Software (Noldus, Information Technology Netherlands).



Figure 10: Apparatus used for behavior tests.

Three chamber compartment used for three chamber test (A and B), Elevated Plus-Maze used for anxiety and locomotor activity chamber test measures (C and D), cage with equidistant 4×5 arrangement of black marbles used for marble burying test (E), Open field used for open-field test (E), and nestlets with specific dimensions used for nestlet shredding test (F). Black and white floorings are selected to contrast with the colour of mouse used, for accurate detection by the software.

2.5.2 Marble burying test (MBT)

MBT behavior is an accurate reflection of repetitive digging behavior (Angoa-Perez, Kane, Briggs et al., 2013; Thomas, Burant, Bui et al., 2009). The test was performed as previously reported with slight modifications (A. Bahi, J. S. Schwed, M. Walter et al., 2014; Theoharides et al., 2016; Thomas et al., 2009). Briefly, cages ($26 \text{ cm} \times 48 \text{ cm} \times 20 \text{ cm}$) were filled with fresh, unscented mouse bedding material to a depth of 5 cm, and the bedding surface was leveled by placing another cage of the same size onto the surface of the bedding. Each mouse was housed individually for habituation. After 10-min habituation, the mouse was removed, and 20 glass marbles (15 mm diameter) were carefully overlaid equidistantly in a 4 \times 5 arrangement inside the cage. Subsequently, each mouse was returned to its designated test cage and allowed to explore for 30 min. The number of marbles buried (>50% marbles covered by the bedding) was recorded (Angoa-Perez et al., 2013; Kim, Seung, Kwon et al., 2014).

2.5.3 Nestlet shredding test (NST)

NST powerful behavioral assay to is а assess repetitive and obsessive/compulsive-like behavior. It was performed by placing commercially available cotton fiber (nestlet) (5 cm \times 5 cm, 5 mm thick, ~2.5 g each) after weighing it on an analytical balance, into a cage (19 cm \times 29 cm \times 13 cm) filled with fresh, unscented mouse bedding material to a depth of 0.5 cm (Figure 10). The bedding was packed by placing another cage of the same size onto the surface of the bedding. Each nestlet was placed on top of the bedding in one test cage, and the filter-top cover was placed on the cage. No food and water were provided during the test. One mouse was added to each cage and left undisturbed with the nestlet for 30 min. The mouse was then removed and returned to its home cage after test completion. The remaining intact nestlet was removed from the cage using forceps and allowed to dry overnight. The remaining un-shredded nestlet was weighed, and the weight difference was divided by the starting weight to calculate the percentage of nestlet shredded. The remaining shredded nestlet material and bedding was discarded (Angoa-Perez et al., 2013).

2.5.4 Elevated plus-maze (EPM) test

The EPM test was performed as previously described (Bahi, 2013a, 2013b; Bahi & Dreyer, 2012, 2014) Briefly, a four-armed apparatus was elevated 40 cm above the ground. It consisted of two opposite open arms (30 cm \times 6 cm) and two closed arms of the same size with 15 cm high walls. The arms were connected by a central square (6 cm \times 6 cm) (Figure 10). An animal was placed in the center of the maze facing an open arm. The maze was lighted approximately one meter above the maze. The amounts of time spent with the head and forepaws in the open arms and closed arms of the maze as well as the number of entries into each arm were measured over 5 min using EthoVision® Sofware. The maze was thoroughly cleaned with a tissue dampened with 70% (volume/volume; v/v) alcohol to remove any odor after each mouse was tested. The total number of entries into the closed arms is used as an index of locomotor activity in the test (Bahi, 2013a, 2013b; Bahi et al., 2012; Bahi & Dreyer, 2014).

2.5.5 Open-field test (OFT)

OFT involves exploratory activity performed in a novel environment, assessed in an open field box (45 cm × 45 cm × 30 cm) (Lucchina et al., 2014) (Figure 10). This test systematically assesses novel environment exploration, general locomotor activity, and anxiety-related behavior in rodents. The center was defined as the central 23 cm × 23 cm area. Mice were introduced into the center area of the arena and allowed 5 min for habituation before actual behavioral recording. The total distance moved in the whole arena, and time spent at the center and periphery were recorded for 10 min using charged-coupled device camera-assisted motion tracking apparatus and EthoVision software. After each trial, the apparatus was cleaned using 70% ethanol and allowed to dry (Kim et al., 2014; Prut & Belzung, 2003). When evaluating the results, a longer time spent in the center indicated lower levels of anxiety-like behaviors and the total distance travelled reflected locomotor activity.

2.6 Brain collection and tissue preparation for biochemical studies

After the 21 days of treatment as described above, the animals were injected with LPS (25 μ g/kg, i.p.) two hours before the sacrifice according to previously published protocols (Lucchina et al., 2014).The animals were deeply anesthetized with

pentobarbital (40 mg/kg, i.p.), and cardiac perfusion was performed using $1 \times PBS$ (0.01 M phosphate buffer, 0.0027 M potassium chloride and 0.137 M sodium chloride) at pH 7.4 to wash out the blood. The brains were quickly removed and placed on an ice plate. The cerebellum and the hippocampus were excised from the brain and snapfrozen in liquid nitrogen for further use in biochemical tests (Ojha, Javed, Azimullah et al., 2015). On the day of assay, the tissues were homogenized on ice in the extraction buffer recommended by the manufacturer, RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, 140 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 0.5% Triton X-100 and 0.5% sodium deoxycholate) and phosphatase and protease inhibitors. The homogenates were sonicated and centrifuged for 30 min at 14000 rpm at 4°C to remove tissue debris, and the resulting supernatant was used for the proinflammatory cytokine assessment, oxidative stress and Western blot analysis. After being transcardially perfused with PBS four animals from respective groups were further perfused by 4% paraformaldehyde (cold) in $1 \times PBS$. After removing the brains from the skulls, they were post-fixed in the same fixative (4% paraformaldehyde) for 48 h at 4°C. The brains were then immersed in 10% sucrose solution for three consecutive days at 4°C. Finally, the brains were stored in -80°C for cryostat sectioning and immunofluorescence staining analyses (Javed, Azimullah, Abul Khair et al., 2016; Ojha et al., 2015).

2.6.1 Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

ELISA was performed to quantify the levels of proinflammatory cytokines, IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α and TGF- β in the cerebellum. The levels of IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α and TGF- β were estimated as recommended by the manufacturer's instructions. For proinflammatory cytokine analysis, the protein concentrations were determined using the Pierce® BCA Protein Assay Reagent Kit. Briefly, 96-well plates were coated with the diluted capture antibody (100 μ l) overnight at room temperature. Each well was aspirated and washed with wash buffer (0.05% Tween 20 in PBS 0.01 M, pH 7.4). The plate was blocked by adding reagent diluent (1% bovine serum albumin in PBS [300 μ]) for 1 hour, except for TFG- β the blocking buffer was 5% Tween 20 in PBS, and the plate was then washed with wash buffer. Samples or standards (100 µl) were added to the well and incubated for 2 hours, then washed with wash buffer. Each well received detection antibody (100 μ l), was incubated for 2 hours at room temperature, and was washed with wash buffer. The well then received working solution (1:40) of streptavidin horseradish peroxidase (100 µl) and was further incubated for 30-40 minutes at room temperature and then washed with wash buffer. The wells received substrate solution (100 µl) and incubated for 20 minutes (avoid direct light). Finally, stop solution (2 N H₂SO₄ [50 µl]) was added and mixed by gentle plate tapping. Immediately, the optical density of each well was determined at 450nm using a microplate absorbance reader (Molecular devices Versamax ®, USA). The results are expressed as pg/mg protein (Ojha et al., 2015; Tyrtyshnaia, Lysenko, Madamba et al., 2016).

2.6.2 Oxidative stress marker estimations

Lipid peroxidation product: malondialdehyde (MDA): An MDA detection kit was used to determine the amount of lipid peroxidation using the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, samples or calibrators (250 µl) were added to acid reagent (1 M Phosphoric acid) (250 µl) and 2-thiobarbituric acid (250 µl). Subsequently, butylated hydroxytoluene in ethanol (10 µl) was added and vortexed vigorously. Then, the samples were incubated for 60 min at 60°C and centrifuged at 10,000 × g for 2–3 min. The reaction mixture was transferred to a cuvette and its spectra at 532 nm recorded. The results are expressed as μ M MDA/mg protein.

Glutathione (GSH): For the estimation of GSH, a commercially available GSH kit was used following the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, the samples were first deproteinized with 5% 5-sulfosalicylic acid solution and centrifuged to remove the precipitated protein. The supernatant was used to measure the GSH levels. Samples or standards (10 μ l) were incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes with 150 μ l of working mixture (assay buffer + 5,5'-Dithiobis (2-nitrobenzoic acid) + GSH reductase) in 96-well plates. Diluted NADPH solution (50 μ l) was added to each well and mixed properly. The absorbance of the samples was measured at 412 nm, along with the kinetics for 5 min by using the microplate reader. The results are expressed as μ M GSH/mg protein.

Superoxide dismutase and Catalase (SOD and CAT): For estimation of the activity of antioxidant enzymes SOD and CAT, manufacturer's instructions for the commercially available kits were followed. Briefly, CAT was estimated by mixing the samples or different standard concentrations (20 μ l) with assay buffer (100 μ l) and methanol (30 μ l) in a 96-well plate. To initiate the reaction, H₂O₂ (20 μ l) was added to each well and incubated on a shaker for 20 min at room temperature. To terminate the reaction, Potassium hydroxide (30 μ l) was added and subsequently followed by the addition of CAT purpald (30 μ l). The plate was covered and incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature on a shaker. Then CAT potassium periodate (10 μ l) was added and the plate was incubated again for 5 min at room temperature on a shaker and absorbance was determined using a microplate reader at 540 nm. CAT activity was expressed as nmol/min/mg protein. For SOD estimation, samples or standard (10 μ l)

were added to diluted radical detector (tetrazolium salt solution) (200 μ l) in a 96-well plate. Xanthine oxidase (20 μ l) was added to all wells to initiate the reaction. The plate was shaken carefully for a few seconds, covered with plate cover and incubated for 30 min at room temperature. Absorbance was determined at 450 nm using a microplate reader. SOD activity was expressed as units/mg protein (Ojha, Javed, Azimullah et al., 2016).

2.6.3 Western blot analysis

Western blot analysis was conducted to measure the levels of expression of COX-2, iNOS, and NF- κ B p65 in the cerebellum and hippocampus of different animal groups, as described previously (Javed, Azimullah, Abul Khair, et al., 2016; Ojha et al., 2015). As mentioned earlier the prepared cell lysates containing the extracted protein from the mouse brain tissues were used. The protein content in the sample was estimated using the Pierce® BCA Protein Assay Reagent Kit. The protein samples containing equal amounts of protein (30 μ g) adjusted with RIPA buffer and 4 \times Laemmli sample buffer, were loaded and separated in Mini-Protean TGX® precast electrophoresis gels. The proteins were then transferred onto polyvinylidene difluoride membranes that were first activated by soaking in 100% methanol. The transfer was carried in a Trans-blot Turbo semi-dry-transfer system (BIO-RAD, Bio-Rad laboratories, Inc, USA,) using a transfer buffer (25 mM Tris base, 192 mM glycine, 20% v/v methanol and adjust volume to 1000 ml distilled water, pH 8.3). Subsequently, the membranes were incubated for 1 h with the blocking buffer (nonfat dry milk) and then washed to avoid non-specific binding. The membranes were then incubated overnight at 4°C with the specific primary antibody (Table 2). The second day the membranes were washed and incubated for 1 h with the horseradish peroxidase conjugated secondary anti-rabbit antibody, at room temperature. The bands of proteins detected by the antibodies were visualized using an enhanced chemiluminescence Pico kit as substrate. Subsequently, the blots were stripped and reprobed for actin (used as loading control) using horseradish peroxidase anti-mouse secondary antibody (Table 2). The intensity of the band was measured using densitometry and quantified using the ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA)

Table 2: Primary and secondary antibodies used in Western blot and their dilutions.

Primary Ab	Dilution	Secondary Ab	Dilution
Rabbit anti-COX-2	1:1000	HRP anti Rabbit	1:20000
Rabbit anti-iNOS	1:5000	HRP anti Rabbit	1:20000
Rabbit anti-NF-KB p65	1:50000	HRP anti Rabbit	1:10000
Mouse anti-actin	1:7000	HRP anti Mouse	1:20000

2.7 Immunofluorescence staining of Iba-1

Brains were collected, post fixed and stored in -80°C as mentioned earlier. On the day of sectioning, the brains were sliced using a cryostat (Leica, Germany) into 20 μ m sections. Immunofluorescence staining was performed with the coronal sections of the cerebellum to examine the Iba-1 positive microglia (activated). In 24-well plate brain sections were washed twice with PBS (500 µl/well) and incubated with blocking reagent (10% normal goat serum in PBS 0.3% Triton-X 100) (250 µl/well) for 1 h at room temperature. The sections were then washed and incubated with the primary polyclonal rabbit antibody against Iba-1 (1:700) (250 µl/well) overnight at 4°C. On the second day, the sections were washed twice with PBS (500 µl/well) and incubated with fluorescent anti-rabbit secondary antibody (Alexa Fluor488) (1:1000) (250 µl/well) for 1 h at room temperature. Subsequently, the sections were washed again and mounted using Vectashield® mounting media. The images were then captured using the fluorescent microscope (Nikon Eclipse Ni). A minimum of three sections per brain from four animals were used (three sections per brain) to analyse microglia activation. From each section the activated microglia were evaluated by measuring the integrated density of the Iba-1 signal from three different randomly selected fields of equal areas, using the Image J software. The expression levels of Iba-1 were detected by the green fluorescence emitted by Alexa Fluor488. The total corrected cellular fluorescence (TCCF) was then calculated using the following equation: (TCCF) =integrated density – (area of selected cell \times mean fluorescence of the background) (McCloy, Rogers, Caldon et al., 2014). This TCCF was calculated and normalized against the mean of the control, with results presented as percentage fold increase from the control.

2.8. Determination of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity in BTBR mice cerebellum

The acetylcholinesterase assay kit was used, and the procedure followed was according to the manufacturer. The assay relates the hydrolysis of ACh to choline by AChE enzyme. Briefly, 5 μ l of supernatant of homogenate (cerebellum tissue) was placed into the plate. Then, 45 μ l of working reagent that consists of AChE assay buffer, and 50 μ l reaction mix were added into each well. After incubation for 20-30

min at 37°C, absorbance was read in a kinetic mode, and choosing two time points in a linear range to calculate the AChE activity of the sample, using a microplate reader at 570 nm. AChE activity was expressed as nmol/min/mg protein.

2.9 Statistical analysis

For the SI and SNI, and results of the MBT, NST, OFT and EPM test, statistical significance was assessed with a group (Control, VPA, BTBR) \times drug (SAL, DL77, E100) analysis of variance. The data were first analyzed for normality by assessing the sample distribution or skewness (-1.5 to +1.5 considered normally distributed). The source of the detected significances was determined by Bonferroni's multiple comparison post hoc test. P-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. The number of mice per group is indicated in the figures. Distinct analyses were performed to enable the calculation of SI and SNI, for the interaction time. Respective group and chamber were considered independent variables, and their influence over the dependent variable time was determined. Statistical significance for biochemical assessments, Western blot, and immunofluorescence analyses was calculated using one-way analysis of variance followed by post hoc Tukey's multiple comparison test. For statistical comparisons, the software package SPSS 25.0 (IBM Middle East, Dubai, UAE) was used. The results are expressed as the means and standard errors of the means (SEM). The P-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Chapter 3: Results

3.1 Effects of DL77 and DOZ on sociability deficits assessed in VPA-exposed TO mice in TCT

The effect of subchronic systemic injection of DL77 at three different doses (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) on ASD-like sociability deficits in the TCT task in VPA-exposed mice are shown in Figure 11A. The results of statistical analyses revealed that subchronic treatment with DL77 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) prior to TCT significantly enhanced sociability of VPA-exposed mice by increasing SI when compared to saline-treated VPA-exposed mice with $[F_{(1,10)} = 7.63; P < 0.05]$. However, DL77 (5 and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) failed to enhance sociability of VPA-exposed mice with p=0.92, p=0.16, and p=0.16, respectively (Figure 11A). Moreover, no significant difference in the SI was observed for salineexposed mice pretreated with 10 mg/kg of DL77 (10 mg/kg) with p=0.43, indicating that VPA-exposed mice exhibited enhanced sociability performance when pretreated with DL77 (10 mg/kg) (Figure 11A). Furthermore, DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) failed to alter saline-exposed with p=0.19 as compared to saline-treated Saline exposed mice (Figure 11A). Additionally, the observed results for SI values showed that the DL77 (10 mg)provided enhancement in sociability performance was completely abrogated when coadministered with the CNS-penetrant H3R agonist RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p., P<0.05) or the CNS-penetrant H2R antagonist ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,10)} = 30.72; P <$ 0.001] as compared to DL77 (10 mg)-pretreated VPA-exposed mice (Figure 11B). However, the CNS-penetrant H1R antagonist PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.) failed to reverse the observed effects of DL77 (10 mg/kg) with p=0.71 for the comparison of DL77 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice with DL77 (10 mg) + PYR (10 mg)-treated VPAexposed mice (Figure 11B).



Figure 11: Effects of DL77 and DOZ on sociability deficits assessed in VPA-exposed TO mice in TCT.

After 10 minutes of acclimatization, male subjects were allowed to explore all chambers for 10 min. The results obtained were Sociability index (SI) **A**) Abrogation of DL77 (10 mg)-provided effect on SI (B). Saline-exposed mice were injected with saline in SAL group (gray), DL77 (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p. in black), or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p. in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. Abrogative studies of subchronic (21 days) systemic co-injection of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p. for RAM group), PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p. PYR group), or ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p., for ZOL group) on the DL77 (10 mg)-provided improvement of sociability. Saline exposed mice were injected with saline, DL77 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.). Figures show mean \pm SEM (n=6-7). **P*<0.05 vs.SI of saline-treated saline-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. SI of saline-treated VPA-exposed mice. **P*<0.001 vs. SI of DL77 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice.

3.2 Effects of DL77 and DOZ on social novelty deficits assessed in VPA-exposed TO mice in TCT

Figure 12 shows the effects of subchronic administration of three different doses of DL77 (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) on social novelty deficits of VPA-exposed mice. The results of post hoc analysis indicated that saline-exposed mice exhibited significantly higher SNI when compared to VPA-exposed mice, with [$F_{(1,10)} = 5.87$; P < 0.05] (Figure 12A). VPA-exposed mice pretreated with DL77 (10 or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) showed significant improvement in SNI when compared

to saline-treated VPA-exposed mice with $[F_{(1,10)} = 5.73; P < 0.05]$ and $[F_{(1,10)} = 5.76; P < 0.05]$, respectively (Figure 12A). However, DL77 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) failed to improve the social novelty of VPA-exposed mice, with p=0.93 and p=0.60, respectively (Figure 12A). Furthermore, no significant difference between saline-treated saline-exposed mice and DL77 (10 mg)-treated saline-exposed mice was found (p=0.51) (Figure 12B). As depicted in Figure 12B and observed in the post hoc analysis, the results for SNI values showed that the DL77 (10 mg)-provided enhancement in social novelty performance was completely counteracted when the centrally active H3R agonist RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) or the CNS-penetrant H2R antagonist ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.) was co-administered (P < 0.05 for both comparisons) (Figure 12B). However, the CNS-penetrant H1R antagonist PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p., P>0.05) failed to reverse the enhancement of DL77-provided social novelty performance (Figure 12B).



Figure 12: Effects of DL77 and DOZ on social novelty deficits assessed in VPAexposed TO mice in TCT.

After 10 minutes of exploration, male subjects were allowed to explore all chambers for another 10 min. The results obtained were Social novelty index (SNI) (A) Abrogation of DL77 (10 mg)-provided effect on SNI (B). Saline-exposed mice were injected with saline in SAL group (gray), DL77 (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p. in black), or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p. in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. Abrogative studies of subchronic (21 days) systemic co-injection of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p. for RAM group), PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p. PYR group), or ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p., for ZOL group) on the DL77 (10 mg)-provided improvement of social novelty. Saline exposed mice were injected with saline, DL77 10 mg/kg, i.p.) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.). Figures show mean \pm SEM (n=5-7). **P*<0.05 vs. SNI of saline-treated saline-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. SNI of saline-treated VPA-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. SNI of DL77 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice.

3.3 Effects of DL77 and DOZ on elevated stereotyped repetitive behavior in VPAexposed TO mice in MBT

The effect of subchronic systemic injection of DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) on the increase in repetitive behavior of VPA-exposed mice in MBT is shown in Figure 13A and B. The results of statistical analyses showed that subchronic treatment with either 10 or 15 mg/kg DL77 or 1 mg/kg DOZ prior to MBT significantly decreased the increased percentage of marbles buried by VPA-exposed mice, with [$F_{(7,48)} = 6.65$; P < 0.001] (Figure 13A). As observed in the post hoc analysis, VPA-exposed mice buried significantly more marbles compared to the saline-exposed animals, with [$F_{(1,12)} = 8.03$; P < 0.05]. However, VPA-exposed mice pretreated with

DL77 at 10 mg/kg, or 15 mg/kg exhibited significantly decreased percentages of buried marbles compared to saline-treated VPA-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 24.14; P]$ < 0.001] and [$F_{(1,10)} = 27.33$; P < 0.001], respectively (Figure 13A). In contrast, DL77 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) failed to significantly decrease the percentage of buried marbles in VPA-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 3.45; p = 0.09]$ (Figure 13A). Notably, no significant difference in the DL77-provided effect on percentage of buried marbles was observed between DL77 10 mg/kg and 15 mg/kg, with p = 0.59. Importantly, subchronic systemic administration of DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly decreased the percentage of marbles buried by VPA-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 8.62; P < 0.05]$. Furthermore, no significant difference in the percentage of buried marbles was observed in the comparison of saline + saline group vs. saline + DOZ (1 mg) group (p = 0.88) (Figure 13A). However, there was a significant decrease in the percentage of buried marbles in saline-exposed mice subchronically treated with DL77 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) vs. saline + saline group, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 16.178; P < 0.05]$ (Figure 13A). In another experiment, the DL77 (10 mg)-provided decrease in the percentage of buried marbles was reversed by RAM, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 1.43; p = 0.26]$ for the comparison of VPAexposed mice vs. VPA-exposed mice + DL77 (10 mg) + RAM (10 mg). However, PYR and ZOL failed to reverse this DL77 (10 mg)-provided decrease in the percentage of buried marbles, as they had no significant effect compared to VPA-exposed mice treated with DL77 (10 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,12)} = 2.73; p = 0.12]$ and $[F_{(1,12)} = 0.00; p]$ = 0.98], respectively (Figure 13B).





A) Repetitive marble-burying behavior was measured after a 30-minute testing session. VPA-exposed mice (red) demonstrated elevated stereotyped, repetitive behaviors that were significantly increased compared to saline-exposed mice (gray). DL77 (at a dose of 5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p. (black)) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p. in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. B) Effects of sub-chronic (21 days) systemic co-administration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.), or ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on the DL77 (10 mg)-provided attenuation of stereotyped repetitive behavior of VPA-exposed mice in MBT. Saline-exposed mice were injected with saline in group, DL77 (10 mg/kg, i.p.), or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.). Figures show mean \pm SEM (n = 7). **P* < 0.05 vs. saline-treated saline-exposed mice. **P* < 0.05, **#**P* < 0.001 vs. saline-treated VPA-exposed mice. **P* < 0.05 vs. DL77 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice.

3.4 Effects of DL77 and DOZ on elevated stereotyped repetitive behavior in VPAexposed TO mice in NST

The effect of subchronic systemic injection of DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) on the increase in the percentage of shredded nestlet was assessed in NST (Figure 14A and B). ANOVA indicated that VPA-exposed mice shredded significantly more nestlet compared to the saline-exposed mice, with [$F_{(1,12)}$ = 20.90; P < 0.05]. VPA-exposed mice treated with DL77 (10 mg/kg or 15 mg/kg) exhibited a significantly lower percentage of shredded nestlet compared to VPA-exposed mice treated with saline, with [$F_{(1,12)} = 7.34$; P < 0.05] and [$F_{(1,12)} = 9.63$; P < 0.05], respectively (Figure 14A). However, DL77 (5 mg/kg) failed to modulate the

percentage of shredded nestlet in VPA-exposed mice, with [$F_{(1,12)} = 0.39$; p = 0.54]. Notably, no significant difference in the DL77-provided effect on percentage of shredded nestlet was observed between the two doses of 10 and 15 mg/kg, with p = 0.84. Moreover, subchronic systemic administration of DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly lowered the percentage of shredded nestlet in VPA-exposed mice, with [$F_{(1,12)} = 10.99$; P < 0.05]. Furthermore, neither saline + saline group vs. saline + DL77 (10 mg) group nor saline + saline group vs. saline + DOZ (1 mg) group showed significant differences in shredded nestlet (p = 0.56 and p = 0.53, respectively) (Figure 14A). As depicted in Figure 14B and observed in the post hoc analysis, the DL77 (10 mg)-provided decrease in the percentage of shredded nestlet was reversed following RAM, with [$F_{(1,12)} = 0.002$; p = 0.98] compared with saline-treated VPA-exposed mice (Figure 14B). However, PYR and ZOL failed to reverse this DL77-provided decrease in the percentage of shredded nestlet, as they had no significant effect compared to VPA-exposed mice treated with DL77 (10 mg/kg, i.p.), with [$F_{(1,12)} = 2.73$; p = 0.12] and [$F_{(1,12)} = 0$; p = 0.98], respectively (Figure 14B).



Figure 14: Effects of DL77 and DOZ on elevated stereotyped repetitive behavior in VPA-exposed TO mice in NST.

(A) Repetitive shredding behavior was measured after a 30-minute testing session. VPA-exposed mice (red) demonstrated elevated stereotyped, repetitive behaviors that were significantly increased compared to saline-exposed mice (gray). DL77 (at a dose of 5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p. (black)) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p. in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. (B) Effects of sub-chronic (21 days) systemic co-administration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.), or ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on the DL77 (10 mg)-provided attenuation of stereotyped repetitive behavior of VPA-exposed mice in NST. Saline-exposed mice were injected with saline in group, DL77 (10 mg/kg, i.p.), or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.). Figures show mean \pm SEM (n=7). **P* < 0.05 vs. saline-treated saline-exposed mice. **P* < 0.05 vs. DL77 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice.

3.5 Effects of DL77 and DOZ pretreatment on exploratory behavior in VPAexposed TO mice in EPM test

Figure 15 shows the observed effects of subchronic systemic injection of saline or the H3R antagonist DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) on the anxiety parameters of VPA-exposed mice tested in the EPM, namely, the percentage of time spent in open arms (Figure 15A), the number of entries into open arms (Figure 15B), and locomotor activity expressed as the number of entries into closed arms (Figure 15C). Subsequent post hoc analyses showed that DL77 administered at 5, 10, or 15 mg/kg i.p. did not alter the percentage of time spent exploring the open arms of the maze during a 5 min session compared to saline-treated VPA-exposed mice, with [$F_{(1,9)} = 0.30$; p = 0.59], [$F_{(1,9)} = 0.18$; p = 0.68], or [$F_{(1,9)} = 0.56$; p = 0.47], respectively (Figure 15A). However, VPA-exposed mice pretreated with DOZ (1 mg) spent a significantly lesser percentage of time exploring the open arms compared to saline-treated VPA-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,7)} = 11.84; P < 0.05]$ (Figure 15A). Further analyses of data describing the number of entries and percentage of time in the open arms of the maze yielded for DL77 (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) practically the same results, with $[F_{(1,9)} = 1.75; p = 0.22]$, $[F_{(1,9)} = 1.20; p = 0.30]$, $[F_{(1,9)} = 1.21; p = 0.30]$, and $[F_{(1,7)} = 7.22; P < 0.05]$, respectively (Figure 15B). Interestingly, the number of closed arm entries following subchronic systemic injection of DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg) was not significantly different, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 0.99; p = 0.34]$, $[F_{(1,10)} = 0.29; p = 0.60]$, and $[F_{(1,10)} = 0.06; p = 0.81]$, respectively. However, DOZ (1 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 6.60; P < 0.05]$ (Figure 15C).





VPA-exposed mice (red) demonstrated elevated impulsive attitude and deficits in cognition behaviors that were significantly increased compared to saline-exposed mice (gray). DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p. in black) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p., in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) attenuated the increased percentage of time spent on the open arms of the EPM (**A**) the increased number of entries into the open arms (B) and the increased number of entries into the closed arms (C) in VPA mice. However, pretreatment with the H3R antagonist DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) did not affect any of the three parameters (A-C). Saline-exposed mice were injected with saline or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) (A-C). Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM (n=5-7). **P* < 0.05 vs. saline-treated saline-exposed mice.

3.6 Effects of DL77 and DOZ pretreatment on levels of malondialdehyde (MDA) and glutathione (GSH) in the cerebellum of VPA-exposed TO mice

The ability of DL77 to reduce oxidative stress in VPA-exposed mice was evaluated. Two parameters were measured, the MDA and GSH levels in VPA-exposed mouse cerebellum, which responded in an exacerbated way to the inflammatory stimulus LPS. The results in Figure 16A and B show that MDA was significantly elevated (P < 0.05), and GSH was significantly decreased (P < 0.05) in the brain tissues of VPA-exposed mice compared to saline-exposed mice (Figure 16A and B). However, brain tissues of VPA-exposed mice subchronically pretreated with DL77 (10 or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) showed a significant reduction of MDA (from 214.88 \pm 12.58 μ M to 112.77 \pm 19.56, 102.24 \pm 16.60, and 97.32 \pm 16.55 μ M for DL77 (10 and 15 mg/kg) and DOZ (1 mg/kg), respectively) (all P<0.05) (Figure 16A). In addition, subchronic administration of DL77 (10 or 15 mg/kg) or DOZ (1 mg/kg) significantly increased GSH compared to the saline-treated VPA-exposed animals (all P<0.05) (Figure 16B). Meanwhile, the VPA-exposed mice subchronically pretreated with 5 mg/kg did not show any significant difference from the saline-treated VPA-exposed group (Figure 16A and B). Moreover, subchronic systemic coadministration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) partially abrogated (P < 0.05) the protective effects of DL77 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) against the VPA-induced decreased level of MDA (Figure 16A), and it completely reversed the DL77 (10 mg)-provided increase in GSH in VPA-exposed mice (Figure 16B).


Figure 16: Effects of DL77 and DOZ pretreatment on levels of malondialdehyde (MDA) and glutathione (GSH) in the cerebellum of VPA-exposed TO mice. VPA-exposed mice (red) showed a significant increase in MDA (A) and significant decrease in GSH (B) compared to saline-exposed mice (gray). DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p. in black) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p. in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. DL77 (10 or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly decreased MDA and significantly increased GSH. RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) when co-administered abrogated the modulating effects provided with DL77 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on oxidative stress levels (A, B). Saline-exposed mice were injected with saline. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM (n=5-7). **P* < 0.05 vs. saline-treated saline-exposed mice. **P* < 0.05 vs. saline-treated VPA-exposed mice.

3.7 Effects of DL77 and DOZ pretreatment on levels of proinflammatory cytokines IL-1β, IL-6 and TNF-*α* in the cerebellum of VPA-exposed TO mice

The effects of DL77 on the levels of proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α in brain tissue of VPA-exposed mice that were exacerbated with LPS challenge were also assessed (Figure 17A-C). The induction of ASD-like behaviors by prenatally administered VPA significantly increased IL-1 β (Figure 17A), IL-6 (Figure 17B), and TNF- α (Figure 17C) compared to the saline-exposed mice (all *P* < 0.001), while subchronic systemic administration of DL77 (5, 10 or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) or DOZ (1 mg/kg) significantly (*P* < 0.001) attenuated the rise of these proinflammatory cytokines in VPA-exposed mice (Figure 17A-C). Notably, subchronic systemic coadministration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) partially abrogated (*P* < 0.001) the protective effects of DL77 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) against VPA-induced elevation of proinflammatory cytokines (Figure 17A-C).



Figure 17: Effects of DL77 and DOZ pretreatment on levels of proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α in the cerebellum of VPA-exposed TO mice. VPA-exposed mice (red) showed significantly increased levels of IL-1 β (A) IL-6 (B) and TNF- α (C) compared to saline-exposed mice (gray) exacerbated by LPS challenge. DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p. in black) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p. in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly decreased IL-1 β (A), IL-6 (B) and TNF- α (C). RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) when co-administered reversed the modulating DL77 (10 mg)-provided effects on proinflammatory cytokines (A-C). Saline-exposed mice were injected with saline (A-C). Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM (n = 5-6). ***P < 0.001 vs. saline-exposed mice. *##P < 0.001 vs. VPA-exposed mice.

3.8 Effects of DL77 and E100 on sociability deficits assessed in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in TCT

The effect of subchronic systemic administration with DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) on ASD-like sociability impairments in the TCT task in VPA-exposed mice are shown in Figure 18A and B. As observed in the post hoc analysis, VPA-exposed mice exhibited significantly lower sociability expressed in form of SI value when compared to salineexposed animals, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 23.38; P < 0.05]$ (Figure 18A). However, DL77 (10 and 15 mg/kg) significantly increased SI of VPA-exposed mice when compared to Saline treated VPA -exposed group, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 9.92; P < 0.05]$ and $[F_{(1,12)} = 32.82; P < 0.05]$, respectively (Figure 18A). Moreover, the results revealed that the enhancement in SI observed with DL77 (15 mg/kg) was comparable to that shown with DOZ (1 mg/kg), with $[F_{(1,12)} = 0.05; p=0.83]$, and was significantly higher than the DL77 (5 mg)- and DL77 (10 mg)-provided effects, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 7.22; P < 0.05]$ and $[F_{(1,12)} = 5.74;$ P < 0.05], respectively (Figure 18A). Interestingly, the DL77-provided improvement of sociability was counteracted following subchronic systemic co-administration with centrally acting H3R agonist RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) with $[F_{(1,12)} = 6.42; P < 0.05]$ compared with DL77 (15 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice (Figure 18B). However, CNS-penetrant H1R antagonist PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.) and H2R antagonist ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.) failed to reverse the DL77 (15 mg)-provided sociability enhancement, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 3.64; p=0.08]$ and $[F_{(1,12)} = 1.32; p=0.27]$, respectively (Figure 18B). Similarly, the effect of subchronic systemic injection of E100 at three different doses (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) on ASD-like sociability impairments in the TCT task in VPA-exposed mice are shown in Figure 18A. The results of statistical analyses revealed that subchronic pretreatment with E100 (5, 10,

and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg) prior to TCT significantly enhanced sociability by increasing SI, with $[F_{(8,54)} = 4.51; P < 0.001]$ (Figure 18A). As observed in the post hoc analysis, VPA-exposed mice exhibited significantly lower sociability expressed in form of SI value when compared to saline-exposed animals, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 13.62;$ P<0.05] (Figure 18A). However, E100 (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg) significantly increased SI of VPA-exposed mice when compared to saline-treated VPA-exposed group, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 21.22; P < 0.05], [F_{(1,12)} = 23.83; P < 0.05], \text{ and } [F_{(1,12)} = 14.24; P < 0.05],$ respectively (Figure 18A). Moreover, the results revealed that the enhancement in SI observed with E100 (10 mg/kg) was comparable to that shown with DOZ (1 mg/kg), with $[F_{(1,12)} = 0.08; p=0.78]$ as well as with DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.) with $[F_{(1,12)} = 0.44;$ p=0.52], and was significantly higher than the E100 (5 mg)-provided effects, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 5.17; P < 0.05]$ (Figure 18A). Interestingly, the E100-provided improvement of sociability was counteracted following subchronic systemic co-administration with centrally acting H3R agonist RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), CNS-penetrant H2R antagonist ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.), or muscarinic antagonist SCO (0.3 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,12)} =$ 7.78; P < 0.05], $[F_{(1,12)} = 8.38; P < 0.05]$, or $[F_{(1,10)} = 6.48; P < 0.05]$ respectively, as compared to the E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice. (Figure 18B). However, CNS-penetrant H1R antagonist PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.) failed to reverse the E100 (10 mg)-provided sociability enhancement, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 0.06; p=0.82]$ for SI of E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed animals vs. PYR (10 mg) + E100 (10 mg)-treated group (Figure 18B). Notably, neither DL77 (15 mg) nor E100 (10 mg) or DOZ (1 mg) altered SI of Saline pretreated saline-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 0.09; p=0.77]$, $[F_{(1,12)} =$ 0.12; p=0.73], and $[F_{(1,12)} = 1.23; p=0.29]$, respectively (Figure 18A).





After 10 minutes of acclimatization, male subjects were allowed to explore all chambers for 10 min. The results obtained were Sociability index (SI) (A) Abrogation of DL77 (15 mg)- and E100 (10 mg)-provided effect on SI (B). Saline-exposed mice were injected with saline in SAL group (gray), DL77 (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p. in black), E100 (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p. in green), or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p. in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. Abrogative studies of subchronic (21 days) systemic co-injection of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.), or ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on the DL77 (15 mg) or E100 (10 mg)-provided improvement of sociability, additionally SCO (0. 3 mg/kg, i.p.) on E100 (10 mg)-provided improvement in SI. Saline-exposed mice were injected with saline in group, DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.), E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.). Figures show mean \pm SEM (n = 7). **P*<0.05 vs.SI of saline-treated saline-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. SI of saline-treated vPA-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. SI of DL77 (5 mg)- or E100 (5 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. SI of DL77 (5 mg)- or E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice.

3.9 Effects of DL77 and E100 on social novelty deficits assessed in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in TCT

The effect of subchronic systemic injection of DL77 (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p.), E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) on ASD-like social novelty impairments in the TCT task in VPA-exposed mice are shown in Figure 19A and B. As observed in the post hoc analysis, VPA-exposed mice exhibited significantly lower social novelty expressed in form of SNI value when compared to saline-exposed animals, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 24.64; P < 0.05]$ (Figure 19A). However, DL77 (10 and 15 mg/kg) significantly increased SNI of VPA-exposed mice when compared to Saline treated VPA-exposed group, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 6.36; P < 0.05]$ and $[F_{(1,12)} = 17.43; P < 0.05]$, respectively (Figure 19A). Moreover, the results revealed that the enhancement in SNI observed with DL77 (15 mg/kg) was comparable to that shown with DL77 (10 mg/kg) with $[F_{(1,12)} = 3.61; p=0.08]$ and DOZ (1 mg/kg) with $[F_{(1,12)} = 0.04; p=0.85]$, and was significantly higher than the DL77 (5 mg)-provided effects, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 27.43;$ P < 0.05] (Figure 19A). Interestingly, the DL77 (15 mg)-provided improvement of social novelty was counteracted following subchronic systemic co-administration with centrally acting H3R agonist RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) and the CNS-penetrant H2R antagonist ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.) with $[F_{(1,12)} = 9.09; P < 0.05]$ and $[F_{(1,10)} = 18.71;$ P < 0.05], respectively, and as compared to DL77 (15 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice (Figure 19B). However, CNS-penetrant H1R antagonist PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.) failed to reverse the DL77 (15 mg)-provided social novelty enhancement, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 0.58;$ p=0.46] for SNI of DL77 (15 mg)-treated VPA-exposed animals vs. PYR (10 mg) + DL77 (15 mg)-treated group (Figure 19B). Similarly, improvement in social novelty preference was achieved following subchronic systemic pretreatment of VPA-exposed mice with E100 (10 and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,12)} = 15.93;$ P < 0.05], $[F_{(1,12)} = 15.84; P < 0.05]$, and $[F_{(1,12)} = 14.60; P < 0.05]$, respectively (Figure 19A). As depicted in Figure 19B and observed in the post hoc analyses, the E100 (10 mg)-provided improvement of social novelty assessed by SNI was reversed by systemic co-administration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.), or SCO (0.3 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,12)} = 6.77; P < 0.05]$, $[F_{(1,12)} = 14.75; P < 0.05]$, or $[F_{(1,10)} = 14.75; P < 0.05]$. 25.29; P < 0.05], respectively, and as compared to the E100 (10 mg)-treated animals (Figure 19B). However, PYR failed to counteract the improved social novelty provided with E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) in treated VPA-exposed mice, since SNI remained not significant following subchronic co-administration of PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.) and E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) with $[F_{(1,12)} = 0.39; p=0.55]$ for SNI of E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed animals vs. PYR (10 mg) + E100 (10 mg)-treated group (Figure 19B). Interestingly, the E100 (10 mg)-provided improvement of social novelty assessed by SNI was comparable to the effects provided by DOZ (1 mg/kg) and DL77 (15 mg/kg), with $[F_{(1,12)} = 0.52; p=0.49]$ and $[F_{(1,12)} = 0.04; p=0.85]$, respectively (Figure 19A). Notably, neither DL77 (15 mg) nor E100 (10 mg) or DOZ (1 mg) altered SNI of saline pretreated saline-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,12)} = 0.19; p=0.67]$, $[F_{(1,12)} = 0.60; p=0.46]$, and $[F_{(1,12)} = 0.86; p=0.37]$, respectively (Figure 19A).



Figure 19: Effects of DL77 and E100 on social novelty deficits assessed in VPAexposed C57BL/6J mice in TCT.

After 10 minutes of exploration, male subjects were allowed to explore all chambers for another 10 min. The results obtained were Social novelty index (SNI) (A) Abrogation of DL77 (15 mg)- and E100 (10 mg)-provided effect on SNI (B). Saline-exposed mice were injected with saline in SAL group (gray), DL77 (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p. in black), E100 (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p. in green), or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p. in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. Abrogative studies of subchronic (21 days) systemic co-injection of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.), or ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on the DL77 (15 mg) or E100 (10 mg)-provided improvement of social novelty, additionally SCO (0.3 mg/kg, i.p.) on E100 (10 mg)-provided improvement in SNI. Saline-exposed mice were injected with saline in group, DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.), E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.). Figures show mean \pm SEM (n = 7). **P*<0.05 vs. SNI of saline-treated saline-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. SNI of saline-treated vPA-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. SNI of DL77 (5 mg)- or E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice.

3.10 Effects of DL77 and E100 on elevated stereotyped repetitive behavior in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in MBT

The effect of subchronic systemic administration with DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) on the elevated repetitive behavior of VPA-exposed mice in MBT is shown in Figure 20A and B. The results of statistical analyses showed that VPA-exposed mice buried significantly more marbles compared to the saline-exposed animals, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 18.62; P < 0.05]$. However, DL77 (10 or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly obliterated the increased percentage of marbles buried by VPA-exposed mice pretreated when compared to saline-treated VPA-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,9)} = 10.56;$ P < 0.05], $[F_{(1,10)} = 14.30; P < 0.05]$, and $[F_{(1,8)} = 8.32; P < 0.05]$, respectively (Figure 20A). Noticeably, subchronic systemic administration of DL77 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) failed to significantly modify the percentage of buried marbles in VPA-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 2.60; p=0.14]$ (Figure 20A). Moreover, the DL77 (15 mg)-provided decrease in the percentage of buried marbles was entirely abrogated by RAM and ZOL, with $[F_{(1,11)} = 10.18; P < 0.05]$ and $[F_{(1,12)} = 4.80; P < 0.05]$, respectively, and as compared with DL77 (15 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice (Figure 20B). However, PYR failed to counteract this DL77 (15 mg)-provided decrease in the percentage of buried marbles, as PYR had no significant effect compared to VPA-exposed mice treated with DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,11)} = 0.14; p = 0.71]$ (Figure 20B). Similarly, the effect of subchronic systemic administration with E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) on the elevated repetitive behavior of VPA-exposed mice in MBT is shown in Figure 20A. The results of statistical analyses showed that E100 (10 or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly obliterated the increased percentage of marbles buried by VPA-exposed mice pretreated when compared to saline-treated VPA-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 17.32; P < 0.05]$ and $[F_{(1,8)} = 17.32; P < 0.05]$

= 22.35; P < 0.05], respectively (Figure 20A). Noticeably, subchronic systemic administration of E100 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) failed to significantly modify the percentage of buried marbles in VPA-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 0.52; p=0.49]$ (Figure 20A). Moreover, the E100 (10 mg)-provided decrease in the percentage of buried marbles was entirely abrogated by RAM, ZOL, and SCO, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 17.71; P < 0.05], [F_{(1,8)} = 17.71; P < 0.05]$ = 5.98; P < 0.05], and $[F_{(1,8)} = 5.92; P < 0.05]$, respectively, and as compared with E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice (Figure 20B). However, PYR failed to counteract this E100 (10 mg)-provided decrease in the percentage of buried marbles, as PYR had no significant effect compared to VPA-exposed mice treated with E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,8)} = 0.09; p = 0.77]$ (Figure 20B). Interestingly, the E100 (10 mg)provided mitigation of repetitive behavior assessed by percentage of buried marbles was comparable to the effects provided by DOZ (1 mg/kg) and DL77 (15 mg/kg), with $[F_{(1,10)} = 0.10; p=0.75]$ and $[F_{(1,8)} = 3.95; p=0.08]$, respectively (Figure 20A). Notably, neither DL77 (15 mg) nor E100 (10 mg) or DOZ (1 mg) altered percentage of buried marbles of Saline pretreated saline-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 0.30; p=0.60], [F_{(1,8)} = 0.30; p=0.60]$ 0.11; p=0.75], and $[F_{(1,8)} = 0.02; p=0.89]$, respectively (Figure 20A).



Figure 20: Effects of DL77 and E100 on elevated stereotyped repetitive behavior in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in MBT.

(A) Repetitive marble-burying behavior was measured after a 30-minute testing session. VPA-exposed mice (red) demonstrated elevated stereotyped, repetitive behaviors that were significantly increased compared to saline-exposed mice (gray). DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p., in black), E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p., in green), or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p. in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. (B) Effects of subchronic (21 days) systemic co-administration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.), or ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on the DL77 (15 mg)- or E100 (10mg)-provided attenuation of stereotyped repetitive behavior and additionally SCO (0.3 mg/kg, i.p.) on E100 (10 mg)-provided improvement of VPA-exposed mice in MBT. Saline-exposed mice were injected with saline, DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.), E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.), or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.). Figures show mean \pm SEM (n = 7). **P* < 0.05 vs. saline-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. DL77 (15 mg)- or E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice.

3.11 Effects of DL77 and E100 on elevated repetitive and compulsive-like behaviors in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in NST

The effect of subchronic systemic administration with DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) on the percentage escalation of shredded nestlet was evaluated in NST (Figure 21A and B). Post hoc analyses showed that VPA-exposed mice shredded significantly more nestlet compared to the saline-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 20.31; P < 0.05]$. However, VPAexposed mice pretreated with DL77 (10 or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) exhibited a significantly lower percentage of shredded nestlet compared to VPAexposed mice treated with saline, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 5.65; P < 0.05], [F_{(1,8)} = 17.75; P < 0.05],$ and $[F_{(1,8)} = 19.42; P < 0.05]$, respectively (Figure 21A). Moreover, subchronic systemic administration of DL77 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) failed to significantly modify the percentage of shredded nestlet in VPA-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 0.06; p=0.82]$ (Figure 21A). Notably, there was a significant difference in the DL77-provided effect on percentage of shredded nestlet detected between the two doses of 10 mg/kg and 15 mg/kg, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 13.72; P < 0.05]$ (Figure 21A). As shown in Figure 21B and observed in the post hoc analyses, the DL77 (15 mg)-provided decrease in the percentage of shredded nestlet was countered following subchronic systemic coadministration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) and ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,8)} = 18.45;$ P < 0.05] and $[F_{(1,8)} = 6.08; P < 0.05]$, respectively, and compared with DL77 (15 mg)treated VPA-exposed mice (Figure 21B). However, PYR failed to reverse this DL77provided decrease in the percentage of shredded nestlet, as it had no significant effect compared to VPA-exposed mice treated with DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,8)} = 0.02;$ p=0.90] (Figure 21B). Similarly, the effect of subchronic systemic administration of E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) on the percentage escalation of shredded nestlet was

evaluated in NSB (Figure 21B). Post hoc analyses showed that VPA-exposed mice pretreated with E100 (5 mg, 10 mg or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) exhibited a significantly lower percentage of shredded nestlet compared to VPA-exposed mice treated with saline, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 20.92; P < 0.05]$, $[F_{(1,8)} = 33.26; P < 0.05]$, and $[F_{(1,8)} = 38.78; P < 0.05]$, respectively (Figure 21A). Moreover, the effects observed with 10 or 15 mg/kg were significantly higher than that witnessed with 5 mg/kg, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 6.62; P < 0.05]$ and $[F_{(1,8)} = 9.60; P < 0.05]$, respectively. Notably, no significant difference in the E100provided effect on percentage of shredded nestlet was detected between the two doses of 10 mg/kg and 15 mg/kg, with p=0.93 (Figure 21A). As shown in Figure 21B and observed in the post hoc analyses, the E100 (10 mg)-provided decrease in the percentage of shredded nestlet was countered following subchronic systemic coadministration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,8)} = 11.45; P < 0.05]$ compared with E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice (Figure 21B). However, PYR, ZOL and SCO failed to reverse this E100-provided decrease in the percentage of shredded nestlet, as they had no significant effect compared to VPA-exposed mice treated with E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,8)} = 0.003; p=0.96]$, $[F_{(1,8)} = 0.74; p=0.41]$, and $[F_{(1,8)} = 0.96]$ = 0.11; p=0.75], respectively (Figure 21B). Interestingly, the E100 (10 mg)-provided mitigation of repetitive behavior assessed by percentage of shredded nestlet was comparable to the effects provided by DOZ (1 mg/kg) and DL77 (15 mg/kg), with $[F_{(1,8)} = 0.003; p=0.96]$ and $[F_{(1,8)} = 0.009; p=0.93]$, respectively (Figure 21A). Notably, neither DL77 (15 mg) nor E100 (10 mg) or DOZ (1 mg) altered percentage of shredded nestlet of saline-treated saline-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 0.22; p=0.65]$, $[F_{(1,8)} = 1.14; p=0.99]$, and $[F_{(1,8)} = 0.30; p=0.60]$, respectively (Figure 21A).





(A) Repetitive shredding behavior was measured after a 30-minute testing session. VPA-exposed mice (red) demonstrated elevated stereotyped, repetitive behaviors that were significantly increased compared to saline-exposed mice (gray). DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p., in black), E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p., in olive), or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p. in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. (B) Effects of subchronic (21 days) systemic co-administration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.), or ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on the DL77 (15 mg)- or E100 (10 mg)-provided attenuation of stereotyped repetitive behavior and additionally SCO (0.3 mg/kg, i.p.) on E100 (10 mg)-provided improvement of VPA-exposed mice in NST. Saline-exposed mice were injected with saline, DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.), E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.), or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.). Figures show mean \pm SEM (n = 7). **P* < 0.05 vs. saline-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. DL77 (5 mg)- or E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice.

3.12 Effects of DL77 and E100 pretreatment on anxiety responses and locomotor activity in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in EPM test

Figure 22A-C shows the observed effects of subchronic systemic injection of DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) on the anxiety parameters of VPA-exposed mice tested in the EPM, namely, the percentage of time spent in open arms (Figure 22A), the number of entries into open arms (Figure 22B), and locomotor activity expressed as the number of entries into closed arms (Figure 22C). The results observed showed that VPA-exposed mice spent significantly less time as well as lower number of entries in open arms when compared to saline-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 20.56; P < 0.05]$ and $[F_{(1,10)} = 19.84; P < 0.05]$, respectively (Figure 22A and B). However, subsequent post hoc analyses revealed that DL77 when administered at 15 mg/kg, i.p. significantly altered the percentage of time spent exploring the open arms of the maze during a 5 min session compared to salinetreated VPA-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 5.37; P < 0.05]$ (Figure 22A). Moreover, DL77 when administered at three different doses (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) failed to significantly increase the number of entries the open arms of the maze during a 5 min session compared to saline-treated VPA-exposed mice, with p = 0.25, p = 0.99, and p = 0.77, respectively (Figure 22B). Interestingly, VPA-exposed mice pretreated with DOZ (1 mg) spent a significantly higher percentage of time exploring the open arms compared to saline-treated VPA-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 12.99; P < 0.05]$ (Figure 22A). Further analyses of data describing the number of entries into the open arms of the maze yielded for DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) practically the same results, with $[F_{(1,10)} =$ 9.97; P<0.05] (Figure 22B). Notably, the number of closed arm entries following subchronic systemic injection of DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) was not significantly different, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 2.14; p=0.17]$, $[F_{(1,10)} = 2.84; p=0.12]$,

 $[F_{(1,10)} = 2.08; p=0.18]$, and $[F_{(1,10)} = 4.40; p=0.06]$, receptively (Figure 22C). Similarly, the effects of subchronic systemic injection of E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) on the anxiety parameters of VPA-exposed mice in the EPM, namely, the percentage of time spent in open arms (Figure 22A), the number of entries into open arms (Figure 22B), and locomotor activity expressed as the number of entries into closed arms were evaluated (Figure 22C). The results observed revealed that E100 when administered at 10 or 15 mg/kg, i.p. significantly altered the percentage of time spent exploring the open arms of the maze during a 5 min session compared to salinetreated VPA-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 21.54; P < 0.05]$ and $[F_{(1,10)} = 12.64; P < 0.05]$, respectively (Figure 22A). Moreover, post hoc evaluation revealed that, compared with saline-exposed mice, the VPA-exposed mice displayed similar closed arm entries, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 3.76; p=0.08]$ (Figure 22C). However, E100 when administered at 10 or 15 mg/kg, i.p. significantly increased the number of entries the open arms of the maze during a 5 min session compared to saline-treated VPA-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,10)} =$ 8.29; P < 0.05] and $[F_{(1,10)} = 13.24; P < 0.05]$, respectively (Figure 22B). Interestingly, VPA-exposed mice pretreated with DOZ (1 mg) spent a significantly higher percentage of time exploring the open arms compared to saline-treated VPA-exposed mice, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 13.74; P < 0.05]$ (Figure 22A). Notably, the number of closed arm entries following subchronic systemic injection of E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg) was not significantly different, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 0.51; p=0.49]$, $[F_{(1,10)} = 2.14; p=0.17]$, and $[F_{(1,10)} = 0.51; p=0.49]$. = 0.47; p=0.51], receptively (Figure 22C). Interestingly, the E100 (10 mg)-provided alteration of time spent in open arms or number of entries into open arms was significantly higher than those provided with DL77 (15 mg/kg), with $[F_{(1,10)} = 6.59]$; P < 0.05] and $[F_{(1,10)} = 6.43; P < 0.05]$, respectively (Figure 22A and B). As shown in

Figure 22D and observed in the post hoc analyses, the DL77 (15 mg)- or E100 (10 mg)-provided increase in the time spent in open arms was abrogated following subchronic systemic co-administration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,10)} = 8.63;$ P < 0.05] and $[F_{(1,8)} = 28.93; P < 0.001]$, respectively, and as compared with DL77 (15) mg)- or E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice (Figure 22D). However, PYR and ZOL failed to abrogate the DL77-provided increase in time spent in open arm, as they had no significant effect compared to VPA-exposed mice treated with DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,10)} = 0.08; p=0.79]$ and $[F_{(1,10)} = 0.40; p=0.54]$, respectively (Figure 22D). However, SCO reversed the E100-provided effects on time spent in open arm and as compared to VPA-exposed mice treated with E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,10)} = 8.16; P < 0.05]$, while ZOL and PYR failed to nullify the E100 (10 mg)provided effect, with $[F_{(1,11)} = 0.32; p=0.59]$ and $[F_{(1,11)} = 0.60; p=0.45]$, respectively (Figure 22D). Statistical analyses of number of entries into open arms yielded practically the same results for E100 (10 mg)-provide effect (Figure 22B) and its abrogation with RAM (Figure 22E). Notably, neither DL77 (15 mg) nor E100 (10 mg) or DOZ (1 mg) altered percentage of time spent in open arms of saline-treated salineexposed mice, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 2.34; p=0.16]$, $[F_{(1,10)} = 0.70; p=0.42]$, and $[F_{(1,10)} = 0.03;$ p=0.87], respectively (Figure 22A). Similarly, neither DL77 (15 mg) nor E100 (10 mg) or DOZ (1 mg) altered number of entries into open arms of Saline pretreated salineexposed mice (all P>0.05) (Figure 22B).



Figure 22: Effects of DL77 and E100 pretreatment on anxiety responses and locomotor activity in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in EPM test.

VPA-exposed mice (red) demonstrated elevated innate anxiety and risk assessment that were significantly increased compared to saline-exposed mice (gray). DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p. in black), E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p., in green), or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p., in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) attenuated the decreased percentage of time spent on the open arms of the EPM (A) the decreased number of entries into the open arms (B) and the increased number of entries into the closed arms (C) in VPA exposed mice. Abrogation of subchronic (21 days) systemic co-administration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.), or ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on the DL77 (15 mg)- or E100 (10 mg)-provided effects and additionally SCO (0.3 mg/kg, i.p.) on E100 (10 mg)-provided modulation on time spent in the open arms (D) and number of entries into the open arms (E). attenuation of anxiety of VPA-exposed mice in EPM. Saline-exposed mice were injected with saline, DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.), E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.), or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) (A-C). Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM (n = 6). **P* < 0.05 vs. saline-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. DL77 (15 mg)- or E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. DL77 (15 mg)- or E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. DL77 (15 mg)- or E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. DL77 (15 mg)- or E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. DL77 (15 mg)- or E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. DL77 (15 mg)- or E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. DL77 (15 mg)- or E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. DL77 (15 mg)- or E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. DL77 (15 mg)- or E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice.



Figure 22: Effects of DL77 and E100 pretreatment on anxiety responses and locomotor activity in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in EPM test (continued).

3.13 Effects of DL77 and E100 pretreatment on exploratory and anxiety-like behaviors in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in OFT

Figure 23 A-D shows the observed effects of subchronic systemic injection of DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) on the anxiety parameters of VPA-exposed mice tested in the OFT. As seen in Figure 23 A-D, there were no significant effects of subchronic systemic exposure of VPA-exposed mice to DL77 (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) on time spent in the central arena, time spent in the periphery and total distance travelled (all *P* values >0.05) (Figure 23A-D). In contrast, analysis of variance demonstrated that VPA-exposed mice pretreated with E100 (10 and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) spent a significantly higher percentage of time in the center of the arena, with [$F_{(1,8)} = 19.95$; P<0.05] and [$F_{(1,8)} = 10.31$; P<0.05], respectively (Figure 23A). As shown in Figure 23B and observed in the post hoc analyses, the E100 (10 mg)-provided increase in the time spent in the center of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), with [$F_{(1,8)} = 28.93$; P<0.05] compared with E100 (10 mg)-

treated VPA-exposed mice (Figure 23B). However, PYR, ZOL, and SCO failed to abrogate this E100-provided increase in time spent in central arena, as they had no significant effect compared to VPA-exposed mice treated with E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.), with [$F_{(1,8)} = 0.054$; p=0.82], [$F_{(1,8)} = 0.18$; p= 0.69], and [$F_{(1,8)} = 0.33$; p=0.86], respectively (Figure 23B). In addition, there were no significant effects of subchronic systemic exposure of VPA-exposed mice to E100 (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) on increased total distance travelled in the test arena neither on increased time spent in the periphery (all *P* values >0.05) (Figure 23C and D). Notably, subchronic treatment of saline-exposed mice with E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) had no significant influence on time spent in the central arena compared to saline-pretreated saline-exposed mice, with [$F_{(1,8)} = 0.01$; p=0.92] (Figure 23A).



Figure 23: Effects of DL77 and E100 pretreatment on exploratory and anxiety-like behaviors in VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice in OFT.

VPA-exposed mice (red) demonstrated general locomotor activity and anxiety-related emotional behaviors that were significantly increased compared to saline-exposed mice (gray). DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p. in black), E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p. in green) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p. in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. E100 (10 and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) increased the decreased time spent in the central arena (A) but failed to modulate the increased time spent in the periphery (C) as well as the increased total distance travelled (D) in VPA-exposed mice in the OFT. Effects of subchronic (21 days) systemic co-injection of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.), ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.), or SCO (0.3 mg/kg, i.p.) on the E100 (10 mg)-provided amelioration of time spent in the center of VPA-exposed mice in OFT (B). Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM (n = 5). $^{\#}P < 0.05$ vs. saline-exposed mice. $^{*}P < 0.05$ vs. saline-treated VPA-exposed mice. $^{$*}P < 0.05$ vs. saline-treated VPA-exposed mice.

3.14 DL77 and E100 restored levels of proinflammatory cytokines in the cerebellum of VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice

The effects of subchronic systemic treatment of DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) on the levels of proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β (Figure 24A), IL-6 (Figure 24C), TNF- α (Figure 24E), and TGF- β (Figure 24G) exacerbated with LPS challenge in cerebellum tissue

of VPA-exposed mice were evaluated. The results observed revealed that systemic prenatal injection of VPA (500 mg/kg, i.p.) induced ASD-like behaviors in VPAexposed mice and significantly increased IL-1β (Figure 24A), IL-6 (Figure 24C), TNF- α (Figure 24E), and TGF- β (Figure 24G) compared to the saline-exposed mice (all P < 0.05). However, subchronic systemic administration of DL77 (10 and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) or DOZ (1 mg/kg) significantly (all P < 0.05) mitigated the rise of these proinflammatory cytokines in VPA-exposed mice (Figures 24A, C, E, and G). Notably, subchronic systemic co-administration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) abrogated (all P<0.05) the protective effects of DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.) against VPA-induced elevation of IL-1 β (Figure 24B), IL-6 (Figure 24D), TNF- α (Figure 24F), and TGF- β (Figure 24H). Similarly, the effects of E100 (5,10 and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) on the levels of proinflammatory cytokines IL-1β (Figure 24A), IL-6 (Figure 24C), TNF-α (Figure 24E), and TGF- β (Figure 24G) in the cerebellum tissue of VPA-exposed mice were evaluated. The results observed revealed that subchronic systemic administration of E100 (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly (all P<0.05) alleviated the rise of these proinflammatory cytokines in VPA-exposed mice. Also, subchronic systemic coadministration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) nullified (all P<0.05) the protective effects of E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) against VPA-induced elevation of IL-1^β (Figure 24B), IL-6 (Figure 24D), TNF- α (Figure 24F), and TGF- β (Figure 24H).





VPA-exposed mice (red) showed a significant increase in IL-1 β (A), IL-6 (C), TNF- α (E), and TGF- β (G) compared to saline-exposed mice (gray). DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p. in black), E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p. in green), or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p. in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. DL77 (10 or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly decreased the elevated levels of these cytokines. RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.), and ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.) were co-administered for abrogative studies of the modulating DL77 (15 mg)-, or E100 (10 mg)-provided effects on cytokines levels (B, D, F, and H). Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM (n = 5). **P*< 0.05 vs. saline-exposed mice. **P*<0.05, *#*P*<0.01 vs. VPA-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. DL77 (15 mg)-, or E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice.



Figure 24: DL77 and E100 restored levels of proinflammatory cytokines in the cerebellum of VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice (continued).

3.15 DL77 and E100 restored levels of oxidative stress markers in the cerebellum of VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice

The ability of subchronic systemic administration with DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), E100 (5, 10, or 25 mg/kg, i.p.), and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) to decrease oxidative stress in VPA-exposed mice was assessed (Figure 25A-H). Four parameters were measured, namely the levels of MDA, GSH, SOD, and CAT in VPA-exposed mouse cerebellum. The results show that MDA was significantly raised (P<0.05) and GSH, SOD, and CAT were significantly reduced (P<0.05) in the brain tissues of VPA-exposed mice compared to saline-exposed mice (Figure 25A, C, E, and G). However,

brain tissues of VPA-exposed mice subchronically pretreated with DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) displayed a significant reduction of MDA as well as significant elevation of GSH, SOD, and CAT (P<0.05) (Figure 25A, C, E, and G). Moreover, subchronic systemic co-administration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) reversed (P<0.05) the protective effects of DL77 (15 mg/kg, i.p.) against the VPA-induced increased level of MDA (Figure 25B), and it also reversed (all P<0.05) the DL77 (15 mg)-provided increase in GSH, SOD, and CAT in VPA-exposed mice (Figure 25D, F and H). Similarly, brain tissues of VPA-exposed mice subchronically pretreated with E100 (, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) displayed a significant reduction of MDA (Figure 25A) as well as significant elevation of GSH (Figure 25C), SOD (Figure 25E), and CAT (Figure 25G) (all P<0.05). Moreover, subchronic systemic co-administration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) partially abrogated (P<0.05) the protective effects of E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) against the VPA-induced increased level of MDA (Figure 25B), and it also reversed for E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) against the VPA-induced increased level of MDA (Figure 25B), and CAT (Figure 25G) (all P<0.05). Moreover, subchronic systemic co-administration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) partially abrogated (P<0.05) the protective effects of E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) against the VPA-induced increased level of MDA (Figure 25B), and it also partially reversed (P<0.05) the E100 (10 mg)-provided increase in GSH, SOD, and CAT in VPA-exposed mice (Figure 25D, F and H).



Figure 25: DL77 and E100 restored levels of oxidative stress markers in the cerebellum of VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice.

VPA-exposed mice (red) showed a significant increase in MDA (A) and decrease in GSH (C), SOD (E), and CAT (G) compared to saline-exposed mice (gray). DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p. in black), E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p. in green), or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p. in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.), or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly modulated the levels of these markers. RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), PYR (10 mg/kg, i.p.), and ZOL (10 mg/kg, i.p.) were co-administered for abrogative studies of the modulating DL77 (15 mg)-, or E100 (10 mg)-provided effects on oxidative stress levels (B, D, F, and H). Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM (n = 5). **P*< 0.05 vs. saline-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. VPA-exposed mice. **P*<0.05 vs. DL77 (15 mg)-, or E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed mice.



Figure 25: DL77 and E100 restored levels of oxidative stress markers in the cerebellum of VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice (continued).

3.16 Effects of E100 on expression of NF-κB p65, iNOS & COX-2 in cerebellum and hippocampus of VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice

The expressions of NF- κ Bp65, iNOS, and COX-2 were also tested using Western blot in tissue lysates that were isolated from cerebellum (Figure 26A) and hippocampus regions (Figure 26B). A significant increase in expression of NF- κ Bp65, iNOS, and COX-2 (Figure 26A) was observed in the cerebellum of VPA-exposed mice when compared to the saline-exposed control group of mice (all *P*<0.05). However, following subchronic systemic pretreatment of VPA-exposed mice with E100 (10 mg/kg), a remarkable reduction in the level of NF- κ Bp65, iNOS, and COX-2 (all *P*<0.05) was observed when compared to the VPA-exposed mice (Figure 26A).

Similarly, hippocampal tissues of VPA-exposed mice also showed a significant increase (P < 0.05) in expression of NF- κ Bp65, iNOS, and COX-2 (Figure 26B) when compared to the saline-exposed mice, however, subchronic systemic pretreatment of VPA-exposed mice with E100 (10 mg/kg) resulted in a remarkable decrease in expression of NF- κ Bp65, iNOS, and COX-2 (all P < 0.05) when compared to the VPA-exposed mice (Figure 26B). Interestingly, subchronic systemic co-administration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) entirely nullified the mitigating effects of E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on expression of NF- κ Bp65 and COX-2 in cerebellum and hippocampus tissues (all P < 0.05), and it also partly counteracted the E100 (10 mg)-provided effects on iNOS in VPA-exposed mice (all P < 0.05) (Figure 26A and B).



Figure 26: Effects of E100 on expression of NF-κB p65, iNOS & COX-2 in cerebellum and hippocampus of VPA-exposed C57BL/6J mice.

NF-κBp65, iNOS and COX-2 are modulated by subchronic treatment with E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) in cerebellum and hippocampus of prenatally VPA treated mice (red). Representative immunoblots of cerebellum tissues of VPA-exposed group subjected to immunoreactions with anti-NF-κB p65, anti-iNOS and anti-COX2 (A). Representative immunoblots of hippocampal tissues of VPA-exposed group subjected to immunoreactions with anti-NF-κB p65, anti-iNOS and anti-COX2 (B). Blots were quantified using Image J and corresponding results were represented as fold change of control. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM (n=3). *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001 vs saline-exposed mice; *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001 vs. E100 (10 mg)-pretreated group VPA exposed mice.

3.17 Effects of E100 on iba-1 positive microglia in cerebellum tissues of VPAexposed C57BL/6J mice

Activation of glial cell (microglia) in VPA-exposed mice has been observed and is considered to be an index of the inflammatory responses (Figure 27A and B). The observed results showed that VPA-exposed mice exhibited a significant increase in the expression of Iba-1, which is a marker of activated microglia (P<0.05) (Figure 27A and B). Immunofluorescence staining revealed a significant increase (P<0.05) in the number of activated microglia in VPA-exposed mice compared to the salineexposed control mice (Figure 27A and B). However, subchronic systemic treatment of VPA-exposed mice with E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly decreased the number of activated microglia compared to the saline-exposed control mice (P< 0.05) (Figure 27C). Moreover, subchronic systemic co-administration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) entirely reversed the effects of E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on the number of activated microglia compared to the E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on the number of activated microglia compared to the E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on the number of activated microglia compared to the E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on the number of activated microglia compared to the E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on the number of activated microglia compared to the E100 (10 mg)-treated VPA-exposed animals (P< 0.05) (Figure 27D).







Profound expression of iba-1-positive microglia was found in the VPA-exposed mice (B) compared to the saline-exposed mice (A). In contrast, subchronic treatment with E100 to the VPA-exposed mice showed significantly lower staining of Iba-1 compared to the VPA-exposed mice (C). Subchronic (21 days) systemic co-injection of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p) counteracted the E100 (10 mg)-provided amelioration of iba-expression of VPA-exposed mice ($^{\$}P < 0.05$) (D). Quantitative analysis of activated microglia (E) revealed a significant increase ($^{\$}P < 0.05$) in the number of activated microglia in cerebellum of VPA-exposed mice compared to the saline-exposed mice. However, subchronic treatment with E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) to the VPA-exposed mice significantly reduced ($^{\#}P < 0.05$) the number of activated microglia in the E100-treated VPA-exposed mice compared to the saline-treated VPAexposed mice group. Values are expressed as the percent mean \pm SEM (n = 3).

3.18 Effects of E100 on sociability and social novelty impairments of BTBR mouse model of ASD

The effect of subchronic systemic injection of E100 at three different doses (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) on ASD-like sociability and social novelty impairments in the TCT task in BTBR mice are shown in Figure 28 A and B. The results of statistical analyses revealed that subchronic pretreatment with E100 (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg) prior to TCT significantly enhanced sociability by increasing SI, with $[F_{(5,24)} = 5.79; P < 0.05]$ (Figure 28A). As observed in the post hoc analysis, BTBR mice exhibited significantly lower sociability expressed in form of SI value when compared to control animals, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 13.66; P < 0.05]$ (Figure 28A). However, E100 (5 and 10 mg/kg) and DOZ (1 mg/kg) significantly increased SI of BTBR mice when compared to saline treated BTBR mice group, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 9.36; P < 0.05], [F_{(1,8)} = 8.74; P < 0.05], and [F_{(1,8)} = 6.21; P < 0.05], respectively$ (Figure 28A). Moreover, the results revealed that the enhancement in SI observed with E100 (5 mg/kg) was comparable to that shown with DOZ (1 mg/kg) and E100 (10 mg/kg), with $[F_{(1,8)} = 0.46; p=0.52]$ and $[F_{(1,8)} = 0.26; p=0.63]$, respectively (Figure 28A). Notably, E100 (15 mg/kg) failed to restore sociability deficits of BTBR mice, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 4.21; p=0.07]$ (Figure 28A). Interestingly, the E100 (5 mg)-provided improvement of sociability was counteracted following subchronic systemic coadministration with centrally acting H3R agonist RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1.8)} =$ 10.90; P<0.05] (Figure 28A). Similarly, the results of post hoc analyses indicated that BTBR mice demonstrated significantly impaired social novelty preference when compared to the control mice, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 6.69; P < 0.05]$ (Figure 28B). However, improvement in social novelty preference was achieved following subchronic systemic pretreatment of BTBR mice with E100 (5 and 10 mg/kg, i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,8)} = 8.65; P<0.05]$, $[F_{(1,8)} = 5.47; P<0.05]$, and $[F_{(1,8)} = 5.37; P<0.05]$, respectively (Figure 28B). E100 (15 mg/kg) failed to restore social novelty deficits of BTBR mice, with $[F_{(1,8)} = 1.83; p=0.21]$ (Figure 28B). As depicted in Figure 28B and observed in the post hoc analyses, the E100 (5 mg)-provided improvement of social novelty assessed by SNI was nullified by RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,8)} = 7.08;$ P<0.05], and as compared to the E100 (5 mg)-treated BTBR mice (Figure 28B). Interestingly, subchronic systemic pretreatment of control mice with the most promising dose of E100 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) did not alter SI or SNI as compared to salinetreated control mice (P>0.05).





After 10 minutes of acclimatization, male subjects were allowed to explore all chambers for two 10 min sessions. The results obtained were Sociability index (SI) (A) and Social novelty index (SNI) (B). C57BL/6J (gray) were injected with saline in Ctrl group, E100 (5,10 or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) were administered subchronically for 21 days. Abrogative study of subchronic (21 days) systemic co-injection of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on the E100 (5 mg)-provided improvement of sociability (A) and social novelty (B). Figures show mean \pm SEM (n = 5). **P*<0.05 *vs*. SI or SNI of saline-treated BTBR mice. **P*<0.05 *vs*. E100 (5 mg)-treated BTBR mice.

3.19 Effects of E100 on acetylcholine esterase activity in cerebellum tissues of BTBR mice

Acetylcholine esterase activity in BTBR mice has been assessed (Figure 29).

The observed results showed that BTBR mice exhibited a significant increase in the

activity of acetylcholine esterase enzyme in cerebellum tissues of BTBR mice as compared to control mice (P<0.05) (Figure 29). However, subchronic systemic treatment of BTBR mice with E100 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly decreased the acetylcholine activity of BTBR mice when compared with the saline-treated BTBR mice (P< 0.01) (Figure 29). Similarly, subchronic systemic pretreatment with the reference drug DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly decreased the acetylcholine activity of BTBR mice when compared with the saline-treated BTBR mice (P< 0.01) (Figure 29).



Figure 29: Effects of E100 on acetylcholine esterase activity in cerebellum tissues of BTBR mice.

Inhibitory effects of E100 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) on acetylcholine esterase enzyme in the cerebellum of BTBR mice. Quantitative analysis revealed a significant increase (**P<0.01) in the acetylcholine esterase enzyme activity in cerebellum of BTBR mice compared to the control mice. However, subchronic treatment with E100 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) to the BTBR mice significantly reduced (##P<0.01) this activity compared to the saline-treated BTBR mice. Values are expressed as the percent mean ± SEM (n = 3-5).

3.20 Effects E100 on stereotyped repetitive and obsessive-compulsive behaviors of BTBR mouse model of ASD in MBT and NST

The effect of subchronic systemic administration with E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) on the elevated repetitive behavior of BTBR mice in MBT is shown in Figure 30A. The results of statistical analyses showed that subchronic pretreatment with 5, 10 or 15 mg/kg of E100 or 1 mg/kg DOZ prior to MBT significantly reduced the elevated percentage of marbles buried by BTBR mice, with $[F_{(5,30)} = 14.22; P < 0.05]$ (Figure 30A). BTBR mice buried significantly more marbles compared to the control mice, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 34.37; P < 0.05]$. However, pretreatment with E100 (5, 10 or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly obliterated the increased percentage of marbles buried by BTBR mice when compared to saline-treated BTBR mice, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 29.41; P < 0.05], [F_{(1,10)} = 19.61; P < 0.05],$ $[F_{(1,10)} = 13.24; P < 0.05]$, and $[F_{(1,10)} = 22.85; P < 0.05]$, respectively (Figure 30A). Moreover, the E100 (5 mg)-provided decrease in the percentage of buried marbles was comparable to the DOZ-provided effect, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 0.12; p=0.73]$, and was entirely abrogated by RAM, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 2.08; p=0.18]$ and as compared with slaine-treated BTBR mice (Figure 30A). Notably, subchronic systemic pretreatment of control mice with the most promising dose of E100 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) did not alter percentage of buried marbles in MBT as compared to saline-treated control mice (P>0.05). Similarly, the effect of subchronic systemic administration of E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) on the percentage escalation of shredded nestlet was evaluated in NST (Figure 30B). Post hoc analyses showed that BTBR mice shredded significantly more nestlet compared to the control mice, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 27.94; P < 0.05]$. However, BTBR mice pretreated with E100 (5 or 10 mg/kg, i.p.) exhibited a significantly lower percentage of shredded nestlet compared to BTBR mice treated with saline, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 12.72; P<0.05]$ and $[F_{(1,10)} = 6.63; P<0.05]$, respectively (Figure 30B). Moreover, the effect observed with 5 mg/kg was comparable to that witnessed with 10 mg/kg, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 0.54; p = 0.48]$, and was significantly higher than that witnessed with 15 mg/kg, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 6.11; P<0.05]$ (Figure 30B). Notably, no significant difference in the E100-provided effect on percentage of shredded nestlet was detected between the two doses of 10 mg/kg and 15 mg/kg, with p=0.17 (Figure 30B). Moreover, subchronic systemic administration of DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly lowered the percentage of shredded nestlet in BTBR mice, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 7.79; P<0.05]$. As shown in Figure 30B and observed in the post hoc analyses, the E100 (5 mg)-provided decrease in the percentage of shredded nestlet was countered following subchronic systemic co-administration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,10)} = 6.05; P<0.05]$ and as compared with E100 (5 mg)-treated BTBR mice (Figure 30B). Notably, subchronic systemic pretreatment of control mice with the most promising dose of E100 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) did not alter percentage of shredded nestlets in NST as compared to saline-treated control mice (P>0.05).


Figure 30: E100 mitigated stereotyped repetitive behavior in MBT and attenuated increased obsessive-compulsive features in NST.

Repetitive marble-burying (A) and obsessive compulsive nestlet shredding (B) behavior were measured after a 30-minute testing session. BTBR mice (red) demonstrated elevated stereotyped, repetitive and compulsive behaviors that were significantly increased compared to Ctrl mice (gray). E100 (at a dose of 5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p in green) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p. in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. Effects of subchronic (21 days) systemic co-injection of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on the E100 (5 mg)-provided attenuation of stereotyped repetitive and compulsive behaviors of BTBR mice were assessed in MBT (A) and NST (B). Figures show mean \pm SEM (n = 6). **P*<0.05 vs. saline-treated Ctrl mice. **P*<0.05 vs. saline-treated BTBR mice. **P*<0.05 vs. E100 (10 or 15 mg)-treated BTBR mice.

3.21 Effects of E100 on anxiety levels and locomotor activity of BTBR model of ASD in EPM

Figure 31A-C shows the observed effects of subchronic systemic injection of saline or E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) on the anxiety parameters of BTBR mice tested in the EPM, namely, the percentage of time spent in open arms (Figure 31A), the number of entries into open arms (Figure 31B), and locomotor activity expressed as the number of entries into closed arms (Figure 31C). The results observed showed that BTBR mice spent significantly less time and lower number of entries in open arms when compared to control mice, with [$F_{(1,10)} = 36.82$; P<0.05] and [$F_{(1,10)} = 8.83$; P<0.05], respectively (Figure 31A and B). However, subsequent post hoc analyses revealed that E100 when administered at 5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p. significantly altered

the percentage of time spent exploring the open arms of the maze during a 5 min session compared to saline-treated BTBR mice, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 23.99; P < 0.05], [F_{(1,10)} = 23.99; P < 0.05]$ = 5.33; P<0.05], and [F_(1.10) = 17.91; P<0.05], respectively (Figure 31A). Moreover, post hoc evaluation revealed that, compared with control mice, the BTBR mice displayed a lower number of entries into the open arms, with $[F_{(1.10)} = 8.83; P < 0.05]$ (Figure 31B). However, E100 when administered at 5, 10 or 15 mg/kg, i.p. significantly increased the number of entries the open arms of the maze during a 5 min session compared to saline-treated BTBR mice, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 13.24; P < 0.05], [F_{(1,10)} = 13.24; P < 0.05]$ = 12.31; P < 0.05], and $[F_{(1,10)} = 18.85; P < 0.05]$, respectively (Figure 31B). Interestingly, BTBR mice pretreated with DOZ (1 mg) spent a significantly lower percentage of time exploring the open arms compared to saline-treated BTBR mice, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 14.28; P < 0.05]$ (Figure 31A). Further analyses of data describing the number of entries into the open arms of the maze yielded for DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) higher number of entries into open arms when compared to saline-treated BTBR mice, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 8.42; P < 0.05]$ (Figure 31B). As shown in Figure 31A and B, the E100 (5 mg)-provided improvement in anxiety levels was abrogated by RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) with $[F_{(1,10)} = 10.74; P < 0.05]$ and $[F_{(1,10)} = 6.17; P < 0.05]$, for time spent in open arms and number of open arm entries, respectively, and as compared to E100 (5 mg)treated BTBR mice. Notably, the number of closed arm entries following subchronic systemic injection of E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) was not significantly different as compared to saline treated BTBR mice, with $[F_{(1,10)} = 1.90;$ p=0.20], $[F_{(1,10)} = 0.34; p=0.57]$, $[F_{(1,10)} = 2.46; p=0.15]$, and $[F_{(1,10)} = 2.73; p=0.13]$, receptively (Figure 31C). Interestingly, subchronic systemic pretreatment of control mice with the most promising dose of E100 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) did not alter any of the tested parameters in EPM and as compared to saline-treated control mice (all P>0.05).



Figure 31: Effects of E100 and DOZ pretreatment on anxiety levels and locomotor activity in BTBR mice in EPM test.

BTBR mice (red) demonstrated elevated anxiety-related behavior and hyperactivity that were significantly increased compared to Ctrl mice (gray). E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p. in green) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p., in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) attenuated the decreased percentage of time spent on the open arms of the EPM (A) the decreased number of entries into the open arms (B) and the increased number of entries into the closed arms (C) in BTBR mice. Effects of subchronic (21 days) systemic co-injection of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on the E100 (5 mg)-provided elevation of time spent in open arms (A) or number of entries into open arms (B) of BTBR mice were assessed in EPM test. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM (n = 6). **P* < 0.05 vs. Saline treated Ctrl mice. **P* < 0.05 vs. Saline treated BTBR mice.

3.22 Effects of E100 on anxiety levels and locomotor activity of BTBR model of ASD in OFT

In addition to EPM, the OFT was used to test anxiety-like behavior and locomotion. As seen in Figure 32A-C, there were no significant effects of subchronic systemic exposure of BTBR mice to E100 (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) on time spent in the periphery (all P>0.05) (Figure 32B). In contrast, analysis of variance demonstrated that BTBR mice pretreated with E100 (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) spent a significantly lower percentage of time in the center of the arena, with $[F_{(1,6)} = 6.96; P < 0.05], [F_{(1,6)} = 0.96; P < 0.05]$ = 15.25; P < 0.05], and $[F_{(1,6)} = 14.56; P < 0.05]$, respectively (Figure 32A). As shown in Figure 32A and observed in the post hoc analyses, the E100 (5 mg)-provided decrease in the time spent in the center of arena was abrogated following subchronic systemic co-administration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.), with $[F_{(1,6)} = 6.42; P < 0.05]$ compared with E100 (5 mg)-treated BTBR mice (Figure 32A). Moreover, BTBR mice pretreated with E100 (5, 10, and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) demonstrated significantly lower travelled distance when compared to saline-treated BTBR mice, with $[F_{(1,6)} = 10.60; P < 0.05], [F_{(1,6)} = 10.57; P < 0.05], [F_{(1,6)} = 8.84; P < 0.05], and [F_{(1,6)} = 0.05], [F_$ = 7.76; P<0.05], respectively (Figure 32C). Notably, subchronic treatment of control mice with E100 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) had no significant influence on time spent in the central arena, time spent in the periphery, or total distance travelled as compared to salinepretreated control mice (all P>0.05) (Figure 32A-C).



Figure 32: Effects of E100 and DOZ pretreatment on anxiety levels and locomotor activity in BTBR mice in OFT.

BTBR mice (red) demonstrated elevated impulsive attitude and deficits in cognition as well as locomotor activity behaviors that were significantly increased compared to Ctrl mice (gray). E100 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p. in green) or DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p. in blue) was administered subchronically for 21 days. E100 (5 and 15 mg/kg, i.p.) and DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) attenuated the increased time spent in the central arena (A) as well as the increased total distance travelled (C) but failed to modulate the time spent in the periphery (B) in BTBR mice in the OFT. Effects of subchronic (21 days) systemic co-injection of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on the E100 (5 mg)-provided amelioration of time spent in the center and increased distance travelled (C) of BTBR mice in OFT. Data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM (n = 4). **P*<0.05 vs. Saline treated Ctrl mice. #*P*<0.05 vs. Saline treated BTBR mice.

3.23 Effects of E100 on activated microglia in cerebellum tissues of BTBR mice

Activation of glial cell (microglia) in BTBR mice has been observed (Figure

33). The observed results showed that BTBR mice exhibited a significant increase in

the expression of iba-1, which is a marker of activated microglia (P < 0.05) (Figure 33).

However, subchronic systemic treatment of BTBR mice with E100 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly decreased the number of activated microglia compared to the saline-treated BTBR mice (P<0.05) (Figure 33). Moreover, subchronic systemic co-administration of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) entirely reversed the effects of E100 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) on the number of activated microglia compared to the E100 (5 mg)-treated BTBR animals (P<0.05) (Figure 33).



Figure 33: Effects of E100 on iba-1 positive microglia in cerebellum tissues of BTBR mice.

Quantitative analysis of activated microglia revealed a significant increase (*P<0.05) in the number of activated microglia in cerebellum of BTBR mice compared to control mice. However, subchronic treatment with E100 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) to the BTBR mice significantly reduced (#P<0.05) the number of activated microglia compared to the saline-treated BTBR mice. Effects of subchronic (21 days) systemic co-injection of RAM (10 mg/kg, i.p.) on the E100 (5 mg)-provided mitigation of activated microglia in BTBR mice P<0.05. Values are expressed as the percent mean ± SEM (n = 3).

Chapter 4: Discussion

Antagonists targeting H3Rs are considered promising alternative treatments for different brain disorders, such as SCH, AD and narcolepsy (Passani et al., 2011; Sadek et al., 2016c). In the current study we investigated, for the first time, the effects of the H3R antagonist DL77 on a mouse model of ASD-like behaviors induced by prenatal exposure to VPA. DL77 was chosen for the current study because it belongs to the class of non-imidazole H3R antagonists with improved selectivity and safety profile compared to the imidazole-based H3R antagonists, e.g., ciproxifan, which have several limitations as clinical candidates due to the presence of an imidazole heterocycle, which is responsible for numerous possible pharmacokinetic drawbacks, such as CYP450 inhibition, off-target activity, or lack of subtype selectivity, especially over H4R (Passani et al., 2011).

Subchronic systemic administration of DL77 demonstrated ameliorating effects on social interaction deficits and stereotypies in VPA-exposed mice. In the TCT paradigm, sociability or social novelty is the tendency to spend time exploring an unfamiliar animal, compared to time spent exploring an object or a familiar animal, respectively. Systemic subchronic pretreatment with DL77 normalized the impairment in sociability demonstrated by VPA-exposed mice, since these animals, when pretreated with DL77, presented increased sociability index (improved sociability, Figure 11A) and social novelty index (improved social novelty, Figure 12A), to levels similar to the saline-exposed mice. Numerous previous studies have focused on the procognitive effects of several H3R antagonists on social memory (Alachkar, Lazewska, Kiec-Kononowicz et al., 2017; Fox, Esbenshade, Pan et al., 2002; Fox, Pan, Esbenshade, Bennani et al., 2002; Fox, Pan, Esbenshade, Bitner et al., 2002; Fox, Pan,

Lewis et al., 2004; Fox, Pan, Radek et al., 2003; Sadek et al., 2016d), a behavioral feature that is also altered in ASD (Noland, Steven Reznick, Stone et al., 2010), but our study is the first one to assess the effects on of a non-imidazole based H3R antagonist on sociability deficits as ASD-like behaviors in VPA-exposed mice. Importantly, the sociability- and social novelty-enhancing effect observed for DL77 was dose-dependent, since DL77 (5 mg/kg) failed to improve sociability (Figure 11A) or social novelty preference (Figure 12A), while a dose of 10 mg/kg or 15 mg/kg provided significant enhancement in sociability as well as social novelty behavior. An optimum effect was observed when the H3R antagonist DL77 was applied at a dose of 10 mg/kg, and a dose of 15 mg/kg DL77 did not significantly improve upon the DL77 (10 mg)-provided sociability or social novelty enhancement (Figures 11A and 12A). Interestingly, the observations for the dose-dependent effects of DL77 are in line with those previously observed for numerous H3R antagonists in preclinical experiments in different rodents (Benetti and Izquierdo, 2013; Benetti et al., 2013; Sadek et al., 2016c). In addition, the observed results with regard to dose dependency strongly support previous procognitive effects observed for the H3R antagonist DL77 (2.5, 5, or 10 mg/kg, i.p.) on different memory stages, namely, acquisition, consolidation, and retrieval in rats (Sadek et al., 2016c). Notably, the observations of sociability- and social novelty-enhancing effects for DL77 are in agreement with earlier experimental results observed with the imidazole-based H3R antagonist ciproxifan in Swiss mice (Baronio et al., 2015). In that study, ciproxifan (3 mg/kg, i.p.) attenuated sociability deficits in the VPA-induced ASD-like behaviors (Baronio et. al 2015).

Interestingly, the DL77 (10 mg)-provided enhancing effects on sociability and social novelty were completely reversed when mice were co-administered the CNS-

penetrant H3R agonist RAM or with the CNS-penetrant H2R antagonist ZOL, but not with the centrally acting H1R antagonist PYR (Figures 11B and 12B). The latter observations indicate that brain histaminergic neurotransmission appears to be involved in the capacity of the H3R antagonist DL77 to facilitate the release brain histamine in specific brain areas (Brioni, Esbenshade, Garrison et al., 2011; Panula et al., 2015; Sadek et al., 2016c; Sadek & Stark, 2016e). The current results further indicate that histaminergic pathways, through activation of H2Rs, fundamentally contribute to neuronal pathways important for alteration of sociability and social novelty processes in the TCT paradigm in VPA-exposed mice. Notably, the reference drug DOZ failed to improve both social impairment parameters of VPA exposed mice following subchronic systemic treatment (Figure 11A and 12A). These observations could be explained by the results of a previous study in which the integrity of the central histaminergic system was found to be a crucial requirement for the biochemical and behavioral effects elicited by two procognitive compounds, namely, the H3R antagonist ABT-239 and the acetylcholine esterase inhibitor DOZ (Provensi, Costa, Passani et al., 2016). Consequently, further investigations are necessary to assess the functionality of the central histaminergic system in VPA-exposed mice to further explain the behavioral results observed for DOZ in sociability as well as social novelty tests.

Stereotypy and rigidity of behavior are considered core features of ASD (Peter, Oliphant, & Fernandez, 2017; Zhao, Jiang, & Zhang, 2018). Moreover, the involvement of the brain histaminergic neurotransmission in the pathophysiology of Tourette syndrome, a condition commonly comorbid among ASD patients and featured by stereotypies, has been proposed and has been associated with a premature termination codon (W317X) in the L-histidine decarboxylase (HDC) gene. Consequently, such a premature termination of codon (W317X) impairs brain histaminergic neurotransmission (Frick et al., 2016; Paschou et al., 2013; Rapanelli, 2017a; Rapanelli, Frick, Horn et al., 2016a; Rapanelli & Pittenger, 2016b). In the current study, VPA-exposed mice subchronically pretreated with DL77 (10 or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) or with the reference drug DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) displayed comparable reductions in stereotyped repetitive behavior in MBT (Figure 13A). Moreover, the DL77 (10 mg/kg)-provided effects in MBT were entirely abrogated when mice were administered the CNS penetrant H3R agonist RAM, but not with the CNS-penetrant H1R antagonist PYR or the H2R antagonists ZOL (Figure 13B). The mechanism by which the repetitive behavior is improved is not clear, but it might be explained by the capability of DL77, as a potent H3R antagonist, to mediate the release of different neurotransmitters besides histamine, such as dopamine, serotonin and acetylcholine, in several specific brain areas (Brioni et al., 2011; Sadek et al., 2016c; Sadek & Stark, 2016e; Witkin et al., 2004). Therefore, measuring the levels of different brain neurotransmitters, including histamine, in various brain areas of the VPA-exposed mice with ASD-like behaviors as well as when treated with DL77 would further help us understand which neural circuits could be involved in this observed behavioral improvement. Interestingly, the results observed for DL77 in MBT are in agreement with a previous study in which acute systemic administration of the non-imidazole H3R antagonist ST-1283 significantly decreased the number of buried marbles and significantly shortened the digging duration in adult male C57BL/6 mice, without altering locomotor activity tested in an open field (A. Bahi, J. S. Schwed, et al., 2014). Similarly, DL77 (10 or 15 mg/kg) attenuated the percentage of shredded nestlet in VPA-exposed mice with ASD-like behaviors in NST, and this reducing effect of DL77 on stereotyped repetitive behavior in NST was reversed with co-administration of the H3R agonist RAM, but not the H1R antagonist PYR or the H2R antagonist ZOL (Figure 14A and B). The results observed for DL77 in NST are consistent withthe current observations in MBT because DL77 facilitates the release of numerous central neurotransmitters besides histamine that are involved in repetitive as well as anxious behaviors in different rodents (Brioni et al., 2011; Sadek et al., 2016c; Sadek & Stark, 2016e; Witkin et al., 2004).

Ligands modulating anxiety levels or locomotion may give rise to a falsepositive effect in these behavioral tests (A. Bahi, J. S. Schwed, et al., 2014; Borsini & Meli, 1988). Therefore, the numbers of entries into the closed arms and into open arms in the EPM test were used as indicators of locomotor activity and anxiety levels, respectively. The results showed that DL77 at a dose of 5, 10 or 15 mg/kg did not alter anxiety-like levels nor locomotor activity in VPA-exposed mice as measured by the percentage of time spent or the number of entries into open arms and closed arms, respectively (Figure 15A-C). Thus, the improvements in sociability, social novelty and repetitive behaviors observed for DL77 in TCT, MBT and NST, respectively, appear unlikely to be associated with a modulating effect on anxiety levels or an increase in locomotor activity of the tested mice. In contrast, the reference drug DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) attenuated the percentage of time spent and the number of entries into open arms, indicating its enhancing effects on cognitive functions of VPA-exposed mice to assess risk and evaluate anxiety, as reflected in the decreased number of entries into open arms following subchronic systemic pretreatment VPA-exposed mice with DOZ (Figure 15A-C). Moreover, the failure of DL77 at all doses to improve this abnormal anxiety and hyperactivity seen in VPA-exposed mice may have been due to the imbalance of several neurotransmitters that are reported to be dysregulated in ASD patients, such as serotonin (Chugani, 2002; Mabunga, Gonzales, Kim et al., 2015), glutamate and GABA (Casanova, Buxhoeveden, & Gomez, 2003; Mabunga et al., 2015; Orekhova, Stroganova, Prokofyev et al., 2008; Rubenstein & Merzenich, 2003).

Several hypotheses have been proposed about the dual role of brain histamine in neurological disorders, and evidence has shown its critical involvement in the modulation of microglia-mediated neuroinflammation (Barata-Antunes, Cristovao, Pires et al., 2017b). To determine a possible function of DL77 in tissue defense, oxidative stress parameters, MDA and GSH were assessed in the cerebellum (Figure 16A and B). The existence of lipid peroxidation is considered a key pathogenic event in brain tissues, resulting from an unbalanced ratio of radical oxygen species generation and the capacity for endogenous cellular antioxidant defense (Javed, Azimullah, Haque et al., 2016). The results showed that VPA-exposed mice with ASDlike behaviors had a significant increase in MDA, with a concomitant decline in GSH in cerebellar tissue. GSH is considered to protect against lipid peroxidation, and it is depleted in oxidative stress (Thomas, Maiorino, Ursini et al., 1990), as demonstrated in the observed results (Figure 16A and B). The results of the current study are in accordance with recent findings that histamine may provide protective effects under an inflammatory context (Barata-Antunes et al., 2017b). Subchronic systemic pretreatment with DL77 (10 or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) inhibited lipid peroxidation, as evidenced by the reduced MDA followed by restoration of GSH (Figure 16A and B). Interestingly, the imidazole-based H3R antagonists, namely, ciproxifan and clobenpropit, control the elevation of various oxidative stress markers, including MDA and GSH, in amphetamine- or dizocilpine-augmented oxidative stress in an experimental mice model of SCH, indicating that H3R antagonists possess antioxidant activity, which might provide antioxidant actions and at the same time control the symptomatic features of SCH (Mahmood, Khanam, Pillai et al., 2012a; Mahmood et al., 2012b). These results in an SCH experimental model strongly support the current observations regarding DL77 in VPA-exposed mice with ASD-like behaviors, since SCH and ASD are often comorbid and share several symptomatic features (Mahmood et al., 2012a; Sadek et al., 2016c).

The protective role of histamine has also been reported in neurological conditions featured by microglia-induced neuroinflammation and, consequently, the involvement of brain histamine in the pathophysiology of multiple sclerosis and other neurological diseases of several animal models (Barata-Antunes et al., 2017b; Jadidi-Niaragh & Mirshafiey, 2010). The current study demonstrated a significant LPS-induced exacerbated rise in the expression of proinflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α) in VPA-exposed mice (Figure 17A-C). However, subchronic systemic pretreatment with DL77 (5, 10, or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly decreased the elevated levels of these proinflammatory cytokines in VPA-exposed mice. Interestingly, the CNS-penetrant H3R agonist, when co-administered with DL77, completely reversed the protective effect of DL77 against the elevated markers of oxidative stress and partially abrogated the DL77-provided protective effects on proinflammatory cytokines (Figure 17A-C), indicating the involvement of central histaminergic neurotransmission in mediating the anti-inflammatory action of DL77 in VPA-exposed mice with ASD-like behaviors under inflammatory conditions.

Taken together the promising results of DL77 in palliating sociability deficits and stereotypies present in the VPA-exposed TO mice model of ASD-like behaviors, as well as its modulation of neuroinflammation and oxidative stress levels under the inflammatory context, encouraged us to expand these initial data. Accordingly, we further carried preclinical experiments using other H3R ligands and on other rodent species to understand the translational potential of H3R antagonists in the therapy of ASD and the neural circuits involved.

Accumulated evidence suggests that a variety of brain neurotransmitters such as ACh, 5-HT, DA, GABA, Glu, and HA are implicated in the onset and progression of ASD, substantiating the significance of this research area in the study of ASD etiology (Bacchelli et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2017; Ellenbroek et al., 2015; Hellings et al., 2017; Hellmer et al., 2017; Naaijen et al., 2017; Nakai et al., 2017; Paval, 2017; Paval et al., 2017; Shah et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2015). Alterations in histaminergic as well as cholinergic neurotransmission are thought to play a crucial role in the phenotypic outcomes of ASD-related behavioral features (Baronio et al., 2015; Karvat et al., 2014; Wright et al., 2017). Previous reports suggested that an impaired cholinergic system causes cognitive problems that may include social problems, which were reversed by donepezil treatments (Karvat et al., 2014; Riedel, Kang, Choi et al., 2009). Numerous lines of evidence from preclinical studies indicated notably that H3R antagonists/inverse agonists have been found to exhibit cognition-enhancing properties (Passani et al., 2011; Sadek et al., 2016c; Sadek & Stark, 2016e; Witkin et al., 2004). In view of that both acetylcholine esterase (AChE) and H3Rs (auto- and heteroreceptors) are suggested to be involved in the modulation of several central neurotransmitters including ACh and HA that are cognition associated. Consistent

with these reports, we assessed for the first time the pharmacological modulation of H3R and AChE by investigating the effects of a novel dual-active AChEI and H3R antagonist E100 on ASD-like behaviors in C57 VPA-exposed mice. Our major findings showed that systemic administration of E100 significantly improved social interaction deficits in VPA-exposed mice in TCT, and stereotypies in MBT and NST paradigm (Figure 18 -21). Importantly, the sociability- and social novelty-enhancing effect observed for E100 was dose-dependent, although E100 (5 mg/kg) significantly increased the SI (Figure 18A), it failed to improve SNI (Figure 19A), while significant enhancement in sociability as well as social novelty behaviors were achieved by a dose of 10 mg/kg or 15 mg/kg. However, E100 (10 mg/kg) effects were similar to the enhancing effects obtained for DOZ and were not significantly further enhanced with the dose of 15 mg/kg E100, (Figure 18A and 19A). On the other hand, DL77 (5 mg/kg) failed to improve both assessed social parameters, while DL77 (10 mg/kg or 15 mg/kg) showed significant improvement dose-dependently, with optimum effect exhibited by DL77 (15 mg/kg). Interestingly, the observations for the dose-dependent effects of E100 and DL77 on social impairments in C57 VPA-exposed mice, are in line with our initial observed results of DL77 on VPA-induced ASD in TO mice. However, the difference in DL77 doses exerting optimum effects (DL77 10 mg/kg in TO mice and DL77 15 mg/kg in C57 mice) on social deficits, may have been due to differences in strains and genetic backgrounds. Notably the observation of sociability and social enhancing-effect of E100 are unlike DL77 and other previous studies in which the effects of H3R antagonists/inverse agonists target H3Rs without inhibitory affinity for AChE (Brabant, Charlier, & Tirelli, 2013; De Almeida & Izquierdo, 1986). As observed, similar enhancing effects were achieved with E100 (10 mg) and a higher

dose of DL77 (15 mg), despite the tests being carried on the same mouse strain (C57), under similar conditions and by the same experimenter. This might be explained by the dual action of E100 with the capability of H3R antagonists to mediate the release of different neurotransmitters other than histamine, such as DA, 5-HT and ACh in specific brain regions (Brioni et al., 2011), together with its AChE inhibitory property that results in modulation of abnormal cholinergic transmission. The latter explanation highlights the significant role of both brain HA and ACh in improving social deficiencies and that not only histaminergic but also cholinergic transmission represents an essential neurophysiological component in cognitive functioning. Interestingly, the results observed for E100 in sociability assessments are in agreement with previous studies in which systemic administration of the dual-acting AChEI and H3R antagonist, namely UW-MD-71, exhibited cognitive enhancing effects that were similar to those obtained for the reference drug DOZ (AChEI) in that study (Sadek & Stark, 2016e).

Furthermore, E100-provided enhancing effects on sociability and social novelty were completely reversed when mice were co-administered the CNS-penetrant H3R agonist RAM, the CNS-penetrant H2R antagonist ZOL, or with muscarinic cholinergic antagonist SCO but not with the centrally acting H1R antagonist PYR (Figures 18B and 19B). This indicated that brain histaminergic and cholinergic neurotransmissions appear to be involved in mediating the capacity of the dual acting E100 to facilitate the release of brain HA and to elevate the levels of ACh in specific brain areas. The results further indicated that histaminergic and cholinergic pathways, through activation of H2Rs and muscarinic ACh receptors, respectively, contribute to alteration of sociability and social novelty-related processes in VPA-exposed mice as observed in TCT paradigm.

Stereotypy, repetitive behavior and restricted interests are considered core features of ASD. Recently, tic disorder has been reported to be associated with histamine dysregulation (Bloch, State, & Pittenger, 2011; M. Rapanelli & Pittenger, 2016b), disorder commonly comorbid with attention difficulties and ASD (Rapanelli, Frick, Pogorelov et al., 2017b). Tics are repetitive and patterned motor actions that are typically associated with preceding uncomfortable sensory experiences (Martino & Hedderly, 2019). Moreover, as alteration in brain's the histamine modulatory system has been identified to be rare genetic cause of tic disorders; histidine decarboxylase knockout (*Hdc*-KO) mouse was generated to represent a promising model of its pathophysiology (Baldan et al., 2014; Ercan-Sencicek, Stillman, Ghosh et al., 2010), implying that diminished histaminergic neurotransmission maybe related to the exhibited repetitive and tic-like stereotypies (Baldan et al., 2014). In addition, Rapanelli et al. have implicated H3R in repetitive behavior-related pathology (Rapanelli et al., 2017b).

VPA-exposed mice subchronically pretreated with E100 (10 or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) or with the reference drug DOZ (1 mg/kg, i.p.) showed comparable reduction in stereotyped repetitive behavior in MBT (Figure 20A). Additionally, the E100 (10 mg/kg)-provided effects observed in MBT were nullified when mice were co-administered the CNS penetrant H3R agonist RAM, the CNS-penetrant H2R antagonist ZOL, or with muscarinic cholinergic antagonist SCO, but not with the CNS-penetrant H1R antagonist PYR (Figure 20B). The mechanism by which the repetitive/compulsive behavior is improved following systemic administration with

E100 may involve its capability as a potent dual-active H3R antagonist and AChE inhibitor, to modulate the release of different neurotransmitters besides HA and ACh, such as DA and 5-HT, in several specific brain areas. Consequently, assessing the levels of different brain neurotransmitters, including HA and ACh, in different brain areas of the VPA-exposed mice with ASD-like behaviors, as well as after pre-treatment with E100 would further help us to understand better which neurotransmitter systems maybe involved in the observed behavioral improvement. However, the results clearly demonstrated that the signaling of H2R and acetylcholine muscarinic receptors postsynaptically are involved. The results observed for E100 in MBT are in agreement with improvement exhibited by DL77, although DL77 (15 mg) showed the optimal improvement comparable to the E100 (10 mg)-provided effect.

Similarly, E100 (5, 10 or 15 mg/kg) reduced the percentage of shredded nestlets in VPA-exposed mice in the NST, and this effect of E100 on stereotyped repetitive and compulsive-like behaviors was counteracted by co-administration of the H3R agonist RAM, but not the H1R antagonist PYR or the H2R antagonist ZOL or with muscarinic cholinergic antagonist SCO (Figure 21B). These results further corroborate the current observations in MBT regarding the capability of E100 to facilitate the release of several brain neurotransmitters, besides HA and ACh that have crucial functions in repetitive/compulsive behaviors in different animal species. Negation of the effect of DL77 (15 mg) on repetitive and compulsive-like behavior in NST with co-administration of ZOL, strongly supports the implication of histamine signaling mainly through H2R. The effects of E100 on locomotor activity as well as anxiety levels were examined to simultaneously rule out possible intrinsic impairment of spontaneous locomotor activity that might mask anxiety parameter. Consequently,

EPM test was carried to study the effects of E100 on locomotor activity as well as anxiety levels. The results showed that E100 at a dose of 10 or 15 mg/kg reduced elevated anxiety levels in VPA-exposed mice, similar to DOZ (1 mg/kg), measured by the percentage of time spent and number of open arms entries (Figure 22A and B). However, systemic pretreatment of VPA-exposed mice with E100 at a dose of 5, 10 or 15 mg/kg or with DOZ (1 mg/kg) did not alter the locomotor activity as measured by number of entries into closed arms (Figure 22C). Similar results were obtained in OFT, confirming the ability of E100 to modulate anxiety-associated fear levels by increasing time spent in the center of the arena, and its failure to reduce hyperactivity, as no effect was exhibited (for all doses), on total distance travelled (Figure 23A-D). Thus, the improvements in sociability, social novelty, and repetitive/compulsive behaviors observed for E100 in TCT, MBT and NST, respectively, appear unlikely to be associated with a modulating effect in locomotor activity of the tested mice. These results are in accordance with previous results that revealed anxiolytic-like effects of a non-imidazole-based H3R antagonist with no differences in spontaneous locomotor activity (Amine Bahi, Johannes Stephan Schwed, Miriam Walter et al., 2014). Moreover, the failure of E100 at all doses and DOZ to alleviate the hyperactivity observed in VPA-exposed mice may have been due to the well-known existing imbalance of excitatory (Glu) and inhibitory (GABA) neurotransmitters, as such imbalance was observed in several clinical trials in patients with ASD (Casanova et al., 2003; Mabunga et al., 2015; Orekhova et al., 2008; Rubenstein et al., 2003). With regard to anxiety, comparing the results of E100 with DL77, it was observed that DL77 (15 mg) only modulated anxiety of VPA-exposed mice by increasing the percentage of time spent in open arms and failed with all doses to increase number of open arm entries in EPM and time spent in the central arena in OFT. The latter results agreed with our initial data, in which DL77 with all doses failed to restore anxiety levels in VPA- exposed TO mice. These results highlight the role of AChE inhibitory effect of E100 in anxiety modulation. Our findings agreed with previous studies supporting the role of AChE on abnormal behaviors, in which transgenic mice overexpression of synaptic human AChE (hAChE-S) show social recognition impairment, hyperactivity in the novel open field and increased time in open arms of the EPM (Cohen, Erb, Ginzberg et al., 2002; Erb, Troost, Kopf et al., 2001).

Previous studies have found that several proinflammatory cytokines including TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and TGF- β are elevated in the autistic brain (Deckmann, Schwingel, Fontes-Dutra et al., 2018; Depino, 2013; Goines & Ashwood, 2013; Vargas et al., 2005). IL-1ß disruption was reported to have a variety of neurological consequences relevant to ASD. It was also reported earlier that IL-6 overexpression in the mice CNS show alterations in cognition and avoidance behaviors (Heyser, Masliah, Samimi et al., 1997). Additionally, Vargas et al. found that TGF- β was one of the most prevalent cytokines in brain tissues of individuals with ASD and is involved in social behavior. The levels of TGF- β in serum are inversely related to those in the brain of autistic individuals. Notably, increased TGF- β in CNS was reported with activated microglia cells (Ashwood, Krakowiak, Hertz-Picciotto et al., 2011; Ohja, Gozal, Fahnestock et al., 2018; Vargas et al., 2005). In addition, several studies reported that cerebellum of autistic subjects exhibited consistent oxidative stress (Nadeem, Ahmad, Al-Harbi et al., 2019). Consistent with these findings, the results showed that the levels of TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and TGF- β were significantly increased in the cerebellum of VPA-exposed C57 mice as compared with age-matched control

mice (Figure 24A, C, E and G). Systemic administration of E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly modulated the levels of the proinflammatory cytokines (Figure 24A, C, E and G) and oxidative stress in VPA-exposed mice (Figure 25A, C, E and G). In addition, when co-administered with E100, the CNS-penetrant H3R agonist partially abrogated E100-provided protective effects against increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines (Figure 24B, D, F and H) and entirely nullified the E100-provided effects on oxidative stress levels (Figure 25B, D, F and H).

Similar results were observed with DL77 (15 mg), indicating the involvement of brain histamine in facilitating the neuroprotective action of E100 in VPA-exposed mice with ASD-like features. Interestingly, the current observations are strongly supported by a previous study that demonstrated that JNJ10181457, a histamine H3 receptor inverse agonist suppressed LPS-induced microglial IL-1B, IL-6 and TNF-a expression, indicating that JNJ inhibited the activation of microglia associated with inflammation (Iida, Yoshikawa, Karpati et al., 2017). In accordance, another study showed that ciproxifan (1 mg/kg, i.p.) reduced the level of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1ß and IL-6 in transgenic mouse brain (Mani et al., 2017). These lines of evidence demonstrate the strong impact of histaminergic neurotransmission in modulating microglia-induced neuroinflammation and associated pro-inflammatory cytokine expression. This may suggest that as cytokine imbalances could impact neural activity and mediate behavioral aspects of ASD, H3R antagonists may serve as potential therapeutics for this disorder. In support to our results a previous study provided evidence that fifteen days treatment of ciproxifan prevented cognitive deficits, improved cholinergic transmission, and attenuated neuroinflammation and oxidative stress in APP transgenic mouse model (Mani et al., 2017). The neuroprotective effect of E100 were further supported by a study that showed the free radical scavenging effect of DOZ associated with memory impairment in mice. The study reported that DOZ (AChEI) may protect neurons against injury in AD through prevention of free radical-mediated neuroinflammation. This suggests that the AChE inhibitory property of E100 may be involved in oxidative stress modulation of VPA exposed mice (Umukoro, Adewole, Eduviere et al., 2014).

The regulation of immune response is mediated by NF- κ B via induction of the expression of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. Activation of NF-KB is significantly increased with ASD (Nadeem, Ahmad, Bakheet et al., 2017; Naik, Gangadharan, Abbagani et al., 2011). Young et. al, also, observed elevated levels of NF-kB in blood and brain of patients with ASD (Young, Campbell, Lynch et al., 2011). Moreover, neuroinflammation is characterized by reactivity of microglia and astrocytes, activation of iNOS signaling and increased expression and release of cytokines and chemokines (Monnet-Tschudi et al., 2011). Evidences indicates that ASD subjects exhibit ongoing neuroinflammatory processes in various regions in the brain involving microglial activation (Rodriguez & Kern, 2011; Vargas et al., 2005), consequently aberrant expression of cytokines and their signaling intermediaries are often observed. Furthermore, recent findings showed that disrupted COX-2 signaling in mice might serve as a novel animal model to assess ASD (Wong, Bestard-Lorigados, & Crawford, 2019). In the current study, the expression of NF- κ B, iNOS, and COX-2 were significantly higher in the cerebellum as well as hippocampus of VPA-exposed mice compared with saline-exposed mice (Figure 26). However, systemic administration with E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly reduced the increased levels of NF- κ B, iNOS, and COX-2, and the CNS-penetrant H3R agonist, when coadministered with E100, reversed the E100-provided neuroprotection in both brain regions (Figure 26). The latter observations further indicate that brain histamine is strongly involved in facilitating the neuroprotective action of E100 in VPA-exposed mice with ASD-like features. Recent study demonstrated that histamine induce decrease in NF- κ B, in inflammatory environment but not in the healthy microglia (Apolloni, Fabbrizio, Amadio et al., 2017)

Microglia, a representative immune cell in the brain, plays an important role in synaptic refinement (Kim, Cho, Shim et al., 2017; Koyama & Ikegaya, 2015), and are also supposed to be associated with the pathogenesis of ASD (Kim et al., 2017; Koyama et al., 2015). Moreover, previous reports have also shown changes in the activation of microglia in patients with ASD (Morgan, Chana, Pardo et al., 2010; Pardo, Vargas, & Zimmerman, 2005). In the current study, the observed results showed that expression of iba-1 positive microglia was significantly increased in the cerebellum of VPA-exposed mice compared to saline-exposed control mice (Figure 27) Microglia activation is also considered to be sign of ROS and inflammatory activation. However, systemic pretreatment of VPA-exposed mice with E100 (10 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly decreased the number of activated microglia comparable to the saline-exposed control mice, and the E100-provided effect on activated microglia was entirely counteracted by co-administration of RAM (Figure 27). The latter results signify the brain HA in facilitating the anti-inflammatory effects of E100 against activated microglia of VPA-exposed mice. These findings agree with the previous study in which the H3R inverse agonist JNJ10181457, exhibited an inhibitory role in vivo on activated microglia and regulated LPS-induced upregulation of microglia proinflammatory cytokines in mouse brain (Iida et al., 2017). Therefore, targeting microglial activation by modulating microglial function and suppressing their deleterious pro-inflammatory neurotoxicity maybe a valid therapeutic strategy for promoting neuroprotection and managing ASD-like behaviors.

Taken together, the novel dual-active H3R antagonist and AChE inhibitor E100 alleviates sociability as well as social novelty deficits and stereotypies (presented as ASD-like behaviors) induced by prenatal exposure of C57 mice to VPA (Figure 34). Moreover, E100 modulates the levels of central HA and ACh in an inflammatory context, mitigating the increase in the levels of proinflammatory cytokines, oxidative stress levels, and expression of NF- κ B, iNOS, and COX-2 in the cerebellum as well as the hippocampus (Figure 34). These results demonstrate the palliating effects of E100 in a battery tests conducted in a mouse model of ASD.



Figure 34: Schematic illustration of possible mechanism of action of E100 Chemical structure of the dual-active hH3R antagonist and AChEI E100, it's in vitro data with regard to HRs, AChE (Ee: electric eel), and BChE (Eq: equine), and its putative mode of action by inhibition of the metabolizing enzyme of ACh and blocking the hH3R acting as auto- and heteroreceptor.

After many years of scientific efforts, the genetic cause of ASD for majority of the cases remains elusive, therefore it was more powerful to include a well-validated model of idiopathic autism in my study to further corroborate our results. This was to authenticate our findings that histaminergic and cholinergic systems dysregulation are implicated in ASD phenotypes and that H3R antagonists maybe a potential therapeutic agent for ASD. BTBR mouse is one of these idiopathic models. The BTBR mouse continues to attract researchers with its complex genetic, molecular and physiological background, a complexity that supports the BTBR mouse as a model for the idiopathic form of autism (Meyza & Blanchard, 2017). It that displays behaviors consistent with the diagnostic categories for ASD, namely impairments in social interaction and increased repetitive behaviors.

Our results determined that E100 significantly improved social deficits exhibited by BTBR mice This was evident by significant enhancement in sociability as well as social novelty behavior provided by dose of 5 mg/kg or 10 mg/kg. Importantly, the sociability- and social novelty-enhancing effect observed for E100 was not dose-dependent, since E100 (15 mg/kg) failed to further improve sociability or social novelty preference (Figure 28A and B). In fact, E100 (5 mg/kg, i.p) was observed to show the optimum effect. The observed results regarding the doses are in agreement with previous results of memory-enhancing effect observed for UW-MD-72, the effect of lower dose (1.25 mg/kg) was significantly higher when compared to the higher doses 2.5 and 5 mg/kg (Sadek, Khan, Darras et al., 2016a). In a further experiment, the E100 (5 mg)-provided enhancing effects on sociability and social novelty were completely reversed when mice were co-administering the CNSpenetrant H3R agonist RAM.

The observed results support the effect of E100 to release several neurotransmitters, such as histamine and acetylcholine, provided by the inhibition of the H3R. These neurotransmitters are implicated in the regulation of arousal and cognitive processes in several previous studies. Earlier experimental study revealed that antagonism of H3R attenuated impaired social behavior in rodents exposed to phencyclidine (PCP), a finding in line with our result (Griebel et al., 2012). Notably, the reference drug DOZ improved both social impairment parameters of BTBR mice following subchronic systemic treatment (Figure 28A). Recent studies demonstrated cholinergic deficit and low levels of ACh in BTBR mice (McTighe, Neal, Lin et al., 2013). In addition to the well-established positive effect of AChEIs on cognition in a wealth of studies, DOZ treatment was reported by Reidel et al. to relieve social memory deficiency (Riedel et al., 2009). This evidence fits with our findings, as E100 has AChE inhibitory properties which may account for improvements in social deficits observed in E100 (5 mg/kg, i.p.) pretreated BTBR mice. Moreover, the selective H3R antagonist JNJ was reported in a previous study to normalize ACh neurotransmission and positively impact cognition (Galici et al., 2009), supporting our results with E100. These therapeutic effects of E100 may be explained by the modulation of histaminergic and cholinergic systems, hence reduced cognitive rigidity, that consequently increases social attention and elevates sociability levels.

The ability of E100 to enhance cholinergic activity in BTBR mice and exert its potential effect on cognitive deficit associated with sociability impairments was confirmed by measuring AChE activity in the cerebellum. The results revealed that the activity of AChE in E100 (5 mg) -treated mice was significantly reduced compared to BTBR mice and compared to DOZ treated BTBR mice (Figure 29). Considering the

role of this enzyme which is responsible for degrading the ACh, it has been reported in a previous study that AChE inhibition augmented acetylcholine in the synapse, relieve cognitive rigidity and ameliorate social deficiency in BTBR mice (Karvat et al., 2014).

Furthermore, E100 in BTBR mice also exhibited the same trend toward improvement in repetitive and compulsive-like behaviors (Figure 30 A and B). Analysis of MBT and NST results revealed that E100 (5 mg) exhibited the best behavioral improvement that was significant from effects of E100 10 mg and 15 mg. A previous study reported that acute administration of mAChR agonist oxotremorine attenuated the elevated self-grooming and marble-burying behavior in BTBR mice. These findings suggest that activation of mAChR can attenuate certain repetitive behaviors (Amodeo, Yi, Sweeney et al., 2014). This evidence may explain the results observed by E100 on repetitive behavior in MBT, because E100 tend to facilitate the release of ACh through H3 heteroreceptor and increase the level of ACh in synapse by exerting an inhibitory action on AChE. The increased level of ACh may exert mAChR transduction showing the improvement in repetitive behavior observed. Additionally, and as mentioned earlier, several previous studies including our findings reported the positive effects of H3R antagonists on repetitive behaviors of VPA mouse model of ASD in different mouse strains. These findings suggest that the pharmacological manipulation of the histaminergic system by E100 due to its H3R antagonistic effect, may positively impact the elevated repetitive and compulsive-like behaviors in BTBR. On the other hand, BTBR mice have been reported to have elevated oxidative stress with deficient enzymatic anti-oxidant response that is suggested to be associated with the exaggerated repetitive behavior (Nadeem et al., 2019). Based on our finding of the capacity of E100 to modulate oxidative stress level in VPA exposed mice (Figure 25A, C, E and G), the improvements observed in repetitive/compulsive behavior by E100 in BTBR is strongly supported.

BTBR mice display a variable profile of anxiety-like behaviors in comparison to C57 and other inbred strains. In the current study BTBR mice spent less time and had a reduced number of entries into open arms of the EPM, demonstrating high levels of anxiety (Figure 31A and B). This observation was in agreement with previous studies (Benno, Smirnova, Vera et al., 2009; Pobbe, Defensor, Pearson et al., 2011). Conversely BTBR mice spent more time in the center of the arena of the open field, as compared to C57 in OFT showing low levels of anxiety, reflecting impulsive behavior (Figure 32A and B). This contradictory result is in consistent with several previous studies (Chadman, 2011; Moy et al., 2007; Silverman, Yang, Turner et al., 2010; Yang, Clarke, & Crawley, 2009) and may be explained due the to stress condition exhibited by the EPM over OFT. In fact, previous studies suggested that BTBR mice displayed high risk assessment behaviors (stretched postures and head-outs stretches), as response to high level of stress, reflecting exaggerated responses to stressors which might have influenced responses in EPM. Interestingly, E100 with all doses was able to restore these abnormal levels of anxiety in both tests, hence, our findings suggest interplay between histamine and ACh level dysregulation with abnormal levels of anxiety and impulsive behavior observed in BTBR. This is supported by a recent report, in which lower acetylcholine level in the prefrontal cortex region of BTBR mice showed attention deficit and impulsive behavior (McTighe et al., 2013).

E100 at all doses and DOZ failed to restore the hyperactivity displayed by BTBR mice in EPM (Figure 31C), conversely the hyperactivity was totally restored in OFT with E100 (5, 10 or 15 mg/kg, i.p.) or DOZ (Figure 32C). As mentioned earlier both OFT and EPM tests are standard tools to analyze activity and profile anxiety in rodents. Open field determines behavior based on combined exploration and aversion against open and bright areas, whereas, in EPM the behavior of rodents is based on openness combined with elevation predominantly related to anxiety (Schmitt & Hiemke, 1998). This explains the sensitivity of each behavioral test in testing the effect of compounds on anxiety and psychomotor activity using the same mouse strain. Although E100 improved increased activity in BTBR mice, it failed to restore hyperactivity in C57 VPA-exposed mice in OFT. This may be due to variability in sensitivity of mouse strains to drugs. This finding agrees with a previous study in which the antidepressant-like effect of fluoxetine was compared in seven inbred mouse strains in the forced swimming test, the results revealed improvement in three strains only (Lucki, Dalvi, & Mayorga, 2001). However, co-administration of the H3R agonist RAM reversed the elevated locomotor activity improvement exhibited by E100 (5 mg) in OFT (Figure 32C), that strongly correlate regulation of both histamine and acetylcholine neurotransmitters with hyperactivity observed in BTBR mice.

Several studies now provide evidence for ongoing neuroinflammatory process in various brain regions involving microglia activation, in individuals with ASD. Microglial activation can then result in a loss of connections or underconnectivity due to the sustained production of mediators longer than usual, contributing to the loss of synaptic connections and neuronal cell death. Several studies reported underconnectivity in ASD individuals (Rodriguez et al., 2011). Emerging evidence implicates compromised inter-hemispherical connectivity in some cases of ASD, where greater callosum reduction was proportional to severity of the disorder. Moreover, histological analysis showed that the corpus callosum was absent in BTBR mouse brains. Nevertheless, important finding suggested that genes regulating corpus callosum development specifically are not likely to be responsible for the social and repetitive abnormalities in BTBR, evidenced by postnatal surgical disconnection of the corpus callosal fiber tract in C57 mice that exhibited no social deficits or repetitive self-grooming characteristic of BTBR mice (Yang et al., 2009).. Our promising results strongly implicate the histaminergic and cholinergic system dysregulation in the ASD phenotype.

As mentioned earlier, one way to control neuroinflammation is to reduce or inhibit microglial activation. It is plausible that by reducing brain inflammation and microglial activation, the neurodestructive effects of chronic inflammation could be diminished and contribute to improved developmental outcomes. Consistent with previous studies that reported microglia activation in BTBR brains (Heo, Zhang, Gao et al., 2011; Zhang, Gao, Kluetzman et al., 2013) our results demonstrated remarkably a higher expression of Iba-1-positive microglia in BTBR cerebellum compared to C57, reflecting an increase in activated microglia. Subchronic systemic administration of E100 (5 mg) significantly mitigated microglia activation in BTBR, evidenced by attenuation of the expression of Iba-1 (Figure 33). However, co-administration of RAM reversed the suppression exhibited by E100 (5 mg). The data clearly indicate that E100 has the potential to inhibit microglial activation. The current findings complement the earlier observation of E100 (10 mg) on activated microglia of VPAexposed C57 mice. Since microglia constitutively express all four histamine receptors (H1R, H2R, H3R, and H4R) histamine has a well-established role as neuron-to-glia alarm signal in the brain (Hu & Chen, 2017). It has been reported in a recent study that histamine counteracts proinflammatory microglia phenotype in the SOD1-G93A mouse model of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. They demonstrated that histamine exerts its beneficial action only in inflammatory SOD1-G93A microglia, and on the other hand elicits a pro-inflammatory effect in nontransgenic cells (Apolloni et al., 2017). These findings complement an earlier study that demonstrated a dual role for histamine under physiological and inflammatory settings (Barata-Antunes et al., 2017a). Additionally, HA deficiency in *HDC* knock out mice has been reported to make microglial cells more vulnerable to an inflammatory challenge, which further emphasizes the importance of HA in regulating microglial function (Frick et al., 2016).

These reports fit well with our findings that brain HA and Ach are involved in providing an anti-inflammatory action provided by E100 through its action to facilitate the release of brain HA and elevate the levels of ACh in synapse which may be be consequently responsible for the improvement in ASD-like behavioral outcomes in BTBR mice.

Chapter 5: Conclusion

In conclusion, to our knowledge, this is the first study to reveal that DL77, a non-imidazole H3R antagonist palliated core symptoms of ASD, represented as ASD-like behaviors induced by prenatal VPA exposure in two different mouse strains, demonstrating the therapeutic potential of H3R antagonists in the treatment of ASD. In addition, we provided evidences that modulation of central histaminergic neurotransmission by DL77 under an inflammatory context attenuated proinflammatory cytokine release and oxidative stress levels that are considered as predictors of intensified symptoms of ASD.

The promising results of the target drug DL77 and the standard drug DOZ lead to additional investigation into the potential applicability of dual-acting H3R antagonists/AChEIs in the modulation of ASD-like behavior. The observed palliative effects of E100 on behavioral deficits and the mitigating effects on the levels of proinflammatory cytokines as well as oxidative stress provide evidence to suggest that brain histaminergic and cholinergic neurotransmission are potential targets for ASD. The current study is the first in vivo demonstration that a potent dual-acting H3R antagonist and AChE inhibitor is effective in improving ASD-like features induced by prenatal exposure to VPA and in the BTBR mouse model of ASD (environmental and genetic models).

The latter result adds further support to the therapeutic potential of dual-acting H3R antagonists and AChEI in the treatment of CNS disorders, especially those characterized with chronic neuroinflammation such as ASD.

DL77 and E100 showed similar results, with a higher dose of DL77 exhibiting optimal effects, hence we propose histaminergic signalling as a novel mechanism for understanding ASD, and the H3R antagonists as a potential target for therapy.

Future direction

Future studies are essential to investigate which signalling pathways and HRs are involved in this histamine-provided neuroprotective role. Altogether our results opened a novel therapeutic window for managing core symptoms of ASD. However, the examination of neural circuits implicated with the histaminergic and cholinergic neurotransmission systems is an important goal for future work to decipher the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying the observed effects.

References

- Adams-Chapman, I., & Stoll, B. J. (2006). Neonatal infection and long-term neurodevelopmental outcome in the preterm infant. *Curr Opin Infect Dis*, 19(3), 290-297. doi:10.1097/01.qco.0000224825.57976.87
- Alachkar, A., Lazewska, D., Kiec-Kononowicz, K., & Sadek, B. (2017). The Histamine H3 Receptor Antagonist E159 Reverses Memory Deficits Induced by Dizocilpine in Passive Avoidance and Novel Object Recognition Paradigm in Rats. *Front Pharmacol*, 8, 709-720. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29075190. doi:10.3389/fphar.2017.00709
- AlOlaby, R. R., Sweha, S. R., Silva, M., Durbin-Johnson, B., Yrigollen, C. M., Pretto, D., Hagerman, R. J., & Tassone, F. (2017). Molecular biomarkers predictive of sertraline treatment response in young children with fragile X syndrome. *Brain Dev*, 39(6), 483-492. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28242040. doi:10.1016/j.braindev.2017.01.012
- Aman, M. G. (2004). Management of hyperactivity and other acting-out problems in patients with autism spectrum disorder. *Semin Pediatr Neurol*, 11(3), 225-228. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15575418.
- Amodeo, D. A., Yi, J., Sweeney, J. A., & Ragozzino, M. E. (2014). Oxotremorine treatment reduces repetitive behaviors in BTBR T+ tf/J mice. *Front Synaptic Neurosci*, 6, 17-24. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25165445. doi:10.3389/fnsyn.2014.00017
- Anagnostou, E., Esposito, K., Soorya, L., Chaplin, W., Wasserman, S., & Hollander, E. (2006). Divalproex versus placebo for the prevention of irritability associated with fluoxetine treatment in autism spectrum disorder. In *J Clin Psychopharmacol*, 26, 444-446.
- Andolina, D., Di Segni, M., & Ventura, R. (2017). MiRNA-34 and stress response. Oncotarget, 8(4), 5658-5659. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28086203. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.13923
- Andres, C. (2002). Molecular genetics and animal models in autistic disorder. *Brain Res Bull*, 57(1), 109-119. doi:S0361923001006426 [pii]
- Angoa-Perez, M., Kane, M. J., Briggs, D. I., Francescutti, D. M., & Kuhn, D. M. (2013). Marble burying and nestlet shredding as tests of repetitive, compulsive-like behaviors in mice. *J Vis Exp*, (82), 1-7.doi:10.3791/50978

- Anshu, K., Nair, A. K., Kumaresan, U. D., Kutty, B. M., Srinath, S., & Laxmi, T. R. (2017). Altered attentional processing in male and female rats in a prenatal valproic acid exposure model of autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Res*, 10, 1929-1944.Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28851114. doi:10.1002/aur.1852
- Apolloni, S., Fabbrizio, P., Amadio, S., Napoli, G., Verdile, V., Morello, G., Iemmolo, R., Aronica, E., Cavallaro, S., & Volonte, C. (2017). Histamine Regulates the Inflammatory Profile of SOD1-G93A Microglia and the Histaminergic System Is Dysregulated in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. *Front Immunol*, 8, 1689-1705. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.01689
- Arnold, H. M., Burk, J. A., Hodgson, E. M., Sarter, M., & Bruno, J. P. (2002). Differential cortical acetylcholine release in rats performing a sustained attention task versus behavioral control tasks that do not explicitly tax attention. *Neuroscience*, 114(2), 451-460.
- Arrang, J. M., Devaux, B., Chodkiewicz, J. P., & Schwartz, J. C. (1988). H3receptors control histamine release in human brain. *J Neurochem*, 51(1), 105-108.
- Arrang, J. M., Garbarg, M., & Schwartz, J. C. (1983). Auto-inhibition of brain histamine release mediated by a novel class (H3) of histamine receptor. *Nature*, 302(5911), 832-837.
- Arrang, J. M., Garbarg, M., & Schwartz, J. C. (1985). Autoregulation of histamine release in brain by presynaptic H3-receptors. *Neuroscience*, *15*(2), 553-562.
- Arrang, J. M., Garbarg, M., & Schwartz, J. C. (1987). Autoinhibition of histamine synthesis mediated by presynaptic H3-receptors. *Neuroscience*, 23(1), 149-157.
- Arvidsson, O., Gillberg, C., Lichtenstein, P., & Lundstrom, S. (2018). Secular changes in the symptom level of clinically diagnosed autism. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 59(7), 744-751. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29377119. doi:10.1111/jcpp.12864
- Ash, A. S., & Schild, H. O. (1966). Receptors mediating some actions of histamine. *Br J Pharmacol Chemother*, 27, 427-439.
- Ashwood, P., Krakowiak, P., Hertz-Picciotto, I., Hansen, R., Pessah, I. N., & Van de Water, J. (2011). Associations of impaired behaviors with elevated plasma chemokines in autism spectrum disorders. *J Neuroimmunol*, 232(1-2), 196-199. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21095018. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2010.10.025
- Atladottir, H. O., Thorsen, P., Ostergaard, L., Schendel, D. E., Lemcke, S., Abdallah, M., & Parner, E. T. (2010). Maternal infection requiring hospitalization during pregnancy and autism spectrum disorders. *J Autism Dev Disord*, 40(12), 1423-1430. Retrieved from

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20414802. doi:10.1007/s10803-010-1006-y

- Avale, M. E., Chabout, J., Pons, S., Serreau, P., De Chaumont, F., Olivo-Marin, J. C., Bourgeois, J. P., Maskos, U., Changeux, J. P., & Granon, S. (2011).
 Prefrontal nicotinic receptors control novel social interaction between mice. *Faseb j*, 25(7), 2145-2155. doi:10.1096/fj.10-178558
- Bacchelli, E., Battaglia, A., Cameli, C., Lomartire, S., Tancredi, R., Thomson, S., Sutcliffe, J. S., & Maestrini, E. (2015). Analysis of CHRNA7 rare variants in autism spectrum disorder susceptibility. *Am J Med Genet A*, 167A(4), 715-723. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25655306. doi:10.1002/ajmg.a.36847
- Bahi, A. (2013a). Increased anxiety, voluntary alcohol consumption and ethanolinduced place preference in mice following chronic psychosocial stress. *Stress*, 16(4), 441-451. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23194312. doi:10.3109/10253890.2012.754419
- Bahi, A. (2013b). Individual differences in elevated plus-maze exploration predicted higher ethanol consumption and preference in outbred mice. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 105, 83-88. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23402940. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2013.01.023
- Bahi, A., & Dreyer, J. L. (2012). Hippocampus-specific deletion of tissue plasminogen activator "tPA" in adult mice impairs depression- and anxietylike behaviors. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol*, 22(9), 672-682. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22377193. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2012.01.008
- Bahi, A., & Dreyer, J. L. (2014). Chronic psychosocial stress causes delayed extinction and exacerbates reinstatement of ethanol-induced conditioned place preference in mice. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 231(2), 367-377. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23978907. doi:10.1007/s00213-013-3243-1
- Bahi, A., Schwed, J. S., Walter, M., Stark, H., & Sadek, B. (2014). Anxiolytic and antidepressant-like activities of the novel and potent non-imidazole histamine H(3) receptor antagonist ST-1283. *Drug Des Devel Ther*, 8, 627-637. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed &dopt=Citation&list_uids=24920886. doi:10.2147/DDDT.S63088dddt-8-627 [pii]
- Bahi, A., Schwed, J. S., Walter, M., Stark, H., & Sadek, B. (2014). Anxiolytic and antidepressant-like activities of the novel and potent non-imidazole histamine H₃ receptor antagonist ST-1283. *Drug design, development and therapy, 8*, 627-637. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24920886
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/PMC4044994/. doi:10.2147/DDDT.S63088

- Bailey, J. A., Gu, Z., Clark, R. A., Reinert, K., Samonte, R. V., Schwartz, S., Adams, M. D., Myers, E. W., Li, P. W., & Eichler, E. E. (2002). Recent segmental duplications in the human genome. *Science*, 297(5583), 1003-1007. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12169732. doi:10.1126/science.1072047
- Bakker, R. A., Timmerman, H., & Leurs, R. (2002). Histamine receptors: specific ligands, receptor biochemistry, and signal transduction. *Clin Allergy Immunol*, 17, 27-64.
- Balasubramaniyan, V., Boddeke, E., Bakels, R., Kust, B., Kooistra, S., Veneman, A., & Copray, S. (2006). Effects of histone deacetylation inhibition on neuronal differentiation of embryonic mouse neural stem cells. *Neuroscience*, *143*(4), 939-951. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17084985. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.08.082
- Baldan, L. C., Williams, K. A., Gallezot, J. D., Pogorelov, V., Rapanelli, M., Crowley, M., Anderson, G. M., Loring, E., Gorczyca, R., Billingslea, E., Wasylink, S., Panza, K. E., Ercan-Sencicek, A. G., Krusong, K., Leventhal, B. L., Ohtsu, H., Bloch, M. H., Hughes, Z. A., Krystal, J. H., Mayes, L., de Araujo, I., Ding, Y. S., State, M. W., & Pittenger, C. (2014). Histidine decarboxylase deficiency causes tourette syndrome: parallel findings in humans and mice. *Neuron*, 81(1), 77-90. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2013.10.052
- Ballaban-Gil, K., & Tuchman, R. (2000). Epilepsy and epileptiform EEG: association with autism and language disorders. *Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev*, 6(4), 300-308. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11107195. doi:10.1002/1098-2779(2000)6:4<300::AID-MRDD9>3.0.CO;2-R
- Bambini-Junior, V., Zanatta, G., Della Flora Nunes, G., Mueller de Melo, G.,
 Michels, M., Fontes-Dutra, M., Nogueira Freire, V., Riesgo, R., & Gottfried,
 C. (2014). Resveratrol prevents social deficits in animal model of autism
 induced by valproic acid. *Neurosci Lett*, 583, 176-181.
 doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2014.09.039
- Barata-Antunes, S., Cristovao, A. C., Pires, J., Rocha, S. M., & Bernardino, L. (2017a). Dual role of histamine on microglia-induced neurodegeneration. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis*, 1863(3), 764-769. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28057587. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2016.12.016
- Barata-Antunes, S., Cristovao, A. C., Pires, J., Rocha, S. M., & Bernardino, L. (2017b). Dual role of histamine on microglia-induced neurodegeneration. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1863(3), 764-769. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28057587. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2016.12.016

- Bardgett, M. E., Davis, N. N., Schultheis, P. J., & Griffith, M. S. (2011). Ciproxifan, an H3 receptor antagonist, alleviates hyperactivity and cognitive deficits in the APP Tg2576 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Learn Mem*, 95(1), 64-72.
- Baronio, D., Castro, K., Gonchoroski, T., de Melo, G. M., Nunes, G. D., Bambini-Junior, V., Gottfried, C., & Riesgo, R. (2015). Effects of an H3R antagonist on the animal model of autism induced by prenatal exposure to valproic acid. *PLoS One*, 10(1), 0116363-0116373. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0116363 [doi]PONE-D-14-36034 [pii]
- Baronio, D., Gonchoroski, T., Castro, K., Zanatta, G., Gottfried, C., & Riesgo, R. (2014). Histaminergic system in brain disorders: lessons from the translational approach and future perspectives. *Annals of General Psychiatry*, *13*(1), 34-43. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1186/s12991-014-0034-y. doi:10.1186/s12991-014-0034-y
- Bastaki, S. M., Abdulrazzaq, Y. M., Shafiullah, M., Wiecek, M., Kiec-Kononowicz, K., & Sadek, B. (2018). Anticonvulsant and reproductive toxicological studies of the imidazole-based histamine H3R antagonist 2-18 in mice. *Drug Des Devel Ther*, *12*, 179-194. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29403264. doi:10.2147/DDDT.S144730
- Benno, R., Smirnova, Y., Vera, S., Liggett, A., & Schanz, N. (2009). Exaggerated responses to stress in the BTBR T+tf/J mouse: an unusual behavioral phenotype. *Behav Brain Res*, 197(2), 462-465. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18977396. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2008.09.041
- Berlin, M., Boyce, C. W., & Ruiz Mde, L. (2011). Histamine H3 receptor as a drug discovery target. J Med Chem, 54(1), 26-53. doi:10.1021/jm100064d
- Bhattacharya, A., Kaphzan, H., Alvarez-Dieppa, A. C., Murphy, J. P., Pierre, P., & Klann, E. (2012). Genetic removal of p70 S6 kinase 1 corrects molecular, synaptic, and behavioral phenotypes in fragile X syndrome mice. *Neuron*, 76(2), 325-337. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2012.07.022
- Bhowmik, M., Khanam, R., & Vohora, D. (2012). Histamine H3 receptor antagonists in relation to epilepsy and neurodegeneration: a systemic consideration of recent progress and perspectives. *Br J Pharmacol*, 167(7), 1398-414.
- Bishara, D. (2010). Once-monthly paliperidone injection for the treatment of schizophrenia. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat, 6*, 561-572. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20856919. doi:10.2147/NDT.S8505
- Bloch, M., State, M., & Pittenger, C. (2011). Recent advances in Tourette syndrome. *Curr Opin Neurol*, 24(2), 119-125. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21386676. doi:10.1097/WCO.0b013e328344648c

- Boellner, S. W., Pennick, M., Fiske, K., Lyne, A., & Shojaei, A. (2007).
 Pharmacokinetics of a guanfacine extended-release formulation in children and adolescents with attention-deficit-hyperactivity disorder. *Pharmacotherapy*, 27(9), 1253-1262. doi:10.1592/phco.27.9.1253
- Bond, R. A., & Ijzerman, A. P. (2006). Recent developments in constitutive receptor activity and inverse agonism, and their potential for GPCR drug discovery. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, 27(2), 92-96.
- Bongers, G., Bakker, R. A., & Leurs, R. (2007). Molecular aspects of the histamine H3 receptor. *Biochem Pharmacol*, *73*(8), 1195-1204. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2007.01.008
- Bongers, G., Sallmen, T., Passani, M. B., Mariottini, C., Wendelin, D., Lozada, A., Marle, A., Navis, M., Blandina, P., Bakker, R. A., Panula, P., & Leurs, R. (2007). The Akt/GSK-3beta axis as a new signaling pathway of the histamine H(3) receptor. *J Neurochem*, 103(1), 248-258.
- Borsini, F., & Meli, A. (1988). Is the forced swimming test a suitable model for revealing antidepressant activity? *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 94(2), 147-160. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3127840.
- Bouvard, M. P., Leboyer, M., Launay, J. M., Recasens, C., Plumet, M. H., Waller-Perotte, D., Tabuteau, F., Bondoux, D., Dugas, M., Lensing, P., & et al. (1995). Low-dose naltrexone effects on plasma chemistries and clinical symptoms in autism: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Psychiatry Res*, 58(3), 191-201.
- Bowton, E., Saunders, C., Reddy, I. A., Campbell, N. G., Hamilton, P. J., Henry, L. K., Coon, H., Sakrikar, D., Veenstra-VanderWeele, J. M., Blakely, R. D., Sutcliffe, J., Matthies, H. J., Erreger, K., & Galli, A. (2014). SLC6A3 coding variant Ala559Val found in two autism probands alters dopamine transporter function and trafficking. *Transl Psychiatry*, *4*, 464-474. doi:10.1038/tp.2014.90
- Brabant, C., Charlier, Y., & Tirelli, E. (2013). The histamine H(3)-receptor inverse agonist pitolisant improves fear memory in mice. *Behav Brain Res*, 243, 199-204. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2012.12.063
- Bradl, M., & Hohlfeld, R. (2003). Molecular pathogenesis of neuroinflammation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 74(10), 1364-1370.
- Brioni, J. D., Esbenshade, T. A., Garrison, T. R., Bitner, S. R., & Cowart, M. D. (2011). Discovery of histamine H3 antagonists for the treatment of cognitive disorders and Alzheimer's disease. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 336(1), 38-46. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20864505. doi:10.1124/jpet.110.166876
- Brodkin, E. S. (2007). BALB/c mice: low sociability and other phenotypes that may be relevant to autism. *Behav Brain Res*, *176*(1), 53-65. Retrieved from

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16890300. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2006.06.025

- Brown, J. T., Eum, S., Cook, E. H., & Bishop, J. R. (2017). Pharmacogenomics of autism spectrum disorder. *Pharmacogenomics*, 18(4), 403-414. doi:10.2217/pgs-2016-0167
- Brown, J. W., Whitehead, C. A., Basso, A. M., Rueter, L. E., & Zhang, M. (2013a).
 Preclinical evaluation of non-imidazole histamine H3 receptor antagonists in comparison to atypical antipsychotics for the treatment of cognitive deficits associated with schizophrenia. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, *16*(4), 889-904.
 Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22906530.
 doi:10.1017/S1461145712000739
- Brown, J. W., Whitehead, C. A., Basso, A. M., Rueter, L. E., & Zhang, M. (2013b). Preclinical evaluation of non-imidazole histamine H(3) receptor antagonists in comparison to atypical antipsychotics for the treatment of cognitive deficits associated with schizophrenia. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, 16(4), 889-904.
- Brown, R. E., Stevens, D. R., & Haas, H. L. (2001). The physiology of brain histamine. *Progress in Neurobiology*, *63*(6), 637-672. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301008200000393. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-0082(00)00039-3
- Brunetti-Pierri, N., Berg, J. S., Scaglia, F., Belmont, J., Bacino, C. A., Sahoo, T., Lalani, S. R., Graham, B., Lee, B., Shinawi, M., Shen, J., Kang, S. H., Pursley, A., Lotze, T., Kennedy, G., Lansky-Shafer, S., Weaver, C., Roeder, E. R., Grebe, T. A., Arnold, G. L., Hutchison, T., Reimschisel, T., Amato, S., Geragthy, M. T., Innis, J. W., Obersztyn, E., Nowakowska, B., Rosengren, S. S., Bader, P. I., Grange, D. K., Naqvi, S., Garnica, A. D., Bernes, S. M., Fong, C. T., Summers, A., Walters, W. D., Lupski, J. R., Stankiewicz, P., Cheung, S. W., & Patel, A. (2008). Recurrent reciprocal 1q21.1 deletions and duplications associated with microcephaly or macrocephaly and developmental and behavioral abnormalities. *Nat Genet, 40*(12), 1466-1471. doi:10.1038/ng.279
- Campbell, M., Fish, B., Shapiro, T., & Floyd, A., Jr. (1971). Imipramine in preschool autistic and schizophrenic children. J Autism Child Schizophr, 1(3), 267-282.
- Cangioli, I., Baldi, E., Mannaioni, P. F., Bucherelli, C., Blandina, P., & Passani, M. B. (2002). Activation of histaminergic H3 receptors in the rat basolateral amygdala improves expression of fear memory and enhances acetylcholine release. *Eur J Neurosci, 16*(3), 521-528.
- Carminati, G. G., Deriaz, N., & Bertschy, G. (2006). Low-dose venlafaxine in three adolescents and young adults with autistic disorder improves self-injurious behavior and attention deficit/hyperactivity disorders (ADHD)-like symptoms. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, 30(2), 312-315. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2005.10.002

- Carminati, G. G., Gerber, F., Darbellay, B., Kosel, M. M., Deriaz, N., Chabert, J., Fathi, M., Bertschy, G., Ferrero, F., & Carminati, F. (2016). Using venlafaxine to treat behavioral disorders in patients with autism spectrum disorder. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, 65, 85-95. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26361994. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2015.09.002
- Carroll, L. S., & Owen, M. J. (2009). Genetic overlap between autism, schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Genome Med*, 1(10), 1021-1027. doi:10.1186/gm102
- Carson, M. J., Doose, J. M., Melchior, B., Schmid, C. D., & Ploix, C. C. (2006). CNS immune privilege: hiding in plain sight. *Immunol Rev, 213*, 48-65. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2006.00441.x
- Carson, M. J., Thrash, J. C., & Walter, B. (2006). The cellular response in neuroinflammation: The role of leukocytes, microglia and astrocytes in neuronal death and survival. *Clin Neurosci Res*, 6(5), 237-245. doi:10.1016/j.cnr.2006.09.004
- Casanova, M. F., Buxhoeveden, D., & Gomez, J. (2003). Disruption in the inhibitory architecture of the cell minicolumn: implications for autism. *Neuroscientist*, *9*(6), 496-507. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14678582. doi:10.1177/1073858403253552
- Chadman, K. K. (2011). Fluoxetine but not risperidone increases sociability in the BTBR mouse model of autism. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 97(3), 586-594. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2010.09.012
- Chadman, K. K., Yang, M., & Crawley, J. N. (2009). Criteria for validating mouse models of psychiatric diseases. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet, 150B(1), 1-11. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18484083. doi:10.1002/ajmg.b.30777
- Chang, J., Gilman, S. R., Chiang, A. H., Sanders, S. J., & Vitkup, D. (2015). Genotype to phenotype relationships in autism spectrum disorders. *Nat Neurosci*, 18(2), 191-198. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25531569. doi:10.1038/nn.3907
- Chang, R. S., Tran, V. T., & Snyder, S. H. (1979). Characteristics of histamine H1receptors in peripheral tissues labeled with [3H]mepyramine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 209(3), 437-442.
- Chao, H. T., Chen, H., Samaco, R. C., Xue, M., Chahrour, M., Yoo, J., Neul, J. L., Gong, S., Lu, H. C., Heintz, N., Ekker, M., Rubenstein, J. L., Noebels, J. L., Rosenmund, C., & Zoghbi, H. Y. (2010). Dysfunction in GABA signalling mediates autism-like stereotypies and Rett syndrome phenotypes. *Nature*, 468(7321), 263-269. doi:10.1038/nature09582

- Chen, J. A., Penagarikano, O., Belgard, T. G., Swarup, V., & Geschwind, D. H. (2015). The emerging picture of autism spectrum disorder: genetics and pathology. *Annu Rev Pathol*, 10, 111-144. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25621659. doi:10.1146/annurevpathol-012414-040405
- Chen, N. C., Bedair, H. S., McKay, B., Bowers, M. B., Jr., & Mazure, C. (2001). Clozapine in the treatment of aggression in an adolescent with autistic disorder. *J Clin Psychiatry*, 62(6), 479-480.
- Chen, R., Davis, L. K., Guter, S., Wei, Q., Jacob, S., Potter, M. H., Cox, N. J., Cook, E. H., Sutcliffe, J. S., & Li, B. (2017). Leveraging blood serotonin as an endophenotype to identify de novo and rare variants involved in autism. *Mol Autism*, 8, 1-12. doi:10.1186/s13229-017-0130-3
- Chez, M. G., Aimonovitch, M., Buchanan, T., Mrazek, S., & Tremb, R. J. (2004). Treating autistic spectrum disorders in children: utility of the cholinesterase inhibitor rivastigmine tartrate. *J Child Neurol*, 19(3), 165-169.
- Chez, M. G., Burton, Q., Dowling, T., Chang, M., Khanna, P., & Kramer, C. (2007). Memantine as adjunctive therapy in children diagnosed with autistic spectrum disorders: an observation of initial clinical response and maintenance tolerability. *J Child Neurol*, 22(5), 574-579. doi:10.1177/0883073807302611
- Chez, M. G., Dowling, T., Patel, P. B., Khanna, P., & Kominsky, M. (2007). Elevation of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in cerebrospinal fluid of autistic children. *Pediatr Neurol*, 36(6), 361-365. doi:10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2007.01.012
- Chez, M. G., & Guido-Estrada, N. (2010). Immune therapy in autism: historical experience and future directions with immunomodulatory therapy. *Neurotherapeutics*, 7(3), 293-301. doi:10.1016/j.nurt.2010.05.008
- Chisholm, K., Lin, A., Abu-Akel, A., & Wood, S. J. (2015). The association between autism and schizophrenia spectrum disorders: A review of eight alternate models of co-occurrence. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 55, 173-183. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25956249. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.04.012
- Chomiak, T., Turner, N., & Hu, B. (2013). What We Have Learned about Autism Spectrum Disorder from Valproic Acid. *Patholog Res Int, 2013*, 1-8. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24381784. doi:10.1155/2013/712758
- Christian, S. L., Fantes, J. A., Mewborn, S. K., Huang, B., & Ledbetter, D. H. (1999). Large genomic duplicons map to sites of instability in the Prader-Willi/Angelman syndrome chromosome region (15q11-q13). *Hum Mol Genet*, 8(6), 1025-1037. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10332034.

- Christianson, A. L., Chesler, N., & Kromberg, J. G. (1994). Fetal valproate syndrome: clinical and neuro-developmental features in two sibling pairs. *Dev Med Child Neurol*, 36(4), 361-369. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7512516.
- Chugani, D. C. (2002). Role of altered brain serotonin mechanisms in autism. Mol Psychiatry, 7, S16-17. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12142936. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4001167
- Clarke, R. A., Lee, S., & Eapen, V. (2012). Pathogenetic model for Tourette syndrome delineates overlap with related neurodevelopmental disorders including Autism. *Transl Psychiatry*, 2, 163-175. doi:10.1038/tp.2012.75
- Clifford, S., Dissanayake, C., Bui, Q. M., Huggins, R., Taylor, A. K., & Loesch, D. Z. (2007). Autism spectrum phenotype in males and females with fragile X full mutation and premutation. *J Autism Dev Disord*, 37(4), 738-747. doi:10.1007/s10803-006-0205-z
- Coghlan, S., Horder, J., Inkster, B., Mendez, M. A., Murphy, D. G., & Nutt, D. J. (2012). GABA system dysfunction in autism and related disorders: from synapse to symptoms. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 36(9), 2044-2055. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2012.07.005
- Cohen, O., Erb, C., Ginzberg, D., Pollak, Y., Seidman, S., Shoham, S., Yirmiya, R., & Soreq, H. (2002). Neuronal overexpression of 'readthrough' acetylcholinesterase is associated with antisense-suppressible behavioral impairments. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 7, 874-885. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mp.4001103. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4001103
- Cook, E. H., Jr., Courchesne, R. Y., Cox, N. J., Lord, C., Gonen, D., Guter, S. J., Lincoln, A., Nix, K., Haas, R., Leventhal, B. L., & Courchesne, E. (1998). Linkage-disequilibrium mapping of autistic disorder, with 15q11-13 markers. *Am J Hum Genet*, 62(5), 1077-1083. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9545402. doi:10.1086/301832
- Cook, E. H., Jr., & Scherer, S. W. (2008). Copy-number variations associated with neuropsychiatric conditions. *Nature*, 455(7215), 919-923. doi:10.1038/nature07458
- Coruzzi, G., Pozzoli, C., Adami, M., Grandi, D., Guido, N., Smits, R., de Esch, I., & Leurs, R. (2012). Strain-dependent effects of the histamine H(4) receptor antagonist JNJ7777120 in a murine model of acute skin inflammation. *Exp Dermatol*, 21(1), 32-37. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22151388. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0625.2011.01396.x
- Couture, S. M., Penn, D. L., & Roberts, D. L. (2006). The functional significance of social cognition in schizophrenia: a review. *Schizophr Bull, 32*, S44-63. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbl029

- Crawley, J. N. (2004). Designing mouse behavioral tasks relevant to autistic-like behaviors. *Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev, 10*(4), 248-258. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15666335. doi:10.1002/mrdd.20039
- Dai, H., Kaneko, K., Kato, H., Fujii, S., Jing, Y., Xu, A., Sakurai, E., Kato, M., Okamura, N., Kuramasu, A., & Yanai, K. (2007). Selective cognitive dysfunction in mice lacking histamine H1 and H2 receptors. *Neurosci Res*, 57(2), 306-313.
- Davanzo, P. A., Belin, T. R., Widawski, M. H., & King, B. H. (1998). Paroxetine treatment of aggression and self-injury in persons with mental retardation. Am J Ment Retard, 102(5), 427-437.
- Davidson, P. W., Cory-Slechta, D. A., Thurston, S. W., Huang, L. S., Shamlaye, C. F., Gunzler, D., Watson, G., van Wijngaarden, E., Zareba, G., Klein, J. D., Clarkson, T. W., Strain, J. J., & Myers, G. J. (2011). Fish consumption and prenatal methylmercury exposure: cognitive and behavioral outcomes in the main cohort at 17 years from the Seychelles child development study. *Neurotoxicology*, *32*(6), 711-717. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21889535. doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2011.08.003
- De Almeida, M. A., & Izquierdo, I. (1986). Memory facilitation by histamine. *Arch Int Pharmacodyn Ther*, 283(2), 193-198. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3789882.
- Deckmann, I., Schwingel, G. B., Fontes-Dutra, M., Bambini-Junior, V., & Gottfried, C. (2018). Neuroimmune Alterations in Autism: A Translational Analysis Focusing on the Animal Model of Autism Induced by Prenatal Exposure to Valproic Acid. *Neuroimmunomodulation*, 25(5-6), 285-299. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30157484. doi:10.1159/000492113
- DeLong, G. R., Ritch, C. R., & Burch, S. (2002). Fluoxetine response in children with autistic spectrum disorders: correlation with familial major affective disorder and intellectual achievement. *Dev Med Child Neurol*, 44(10), 652-659.
- DeLorey, T. M., Sahbaie, P., Hashemi, E., Homanics, G. E., & Clark, J. D. (2008). Gabrb3 gene deficient mice exhibit impaired social and exploratory behaviors, deficits in non-selective attention and hypoplasia of cerebellar vermal lobules: a potential model of autism spectrum disorder. *Behav Brain Res, 187*(2), 207-220. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17983671. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2007.09.009
- Depino, A. M. (2013). Peripheral and central inflammation in autism spectrum disorders. *Mol Cell Neurosci*, 53, 69-76. doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2012.10.003

- Depino, A. M., Lucchina, L., & Pitossi, F. (2011). Early and adult hippocampal TGF-beta1 overexpression have opposite effects on behavior. *Brain Behav Immun*, 25(8), 1582-1591. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2011.05.007
- Devor, A., Andreassen, O. A., Wang, Y., Maki-Marttunen, T., Smeland, O. B., Fan, C. C., Schork, A. J., Holland, D., Thompson, W. K., Witoelar, A., Chen, C. H., Desikan, R. S., McEvoy, L. K., Djurovic, S., Greengard, P., Svenningsson, P., Einevoll, G. T., & Dale, A. M. (2017). Genetic evidence for role of integration of fast and slow neurotransmission in schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry*, 22(6), 792-801. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28348379. doi:10.1038/mp.2017.33
- Di Martino, A., Melis, G., Cianchetti, C., & Zuddas, A. (2004). Methylphenidate for pervasive developmental disorders: safety and efficacy of acute single dose test and ongoing therapy: an open-pilot study. *J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol*, 14(2), 207-218. doi:10.1089/1044546041649011
- Dong, H., Zhang, W., Zeng, X., Hu, G., Zhang, H., He, S., & Zhang, S. (2014). Histamine induces upregulated expression of histamine receptors and increases release of inflammatory mediators from microglia. *Mol Neurobiol*, 49(3), 1487-1500. doi:10.1007/s12035-014-8697-6
- Doxakis, E. (2010). Post-transcriptional regulation of alpha-synuclein expression by mir-7 and mir-153. *J Biol Chem*, 285(17), 12726-12734. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20106983. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.086827
- Eissa, N., Al-Houqani, M., Sadeq, A., Ojha, S. K., Sasse, A., & Sadek, B. (2018). Current Enlightenment About Etiology and Pharmacological Treatment of Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, *12*, 304-330. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29867317 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/PMC5964170/. doi:10.3389/fnins.2018.00304
- Eissa, N., Khan, N., Ojha, S. K., Lazewska, D., Kiec-Kononowicz, K., & Sadek, B. (2018). The Histamine H3 Receptor Antagonist DL77 Ameliorates MK801-Induced Memory Deficits in Rats. *Front Neurosci*, 12, 42-52. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29483860. doi:10.3389/fnins.2018.00042
- Elchaar, G. M., Maisch, N. M., Augusto, L. M., & Wehring, H. J. (2006). Efficacy and safety of naltrexone use in pediatric patients with autistic disorder. *Ann Pharmacother*, 40(6), 1086-1095. doi:10.1345/aph.1G499
- Ellenbroek, B. A., August, C., & Youn, J. (2016). Does Prenatal Valproate Interact with a Genetic Reduction in the Serotonin Transporter? A Rat Study on Anxiety and Cognition. *Front Neurosci, 10*, 424. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27708559. doi:10.3389/fnins.2016.00424

- Ellenbroek, B. A., & Ghiabi, B. (2015). Do Histamine receptor 3 antagonists have a place in the therapy for schizophrenia? *Curr Pharm Des*, 21(26), 3760-3770.
- Erb, C., Troost, J., Kopf, S., Schmitt, U., Loffelholz, K., Soreq, H., & Klein, J. (2001). Compensatory mechanisms enhance hippocampal acetylcholine release in transgenic mice expressing human acetylcholinesterase. J Neurochem, 77(2), 638-646. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11299326.
- Ercan-Sencicek, A. G., Stillman, A. A., Ghosh, A. K., Bilguvar, K., O'Roak, B. J., Mason, C. E., Abbott, T., Gupta, A., King, R. A., Pauls, D. L., Tischfield, J. A., Heiman, G. A., Singer, H. S., Gilbert, D. L., Hoekstra, P. J., Morgan, T. M., Loring, E., Yasuno, K., Fernandez, T., Sanders, S., Louvi, A., Cho, J. H., Mane, S., Colangelo, C. M., Biederer, T., Lifton, R. P., Gunel, M., & State, M. W. (2010). L-histidine decarboxylase and Tourette's syndrome. *N Engl J Med*, 362(20), 1901-1908. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0907006
- Ergaz, Z., Weinstein-Fudim, L., & Ornoy, A. (2016). Genetic and non-genetic animal models for autism spectrum disorders (ASD). *Reprod Toxicol*, 64, 116-140. doi:10.1016/j.reprotox.2016.04.024
- Esbenshade, T. A., Browman, K. E., Bitner, R. S., Strakhova, M., Cowart, M. D., & Brioni, J. D. (2008). The histamine H3 receptor: an attractive target for the treatment of cognitive disorders. *Br J Pharmacol*, *154*(6), 1166-1181. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed &dopt=Citation&list_uids=18469850. doi:bjp2008147 [pii] 10.1038/bjp.2008.147
- Falluel-Morel, A., Sokolowski, K., Sisti, H. M., Zhou, X., Shors, T. J., & Dicicco-Bloom, E. (2007). Developmental mercury exposure elicits acute hippocampal cell death, reductions in neurogenesis, and severe learning deficits during puberty. *J Neurochem*, 103(5), 1968-1981. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17760861. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.04882.x
- Fankhauser, M. P., Karumanchi, V. C., German, M. L., Yates, A., & Karumanchi, S. D. (1992). A double-blind, placebo-controlled study of the efficacy of transdermal clonidine in autism. *J Clin Psychiatry*, 53(3), 77-82.
- Fatemi, S. H., Halt, A. R., Stary, J. M., Kanodia, R., Schulz, S. C., & Realmuto, G. R. (2002). Glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 and 67 kDa proteins are reduced in autistic parietal and cerebellar cortices. *Biol Psychiatry*, 52(8), 805-810.
- Fatemi, S. H., Realmuto, G. M., Khan, L., & Thuras, P. (1998). Fluoxetine in treatment of adolescent patients with autism: a longitudinal open trial. J Autism Dev Disord, 28(4), 303-307.
- Fernandez, T. V., Sanders, S. J., Yurkiewicz, I. R., Ercan-Sencicek, A. G., Kim, Y. S., Fishman, D. O., Raubeson, M. J., Song, Y., Yasuno, K., Ho, W. S.,

Bilguvar, K., Glessner, J., Chu, S. H., Leckman, J. F., King, R. A., Gilbert, D. L., Heiman, G. A., Tischfield, J. A., Hoekstra, P. J., Devlin, B., Hakonarson, H., Mane, S. M., Gunel, M., & State, M. W. (2012). Rare copy number variants in tourette syndrome disrupt genes in histaminergic pathways and overlap with autism. *Biol Psychiatry*, *71*(5), 392-402. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.09.034

- Ferreira, R., Santos, T., Goncalves, J., Baltazar, G., Ferreira, L., Agasse, F., & Bernardino, L. (2012). Histamine modulates microglia function. J *Neuroinflammation*, 9, 90-105. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-9-90
- Findling, R. L. (2005). Pharmacologic treatment of behavioral symptoms in autism and pervasive developmental disorders. J Clin Psychiatry, 66 Suppl 10, 26-31.
- Fox, G. B., Esbenshade, T. A., Pan, J. B., Radek, R. J., Krueger, K. M., Yao, B. B., Browman, K. E., Buckley, M. J., Ballard, M. E., Komater, V. A., Miner, H., Zhang, M., Faghih, R., Rueter, L. E., Bitner, R. S., Drescher, K. U., Wetter, J., Marsh, K., Lemaire, M., Porsolt, R. D., Bennani, Y. L., Sullivan, J. P., Cowart, M. D., Decker, M. W., & Hancock, A. A. (2005). Pharmacological properties of ABT-239 [4-(2-{2-[(2R)-2-Methylpyrrolidinyl]ethyl}benzofuran-5-yl)benzonitrile]: II. Neurophysiological characterization and broad preclinical efficacy in cognition and schizophrenia of a potent and selective histamine H3 receptor antagonist. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 313(1), 176-190. doi:10.1124/jpet.104.078402
- Fox, G. B., Pan, J. B., Esbenshade, T. A., Bennani, Y. L., Black, L. A., Faghih, R., Hancock, A. A., & Decker, M. W. (2002). Effects of histamine H(3) receptor ligands GT-2331 and ciproxifan in a repeated acquisition avoidance response in the spontaneously hypertensive rat pup. *Behav Brain Res*, 131(1-2), 151-161. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11844582.
- Fox, G. B., Pan, J. B., Esbenshade, T. A., Bitner, R. S., Nikkel, A. L., Miller, T., Kang, C. H., Bennani, Y. L., Black, L. A., Faghih, R., Hancock, A. A., & Decker, M. W. (2002). Differential in vivo effects of H3 receptor ligands in a new mouse dipsogenia model. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 72(3), 741-750. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12175472.
- Fox, G. B., Pan, J. B., Lewis, A. M., Browman, K. E., Komater, V. A., Buckley, M. J., Curzon, P., Radek, R. J., Faghih, R., Esbenshade, T. A., Cowart, M. D., Decker, M. W., & Hancock, A. A. (2004). Cognition enhancing effects of novel H(3) receptor (H(3)R) antagonists in several animal models. *Inflamm Res, 53 Suppl 1*, S49-50. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15054614. doi:10.1007/s00011-003-0323-4
- Fox, G. B., Pan, J. B., Radek, R. J., Lewis, A. M., Bitner, R. S., Esbenshade, T. A., Faghih, R., Bennani, Y. L., Williams, M., Yao, B. B., Decker, M. W., & Hancock, A. A. (2003). Two novel and selective nonimidazole H3 receptor

antagonists A-304121 and A-317920: II. In vivo behavioral and neurophysiological characterization. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, *305*(3), 897-908. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed &dopt=Citation&list_uids=12606600. doi:10.1124/jpet.102.047241 jpet.102.047241 [pii]

- Fregeac, J., Colleaux, L., & Nguyen, L. S. (2016). The emerging roles of MicroRNAs in autism spectrum disorders. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 71, 729-738. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27793596. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.10.018
- Frick, L., Rapanelli, M., Abbasi, E., Ohtsu, H., & Pittenger, C. (2016). Histamine regulation of microglia: Gene-environment interaction in the regulation of central nervous system inflammation. *Brain Behav Immun*, 57, 326-337. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27381299. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2016.07.002
- Friedman, S. D., Shaw, D. W., Artru, A. A., Dawson, G., Petropoulos, H., & Dager, S. R. (2006). Gray and white matter brain chemistry in young children with autism. Arch Gen Psychiatry, 63(7), 786-794. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.63.7.786
- Gadad, B. S., Hewitson, L., Young, K. A., & German, D. C. (2013). Neuropathology and animal models of autism: genetic and environmental factors. *Autism Res Treat*, 2013, 1-12. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24151553. doi:10.1155/2013/731935
- Galici, R., Boggs, J. D., Aluisio, L., Fraser, I. C., Bonaventure, P., Lord, B., & Lovenberg, T. W. (2009). JNJ-10181457, a selective non-imidazole histamine H(3) receptor antagonist, normalizes acetylcholine neurotransmission and has efficacy in translational rat models of cognition. *Neuropharmacology*, 56(8), 1131-1137. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2009.03.011
- Garay, P. A., Hsiao, E. Y., Patterson, P. H., & McAllister, A. K. (2013). Maternal immune activation causes age- and region-specific changes in brain cytokines in offspring throughout development. *Brain Behav Immun*, 31, 54-68. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22841693. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2012.07.008
- Garbett, K., Ebert, P. J., Mitchell, A., Lintas, C., Manzi, B., Mirnics, K., & Persico, A. M. (2008). Immune transcriptome alterations in the temporal cortex of subjects with autism. *Neurobiol Dis*, 30(3), 303-311. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2008.01.012
- Gardener, H., Spiegelman, D., & Buka, S. L. (2011). Perinatal and neonatal risk factors for autism: a comprehensive meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, 128(2), 344-355. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21746727. doi:10.1542/peds.2010-1036

- Gauthier, J., Siddiqui, T. J., Huashan, P., Yokomaku, D., Hamdan, F. F., Champagne, N., Lapointe, M., Spiegelman, D., Noreau, A., Lafrenière, R. G., Fathalli, F., Joober, R., Krebs, M.-O., DeLisi, L. E., Mottron, L., Fombonne, E., Michaud, J. L., Drapeau, P., Carbonetto, S., Craig, A. M., & Rouleau, G. A. (2011). Truncating mutations in NRXN2 and NRXN1 in autism spectrum disorders and schizophrenia. *Human genetics*, *130*(4), 563-573. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21424692 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3204930/. doi:10.1007/s00439-011-0975-z
- Gemkow, M. J., Davenport, A. J., Harich, S., Ellenbroek, B. A., Cesura, A., & Hallett, D. (2009). The histamine H3 receptor as a therapeutic drug target for CNS disorders. *Drug Discov Today*, 14(9-10), 509-515.
- Geschwind, D. H. (2011). Genetics of autism spectrum disorders. *Trends Cogn Sci*, 15(9), 409-416. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21855394. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2011.07.003
- Gillberg, C., & Billstedt, E. (2000). Autism and Asperger syndrome: coexistence with other clinical disorders. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*, *102*(5), 321-330.
- Gillberg, C., Lundstrom, S., Fernell, E., Nilsson, G., & Neville, B. (2017). Febrile Seizures and Epilepsy: Association With Autism and Other Neurodevelopmental Disorders in the Child and Adolescent Twin Study in Sweden. *Pediatr Neurol*, 74, 80-86. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28754226. doi:10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2017.05.027
- Giza, J., Urbanski, M. J., Prestori, F., Bandyopadhyay, B., Yam, A., Friedrich, V., Kelley, K., D'Angelo, E., & Goldfarb, M. (2010). Behavioral and cerebellar transmission deficits in mice lacking the autism-linked gene islet brain-2. J *Neurosci*, 30(44), 14805-14816. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.1161-10.2010
- Glasson, E. J., Bower, C., Petterson, B., de Klerk, N., Chaney, G., & Hallmayer, J. F. (2004). Perinatal factors and the development of autism: a population study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 61(6), 618-627. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15184241. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.61.6.618
- Gobbi, G., & Pulvirenti, L. (2001). Long-term treatment with clozapine in an adult with autistic disorder accompanied by aggressive behaviour. *J Psychiatry Neurosci*, *26*(4), 340-341.
- Goines, P. E., & Ashwood, P. (2013). Cytokine dysregulation in autism spectrum disorders (ASD): possible role of the environment. *Neurotoxicol Teratol*, 36, 67-81. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22918031. doi:10.1016/j.ntt.2012.07.006

- Gomez-Ramirez, J., Ortiz, J., & Blanco, I. (2002). Presynaptic H3 autoreceptors modulate histamine synthesis through cAMP pathway. *Mol Pharmacol*, *61*(1), 239-245.
- Gondard, E., Anaclet, C., Akaoka, H., Guo, R. X., Zhang, M., Buda, C., Franco, P., Kotani, H., & Lin, J. S. (2013). Enhanced histaminergic neurotransmission and sleep-wake alterations, a study in histamine H3-receptor knock-out mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 38(6), 1015-1031.
- Gordon, C. T., State, R. C., Nelson, J. E., Hamburger, S. D., & Rapoport, J. L. (1993). A double-blind comparison of clomipramine, desipramine, and placebo in the treatment of autistic disorder. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 50(6), 441-447.
- Grandjean, P., Budtz-Jorgensen, E., White, R. F., Jorgensen, P. J., Weihe, P., Debes, F., & Keiding, N. (1999). Methylmercury exposure biomarkers as indicators of neurotoxicity in children aged 7 years. *Am J Epidemiol*, 150(3), 301-305. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10430235.
- Granon, S., Faure, P., & Changeux, J. P. (2003). Executive and social behaviors under nicotinic receptor regulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *100*(16), 9596-9601. doi:10.1073/pnas.1533498100
- Gregor, A., Albrecht, B., Bader, I., Bijlsma, E. K., Ekici, A. B., Engels, H.,
 Hackmann, K., Horn, D., Hoyer, J., Klapecki, J., Kohlhase, J., Maystadt, I.,
 Nagl, S., Prott, E., Tinschert, S., Ullmann, R., Wohlleber, E., Woods, G.,
 Reis, A., Rauch, A., & Zweier, C. (2011). Expanding the clinical spectrum associated with defects in CNTNAP2 and NRXN1. *BMC Med Genet*, *12*, 106-117. doi:10.1186/1471-2350-12-106
- Griebel, G., Pichat, P., Pruniaux, M. P., Beeske, S., Lopez-Grancha, M., Genet, E., Terranova, J. P., Castro, A., Sanchez, J. A., Black, M., Varty, G. B., Weiner, I., Arad, M., Barak, S., De Levie, A., & Guillot, E. (2012). SAR110894, a potent histamine H(3)-receptor antagonist, displays procognitive effects in rodents. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 102(2), 203-214. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2012.04.004
- Griswold, A. J., Ma, D., Cukier, H. N., Nations, L. D., Schmidt, M. A., Chung, R. H., Jaworski, J. M., Salyakina, D., Konidari, I., Whitehead, P. L., Wright, H. H., Abramson, R. K., Williams, S. M., Menon, R., Martin, E. R., Haines, J. L., Gilbert, J. R., Cuccaro, M. L., & Pericak-Vance, M. A. (2012). Evaluation of copy number variations reveals novel candidate genes in autism spectrum disorder-associated pathways. *Hum Mol Genet*, 21(15), 3513-3523. doi:10.1093/hmg/dds164
- Grove, R. A., Harrington, C. M., Mahler, A., Beresford, I., Maruff, P., Lowy, M. T., Nicholls, A. P., Boardley, R. L., Berges, A. C., Nathan, P. J., & Horrigan, J. P. (2014). A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, 16-week study of the H3 receptor antagonist, GSK239512 as a monotherapy in subjects with mild-to-moderate Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Alzheimer Res, 11*(1), 47-58.

- Grozeva, D., Conrad, D. F., Barnes, C. P., Hurles, M., Owen, M. J., O'Donovan, M. C., Craddock, N., Kirov, G., & Wtccc. (2012). Independent estimation of the frequency of rare CNVs in the UK population confirms their role in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res*, 135(1-3), 1-7. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22130109. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2011.11.004
- Guilmatre, A., Dubourg, C., Mosca, A. L., Legallic, S., Goldenberg, A., Drouin-Garraud, V., Layet, V., Rosier, A., Briault, S., Bonnet-Brilhault, F., Laumonnier, F., Odent, S., Le Vacon, G., Joly-Helas, G., David, V., Bendavid, C., Pinoit, J. M., Henry, C., Impallomeni, C., Germano, E., Tortorella, G., Di Rosa, G., Barthelemy, C., Andres, C., Faivre, L., Frebourg, T., Saugier Veber, P., & Campion, D. (2009). Recurrent rearrangements in synaptic and neurodevelopmental genes and shared biologic pathways in schizophrenia, autism, and mental retardation. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, *66*(9), 947-956. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.80
- Guinchat, V., Thorsen, P., Laurent, C., Cans, C., Bodeau, N., & Cohen, D. (2012). Pre-, peri- and neonatal risk factors for autism. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*, 91(3), 287-300. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22085436. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0412.2011.01325.x
- Haas, H. L., Sergeeva, O. A., & Selbach, O. (2008). Histamine in the nervous system. *Physiol Rev*, 88(3), 1183-1241. doi:10.1152/physrev.00043.2007
- Hallmayer, J., Cleveland, S., Torres, A., Phillips, J., Cohen, B., Torigoe, T., Miller, J., Fedele, A., Collins, J., Smith, K., Lotspeich, L., Croen, L. A., Ozonoff, S., Lajonchere, C., Grether, J. K., & Risch, N. (2011). Genetic heritability and shared environmental factors among twin pairs with autism. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 68(11), 1095-1102. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.76
- Hamilton, P. J., Campbell, N. G., Sharma, S., Erreger, K., Herborg Hansen, F., Saunders, C., Belovich, A. N., Sahai, M. A., Cook, E. H., Gether, U., McHaourab, H. S., Matthies, H. J., Sutcliffe, J. S., & Galli, A. (2013). De novo mutation in the dopamine transporter gene associates dopamine dysfunction with autism spectrum disorder. *Mol Psychiatry*, 18(12), 1315-1323. doi:10.1038/mp.2013.102
- Handen, B. L., Johnson, C. R., & Lubetsky, M. (2000). Efficacy of methylphenidate among children with autism and symptoms of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. *J Autism Dev Disord*, *30*(3), 245-255.
- Hanson, E., Kalish, L. A., Bunce, E., Curtis, C., McDaniel, S., Ware, J., & Petry, J. (2007). Use of complementary and alternative medicine among children diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder. *J Autism Dev Disord*, 37(4), 628-636. doi:10.1007/s10803-006-0192-0
- Hara, Y., Ago, Y., Taruta, A., Hasebe, S., Kawase, H., Tanabe, W., Tsukada, S., Nakazawa, T., Hashimoto, H., Matsuda, T., & Takuma, K. (2017).

Risperidone and aripiprazole alleviate prenatal valproic acid-induced abnormalities in behaviors and dendritic spine density in mice. *Psychopharmacology*, 234(21), 3217-3228. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28798977. doi:10.1007/s00213-017-4703-9

- Hardan, A. Y., & Handen, B. L. (2002). A retrospective open trial of adjunctive donepezil in children and adolescents with autistic disorder. *J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol*, *12*(3), 237-241. doi:10.1089/104454602760386923
- Heatherton, T. F., & Wagner, D. D. (2011). Cognitive Neuroscience of Self-Regulation Failure. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, 15(3), 132-139. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3062191/. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2010.12.005
- Hegstrand, L. R., Kanof, P. D., & Greengard, P. (1976). Histamine-sensitive adenylate cyclase in mammalian brain. *Nature*, 260(5547), 163-165.
- Hellings, J. A., Arnold, L. E., & Han, J. C. (2017). Dopamine antagonists for treatment resistance in autism spectrum disorders: review and focus on BDNF stimulators loxapine and amitriptyline. *Expert Opin Pharmacother*, 18(6), 581-588. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28335658. doi:10.1080/14656566.2017.1308483
- Hellings, J. A., Kelley, L. A., Gabrielli, W. F., Kilgore, E., & Shah, P. (1996). Sertraline response in adults with mental retardation and autistic disorder. J *Clin Psychiatry*, 57(8), 333-336.
- Hellings, J. A., Reed, G., Cain, S. E., Zhou, X., Barth, F. X., Aman, M. G.,
 Palaguachi, G. I., Mikhnev, D., Teng, R., Andridge, R., Logan, M., Butler,
 M. G., & Han, J. C. (2015). Loxapine add-on for adolescents and adults with autism spectrum disorders and irritability. *J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol*, 25(2), 150-159. Retrieved from
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25782098. doi:10.1089/cap.2014.0003
- Hellmer, K., & Nystrom, P. (2017). Infant acetylcholine, dopamine, and melatonin dysregulation: Neonatal biomarkers and causal factors for ASD and ADHD phenotypes. *Med Hypotheses*, 100, 64-66. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28236851. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2017.01.015
- Hendriksen, J. G., Klinkenberg, S., Collin, P., Wong, B., Niks, E. H., & Vles, J. S. (2016). Diagnosis and treatment of obsessive compulsive behavior in a boy with Duchenne muscular dystrophy and autism spectrum disorder: A case report. *Neuromuscul Disord*, 26(10), 659-661. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27612598. doi:10.1016/j.nmd.2016.08.003

Heo, Y., Zhang, Y., Gao, D., Miller, V. M., & Lawrence, D. A. (2011). Aberrant immune responses in a mouse with behavioral disorders. *PLoS One*, 6(7), 20912-20927. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21799730. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0020912

- Hettinger, J. A., Liu, X., Schwartz, C. E., Michaelis, R. C., & Holden, J. J. (2008). A DRD1 haplotype is associated with risk for autism spectrum disorders in male-only affected sib-pair families. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet*, 147b(5), 628-636. doi:10.1002/ajmg.b.30655
- Heyser, C. J., Masliah, E., Samimi, A., Campbell, I. L., & Gold, L. H. (1997).
 Progressive decline in avoidance learning paralleled by inflammatory neurodegeneration in transgenic mice expressing interleukin 6 in the brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94(4), 1500-1505. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9037082.
- Hill, S. J. (1990). Distribution, properties, and functional characteristics of three classes of histamine receptor. *Pharmacol Rev*, 42(1), 45-83.
- Hill, S. J., Ganellin, C. R., Timmerman, H., Schwartz, J. C., Shankley, N. P., Young, J. M., Schunack, W., Levi, R., & Haas, H. L. (1997). International Union of Pharmacology. XIII. Classification of histamine receptors. *Pharmacol Rev*, 49(3), 253-278.
- Hill, S. J., & Young, J. M. (1978). Evidence for the presence of histamine H1receptors in guinea-pig brain [proceedings]. *Br J Pharmacol*, 63(2), 394-395.
- Hirsch, L. E., & Pringsheim, T. (2016). Aripiprazole for autism spectrum disorders (ASD). Cochrane Database Syst Rev, (6), 1-60. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD009043.pub3
- Hogart, A., Nagarajan, R. P., Patzel, K. A., Yasui, D. H., & Lasalle, J. M. (2007). 15q11-13 GABAA receptor genes are normally biallelically expressed in brain yet are subject to epigenetic dysregulation in autism-spectrum disorders. *Hum Mol Genet*, 16(6), 691-703. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddm014
- Hogart, A., Wu, D., LaSalle, J. M., & Schanen, N. C. (2010). The comorbidity of autism with the genomic disorders of chromosome 15q11.2-q13. *Neurobiol Dis*, 38(2), 181-191. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18840528. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2008.08.011
- Hollander, E., Chaplin, W., Soorya, L., Wasserman, S., Novotny, S., Rusoff, J., Feirsen, N., Pepa, L., & Anagnostou, E. (2010). Divalproex sodium vs placebo for the treatment of irritability in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 35(4), 990-998. doi:10.1038/npp.2009.202

- Hollander, E., Phillips, A., Chaplin, W., Zagursky, K., Novotny, S., Wasserman, S., & Iyengar, R. (2005). A placebo controlled crossover trial of liquid fluoxetine on repetitive behaviors in childhood and adolescent autism. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 30(3), 582-589. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1300627
- Hollander, E., Soorya, L., Wasserman, S., Esposito, K., Chaplin, W., & Anagnostou, E. (2006). Divalproex sodium vs. placebo in the treatment of repetitive behaviours in autism spectrum disorder. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, 9(2), 209-213. doi:10.1017/s1461145705005791
- Hong, M., Lee, S. Y., Han, J., Park, J. C., Lee, Y. J., Hwangbo, R., Chang, H., Cho, S. W., Bhang, S. Y., Kim, B., Hwang, J. W., & Bahn, G. H. (2017). Prescription Trends of Psychotropics in Children and Adolescents with Autism Based on Nationwide Health Insurance Data. *J Korean Med Sci*, 32(10), 1687-1693. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28875615. doi:10.3346/jkms.2017.32.10.1687
- Howes, O. D., Rogdaki, M., Findon, J. L., Wichers, R. H., Charman, T., King, B. H., Loth, E., McAlonan, G. M., McCracken, J. T., Parr, J. R., Povey, C., Santosh, P., Wallace, S., Simonoff, E., & Murphy, D. G. (2018). Autism spectrum disorder: Consensus guidelines on assessment, treatment and research from the British Association for Psychopharmacology. *J Psychopharmacol*, 32(1), 3-29. doi:10.1177/0269881117741766
- Hsiao, E. Y., McBride, S. W., Chow, J., Mazmanian, S. K., & Patterson, P. H. (2012). Modeling an autism risk factor in mice leads to permanent immune dysregulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109(31), 12776-12781. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22802640. doi:10.1073/pnas.1202556109
- Hsieh, G. C., Chandran, P., Salyers, A. K., Pai, M., Zhu, C. Z., Wensink, E. J., Witte, D. G., Miller, T. R., Mikusa, J. P., Baker, S. J., Wetter, J. M., Marsh, K. C., Hancock, A. A., Cowart, M. D., Esbenshade, T. A., Brioni, J. D., & Honore, P. (2010). H4 receptor antagonism exhibits anti-nociceptive effects in inflammatory and neuropathic pain models in rats. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 95(1), 41-50. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed &dopt=Citation&list_uids=20004681. doi:S0091-3057(09)00345-1 [pii] 10.1016/j.pbb.2009.12.004
- Hsieh, J., & Gage, F. H. (2004). Epigenetic control of neural stem cell fate. *Curr Opin Genet Dev*, 14(5), 461-469. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15380235. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2004.07.006
- Hsieh, J., & Gage, F. H. (2005). Chromatin remodeling in neural development and plasticity. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, *17*(6), 664-671. Retrieved from

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16226449. doi:10.1016/j.ceb.2005.09.002

- Hu, W., & Chen, Z. (2017). The roles of histamine and its receptor ligands in central nervous system disorders: An update. *Pharmacol Ther*, 175, 116-132. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28223162. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2017.02.039
- Hu, Y., Ehli, E. A., & Boomsma, D. I. (2017). MicroRNAs as biomarkers for psychiatric disorders with a focus on autism spectrum disorder: Current progress in genetic association studies, expression profiling, and translational research. *Autism Res*, 10(7), 1184-1203. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28419777. doi:10.1002/aur.1789
- Huang, Z. L., Mochizuki, T., Qu, W. M., Hong, Z. Y., Watanabe, T., Urade, Y., & Hayaishi, O. (2006). Altered sleep-wake characteristics and lack of arousal response to H3 receptor antagonist in histamine H1 receptor knockout mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103(12), 4687-4692.
- Hulbert, S. W., & Jiang, Y. H. (2016). Monogenic mouse models of autism spectrum disorders: Common mechanisms and missing links. *Neuroscience*, 321, 3-23. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26733386. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.12.040
- Hviid, A., Stellfeld, M., Wohlfahrt, J., & Melbye, M. (2003). Association between thimerosal-containing vaccine and autism. JAMA, 290(13), 1763-1766. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14519711. doi:10.1001/jama.290.13.1763
- Iida, T., Yoshikawa, T., Karpati, A., Matsuzawa, T., Kitano, H., Mogi, A., Harada, R., Naganuma, F., Nakamura, T., & Yanai, K. (2017). JNJ10181457, a histamine H3 receptor inverse agonist, regulates in vivo microglial functions and improves depression-like behaviours in mice. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 488*(3), 534-540. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28526411. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.05.081
- Ikeda, M., Aleksic, B., Kirov, G., Kinoshita, Y., Yamanouchi, Y., Kitajima, T., Kawashima, K., Okochi, T., Kishi, T., Zaharieva, I., Owen, M. J., O'Donovan, M. C., Ozaki, N., & Iwata, N. (2010). Copy number variation in schizophrenia in the Japanese population. *Biol Psychiatry*, 67(3), 283-286. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.08.034
- Jadidi-Niaragh, F., & Mirshafiey, A. (2010). Histamine and histamine receptors in pathogenesis and treatment of multiple sclerosis. *Neuropharmacology*, 59(3), 180-189. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20493888. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2010.05.005
- Jahromi, L. B., Kasari, C. L., McCracken, J. T., Lee, L. S., Aman, M. G., McDougle, C. J., Scahill, L., Tierney, E., Arnold, L. E., Vitiello, B., Ritz, L., Witwer, A.,

Kustan, E., Ghuman, J., & Posey, D. J. (2009). Positive effects of methylphenidate on social communication and self-regulation in children with pervasive developmental disorders and hyperactivity. *J Autism Dev Disord*, *39*(3), 395-404. doi:10.1007/s10803-008-0636-9

- Jamain, S., Betancur, C., Quach, H., Philippe, A., Fellous, M., Giros, B., Gillberg, C., Leboyer, M., & Bourgeron, T. (2002). Linkage and association of the glutamate receptor 6 gene with autism. *Mol Psychiatry*, 7(3), 302-310. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4000979
- James, S. J., Melnyk, S., Fuchs, G., Reid, T., Jernigan, S., Pavliv, O., Hubanks, A., & Gaylor, D. W. (2009). Efficacy of methylcobalamin and folinic acid treatment on glutathione redox status in children with autism. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 89(1), 425-430. doi:10.3945/ajcn.2008.26615
- Javed, H., Azimullah, S., Abul Khair, S. B., Ojha, S., & Haque, M. E. (2016). Neuroprotective effect of nerolidol against neuroinflammation and oxidative stress induced by rotenone. *BMC Neurosci*, 17(1), 58-69. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27549180. doi:10.1186/s12868-016-0293-4
- Javed, H., Azimullah, S., Haque, M. E., & Ojha, S. K. (2016). Cannabinoid Type 2 (CB2) Receptors Activation Protects against Oxidative Stress and Neuroinflammation Associated Dopaminergic Neurodegeneration in Rotenone Model of Parkinson's Disease. *Front Neurosci, 10*, 1-14. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27531971. doi:10.3389/fnins.2016.00321
- Jessberger, S., Nakashima, K., Clemenson, G. D., Jr., Mejia, E., Mathews, E., Ure, K., Ogawa, S., Sinton, C. M., Gage, F. H., & Hsieh, J. (2007). Epigenetic modulation of seizure-induced neurogenesis and cognitive decline. J *Neurosci*, 27(22), 5967-5975. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17537967. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0110-07.2007
- Jobski, K., Hofer, J., Hoffmann, F., & Bachmann, C. (2017). Use of psychotropic drugs in patients with autism spectrum disorders: a systematic review. Acta Psychiatr Scand, 135(1), 8-28. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27624381. doi:10.1111/acps.12644
- Jokiranta, E., Sourander, A., Suominen, A., Timonen-Soivio, L., Brown, A. S., & Sillanpaa, M. (2014). Epilepsy among children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorders: a population-based study. *J Autism Dev Disord*, 44(10), 2547-2557. doi:10.1007/s10803-014-2126-6
- Jutel, M., Blaser, K., & Akdis, C. A. (2005). Histamine in allergic inflammation and immune modulation. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol*, 137(1), 82-92. doi:10.1159/000085108

- Karagiannidis, I., Dehning, S., Sandor, P., Tarnok, Z., Rizzo, R., Wolanczyk, T., Madruga-Garrido, M., Hebebrand, J., Nothen, M. M., Lehmkuhl, G., Farkas, L., Nagy, P., Szymanska, U., Anastasiou, Z., Stathias, V., Androutsos, C., Tsironi, V., Koumoula, A., Barta, C., Zill, P., Mir, P., Muller, N., Barr, C., & Paschou, P. (2013). Support of the histaminergic hypothesis in Tourette syndrome: association of the histamine decarboxylase gene in a large sample of families. *J Med Genet*, *50*(11), 760-764. doi:10.1136/jmedgenet-2013-101637
- Karlstedt, K., Jin, C., & Panula, P. (2013). Expression of histamine receptor Hrh3 and Hrh4 in rat brain endothelial cells. *Br J Pharmacol*, *170*(1), 58-66.
- Karvat, G., & Kimchi, T. (2014). Acetylcholine elevation relieves cognitive rigidity and social deficiency in a mouse model of autism. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 39(4), 831-840. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24096295. doi:10.1038/npp.2013.274
- Kasteleijn-Nolst Trenite, D., Parain, D., Genton, P., Masnou, P., Schwartz, J. C., & Hirsch, E. (2013). Efficacy of the histamine 3 receptor (H3R) antagonist pitolisant (formerly known as tiprolisant; BF2.649) in epilepsy: dosedependent effects in the human photosensitivity model. *Epilepsy Behav*, 28(1), 66-70. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2013.03.018
- Kataoka, S., Takuma, K., Hara, Y., Maeda, Y., Ago, Y., & Matsuda, T. (2013). Autism-like behaviours with transient histone hyperacetylation in mice treated prenatally with valproic acid. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, *16*(1), 91-103. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22093185. doi:10.1017/S1461145711001714
- Kazdoba, T. M., Leach, P. T., Yang, M., Silverman, J. L., Solomon, M., & Crawley, J. N. (2016). Translational Mouse Models of Autism: Advancing Toward Pharmacological Therapeutics. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci*, 28, 1-52. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27305922. doi:10.1007/7854_2015_5003
- Kemper, T. L., & Bauman, M. (1998). Neuropathology of infantile autism. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 57(7), 645-652.
- Kern, J. K., Geier, D. A., Sykes, L. K., & Geier, M. R. (2015). Relevance of Neuroinflammation and Encephalitis in Autism. *Front Cell Neurosci*, 9, 1-10. doi:10.3389/fncel.2015.00519
- Kern, J. K., & Jones, A. M. (2006). Evidence of toxicity, oxidative stress, and neuronal insult in autism. *J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev*, 9(6), 485-499. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17090484. doi:10.1080/10937400600882079
- Kim, H. J., Cho, M. H., Shim, W. H., Kim, J. K., Jeon, E. Y., Kim, D. H., & Yoon, S. Y. (2017). Deficient autophagy in microglia impairs synaptic pruning and causes social behavioral defects. *Mol Psychiatry*, 22(11), 1576-1584.

Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27400854. doi:10.1038/mp.2016.103

- Kim, J. W., Seung, H., Kwon, K. J., Ko, M. J., Lee, E. J., Oh, H. A., Choi, C. S., Kim, K. C., Gonzales, E. L., You, J. S., Choi, D. H., Lee, J., Han, S. H., Yang, S. M., Cheong, J. H., Shin, C. Y., & Bahn, G. H. (2014). Subchronic treatment of donepezil rescues impaired social, hyperactive, and stereotypic behavior in valproic acid-induced animal model of autism. *PLoS One*, *9*(8), 104927-104938. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25133713. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0104927
- Kim, S. J., Shonka, S., French, W. P., Strickland, J., Miller, L., & Stein, M. A. (2017). Dose-Response Effects of Long-Acting Liquid Methylphenidate in Children with Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD): A Pilot Study. *J Autism Dev Disord*, 47(8), 2307-2313. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28474229. doi:10.1007/s10803-017-3125-1
- King, B. H., Wright, D. M., Handen, B. L., Sikich, L., Zimmerman, A. W., McMahon, W., Cantwell, E., Davanzo, P. A., Dourish, C. T., Dykens, E. M., Hooper, S. R., Jaselskis, C. A., Leventhal, B. L., Levitt, J., Lord, C., Lubetsky, M. J., Myers, S. M., Ozonoff, S., Shah, B. G., Snape, M., Shernoff, E. W., Williamson, K., & Cook, E. H., Jr. (2001). Double-blind, placebocontrolled study of amantadine hydrochloride in the treatment of children with autistic disorder. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 40(6), 658-665. doi:10.1097/00004583-200106000-00010
- Knight, S. J., Regan, R., Nicod, A., Horsley, S. W., Kearney, L., Homfray, T., Winter, R. M., Bolton, P., & Flint, J. (1999). Subtle chromosomal rearrangements in children with unexplained mental retardation. *Lancet*, 354(9191), 1676-1681. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10568569. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(99)03070-6
- Kolevzon, A., Gross, R., & Reichenberg, A. (2007). Prenatal and perinatal risk factors for autism: a review and integration of findings. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med, 161(4), 326-333. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17404128. doi:10.1001/archpedi.161.4.326
- Kolmen, B. K., Feldman, H. M., Handen, B. L., & Janosky, J. E. (1995). Naltrexone in young autistic children: a double-blind, placebo-controlled crossover study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry, 34(2), 223-231. doi:10.1097/00004583-199502000-00018
- Kong, A., Frigge, M. L., Masson, G., Besenbacher, S., Sulem, P., Magnusson, G.,
 Gudjonsson, S. A., Sigurdsson, A., Jonasdottir, A., Jonasdottir, A., Wong, W.
 S., Sigurdsson, G., Walters, G. B., Steinberg, S., Helgason, H., Thorleifsson,

G., Gudbjartsson, D. F., Helgason, A., Magnusson, O. T., Thorsteinsdottir, U., & Stefansson, K. (2012). Rate of de novo mutations and the importance of father's age to disease risk. *Nature, 488*(7412), 471-475. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22914163. doi:10.1038/nature11396

- Konstantareas, M. M., & Hewitt, T. (2001). Autistic disorder and schizophrenia: diagnostic overlaps. *J Autism Dev Disord*, *31*(1), 19-28.
- Koyama, R., & Ikegaya, Y. (2015). Microglia in the pathogenesis of autism spectrum disorders. *Neurosci Res, 100*, 1-5. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26116891. doi:10.1016/j.neures.2015.06.005
- Koziol, L. F., Budding, D., Andreasen, N., D'Arrigo, S., Bulgheroni, S., Imamizu, H., Ito, M., Manto, M., Marvel, C., Parker, K., Pezzulo, G., Ramnani, N., Riva, D., Schmahmann, J., Vandervert, L., & Yamazaki, T. (2014). Consensus paper: the cerebellum's role in movement and cognition. *Cerebellum*, *13*(1), 151-177. doi:10.1007/s12311-013-0511-x
- Kuder, K., Łażewska, D., Latacz, G., Schwed, J. S., Karcz, T., Stark, H., Karolak-Wojciechowska, J., & Kieć-Kononowicz, K. (2016). Chlorophenoxy aminoalkyl derivatives as histamine H3R ligands and antiseizure agents. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry*, 24(2), 53-72. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0968089615301450. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc.2015.11.021
- Kumar, B., Prakash, A., Sewal, R. K., Medhi, B., & Modi, M. (2012). Drug therapy in autism: a present and future perspective. *Pharmacol Rep*, 64(6), 1291-1304. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23406740.
- Kurtis, L. B. (1966). Clinical study of the response to nortriptyline on autistic children. *Int J Neuropsychiatry*, 2(4), 298-301.
- LaSalle, J. M., Reiter, L. T., & Chamberlain, S. J. (2015). Epigenetic regulation of UBE3A and roles in human neurodevelopmental disorders. *Epigenomics*, 7(7), 1213-1228. doi:10.2217/epi.15.70
- Lazewska, D., Jonczyk, J., Bajda, M., Szalaj, N., Wieckowska, A., Panek, D., Moore, C., Kuder, K., Malawska, B., & Kiec-Kononowicz, K. (2016). Cholinesterase inhibitory activity of chlorophenoxy derivatives-Histamine H3 receptor ligands. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett*, 26(16), 4140-4145. doi:10.1016/j.bmcl.2016.04.054
- Lazewska, D., Ligneau, X., Schwartz, J. C., Schunack, W., Stark, H., & Kiec-Kononowicz, K. (2006). Ether derivatives of 3-piperidinopropan-1-ol as nonimidazole histamine H3 receptor antagonists. *Bioorg Med Chem*, 14(10), 3522-3529. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16466921. doi:10.1016/j.bmc.2006.01.013

- Leblond, C. S., Heinrich, J., Delorme, R., Proepper, C., Betancur, C., Huguet, G., Konyukh, M., Chaste, P., Ey, E., Rastam, M., Anckarsater, H., Nygren, G., Gillberg, I. C., Melke, J., Toro, R., Regnault, B., Fauchereau, F., Mercati, O., Lemiere, N., Skuse, D., Poot, M., Holt, R., Monaco, A. P., Jarvela, I., Kantojarvi, K., Vanhala, R., Curran, S., Collier, D. A., Bolton, P., Chiocchetti, A., Klauck, S. M., Poustka, F., Freitag, C. M., Waltes, R., Kopp, M., Duketis, E., Bacchelli, E., Minopoli, F., Ruta, L., Battaglia, A., Mazzone, L., Maestrini, E., Sequeira, A. F., Oliveira, B., Vicente, A., Oliveira, G., Pinto, D., Scherer, S. W., Zelenika, D., Delepine, M., Lathrop, M., Bonneau, D., Guinchat, V., Devillard, F., Assouline, B., Mouren, M. C., Leboyer, M., Gillberg, C., Boeckers, T. M., & Bourgeron, T. (2012). Genetic and functional analyses of SHANK2 mutations suggest a multiple hit model of autism spectrum disorders. *PLoS Genet*, 8(2), 1002521-1002537. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1002521
- Lee, J., Kim, B. H., Kim, E., Howes, O. D., Cho, K. I. K., Yoon, Y. B., & Kwon, J. S. (2018). Higher serotonin transporter availability in early-onset obsessive-compulsive disorder patients undergoing escitalopram treatment: A [¹¹ C]DASB PET study. *Hum Psychopharmacol*, 33(1), 1-6. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29210107. doi:10.1002/hup.2642
- Lee, Y., Kim, H., Kim, J. E., Park, J. Y., Choi, J., Lee, J. E., Lee, E. H., & Han, P. L. (2017). Excessive D1 Dopamine Receptor Activation in the Dorsal Striatum Promotes Autistic-Like Behaviors. *Mol Neurobiol*, 55(7), 5658-5671. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29027111. doi:10.1007/s12035-017-0770-5
- Lejeune, J., Gautier, M., & Turpin, R. (1959). [Study of somatic chromosomes from 9 mongoloid children]. *C R Hebd Seances Acad Sci*, 248(11), 1721-1722. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/13639368.
- Levisohn, P. M. (2007). The autism-epilepsy connection. *Epilepsia*, 48, 33-35. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18047599. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2007.01399.x
- Li, B., Zhu, J. N., & Wang, J. J. (2014). Histaminergic afferent system in the cerebellum: structure and function. *Cerebellum Ataxias*, 1, 5-13. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26331029. doi:10.1186/2053-8871-1-5
- Li, X., Chauhan, A., Sheikh, A. M., Patil, S., Chauhan, V., Li, X. M., Ji, L., Brown, T., & Malik, M. (2009). Elevated immune response in the brain of autistic patients. *J Neuroimmunol*, 207(1-2), 111-116. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2008.12.002
- Libbey, J. E., Sweeten, T. L., McMahon, W. M., & Fujinami, R. S. (2005). Autistic disorder and viral infections. *J Neurovirol*, 11(1), 1-10. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15804954. doi:10.1080/13550280590900553

- Ligneau, X., Lin, J., Vanni-Mercier, G., Jouvet, M., Muir, J. L., Ganellin, C. R., Stark, H., Elz, S., Schunack, W., & Schwartz, J. (1998). Neurochemical and behavioral effects of ciproxifan, a potent histamine H3-receptor antagonist. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 287(2), 658-666.
- Linday, L. A., Tsiouris, J. A., Cohen, I. L., Shindledecker, R., & DeCresce, R. (2001). Famotidine treatment of children with autistic spectrum disorders: pilot research using single subject research design. *J Neural Transm* (*Vienna*), 108(5), 593-611. doi:10.1007/s007020170059
- Lord, C., Cook, E. H., Leventhal, B. L., & Amaral, D. G. (2000). Autism spectrum disorders. *Neuron*, 28(2), 355-363. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11144346.
- Lovenberg, T. W., Roland, B. L., Wilson, S. J., Jiang, X., Pyati, J., Huvar, A., Jackson, M. R., & Erlander, M. G. (1999). Cloning and functional expression of the human histamine H3 receptor. *Mol Pharmacol*, 55(6), 1101-1107.
- Lucchina, L., & Depino, A. M. (2014). Altered peripheral and central inflammatory responses in a mouse model of autism. *Autism Res*, 7(2), 273-289. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24124122. doi:10.1002/aur.1338
- Lucki, I., Dalvi, A., & Mayorga, A. J. (2001). Sensitivity to the effects of pharmacologically selective antidepressants in different strains of mice. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 155(3), 315-322.
- Lyman, M., Lloyd, D. G., Ji, X., Vizcaychipi, M. P., & Ma, D. (2014). Neuroinflammation: the role and consequences. *Neurosci Res*, 79, 1-12. doi:10.1016/j.neures.2013.10.004
- Mabunga, D. F., Gonzales, E. L., Kim, J. W., Kim, K. C., & Shin, C. Y. (2015). Exploring the Validity of Valproic Acid Animal Model of Autism. *Exp Neurobiol*, 24(4), 285-300. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26713077. doi:10.5607/en.2015.24.4.285
- Mahmood, D., Khanam, R., Pillai, K. K., & Akhtar, M. (2012a). Protective effects of histamine H3-receptor ligands in schizophrenic behaviors in experimental models. *Pharmacol Rep*, 64(1), 191-204. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22580536.
- Mahmood, D., Khanam, R., Pillai, K. K., & Akhtar, M. (2012b). Reversal of oxidative stress by histamine H(3) receptor-ligands in experimental models of schizophrenia. *Arzneimittelforschung*, 62(5), 222-229. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22331799. doi:10.1055/s-0031-1301326
- Mani, V., Jaafar, S. M., Azahan, N. S. M., Ramasamy, K., Lim, S. M., Ming, L. C., & Majeed, A. B. A. (2017). Ciproxifan improves cholinergic transmission, attenuates neuroinflammation and oxidative stress but does not reduce

amyloid level in transgenic mice. *Life Sci, 180*, 23-35. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2017.05.013

- Maramara, L. A., He, W., & Ming, X. (2014). Pre- and perinatal risk factors for autism spectrum disorder in a New Jersey cohort. *J Child Neurol*, 29(12), 1645-1651. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24413357. doi:10.1177/0883073813512899
- Marcus, R. N., Owen, R., Kamen, L., Manos, G., McQuade, R. D., Carson, W. H., & Aman, M. G. (2009). A placebo-controlled, fixed-dose study of aripiprazole in children and adolescents with irritability associated with autistic disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry, 48(11), 1110-1119. doi:10.1097/CHI.0b013e3181b76658
- Mariottini, C., Scartabelli, T., Bongers, G., Arrigucci, S., Nosi, D., Leurs, R., Chiarugi, A., Blandina, P., Pellegrini-Giampietro, D. E., & Passani, M. B. (2009). Activation of the histaminergic H3 receptor induces phosphorylation of the Akt/GSK-3 beta pathway in cultured cortical neurons and protects against neurotoxic insults. *J Neurochem*, 110(5), 1469-1478.
- Martin, A., Koenig, K., Anderson, G. M., & Scahill, L. (2003). Low-dose fluvoxamine treatment of children and adolescents with pervasive developmental disorders: a prospective, open-label study. *J Autism Dev Disord*, 33(1), 77-85.
- Martin, L. A., Goldowitz, D., & Mittleman, G. (2010). Repetitive behavior and increased activity in mice with Purkinje cell loss: a model for understanding the role of cerebellar pathology in autism. *Eur J Neurosci*, *31*(3), 544-555. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20105240. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009.07073.x
- Martinez-Mir, M. I., Pollard, H., Moreau, J., Arrang, J. M., Ruat, M., Traiffort, E., Schwartz, J. C., & Palacios, J. M. (1990). Three histamine receptors (H1, H2 and H3) visualized in the brain of human and non-human primates. *Brain Res*, 526(2), 322-327.
- Martino, D., & Hedderly, T. (2019). Tics and stereotypies: A comparative clinical review. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 59, 117-124. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2019.02.005
- Masi, A., DeMayo, M. M., Glozier, N., & Guastella, A. J. (2017). An Overview of Autism Spectrum Disorder, Heterogeneity and Treatment Options. *Neuroscience bulletin*, 33(2), 183-193. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28213805
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/PMC5360849/. doi:10.1007/s12264-017-0100-y
- Masuoka, T., & Kamei, C. (2007). Role of hippocampal H1 receptors in radial maze performance and hippocampal theta activity in rats. *Brain Res Bull*, 73(4-6). 231-237.

- Matson, J. L., Sipes, M., Fodstad, J. C., & Fitzgerald, M. E. (2011). Issues in the management of challenging behaviours of adults with autism spectrum disorder. *CNS Drugs*, 25(7), 597-606. doi:10.2165/11591700-000000000-00000
- McCarthy, S. E., Makarov, V., Kirov, G., Addington, A. M., McClellan, J., Yoon, S., Perkins, D. O., Dickel, D. E., Kusenda, M., Krastoshevsky, O., Krause, V., Kumar, R. A., Grozeva, D., Malhotra, D., Walsh, T., Zackai, E. H., Kaplan, P., Ganesh, J., Krantz, I. D., Spinner, N. B., Roccanova, P., Bhandari, A., Pavon, K., Lakshmi, B., Leotta, A., Kendall, J., Lee, Y. H., Vacic, V., Gary, S., Iakoucheva, L. M., Crow, T. J., Christian, S. L., Lieberman, J. A., Stroup, T. S., Lehtimaki, T., Puura, K., Haldeman-Englert, C., Pearl, J., Goodell, M., Willour, V. L., Derosse, P., Steele, J., Kassem, L., Wolff, J., Chitkara, N., McMahon, F. J., Malhotra, A. K., Potash, J. B., Schulze, T. G., Nothen, M. M., Cichon, S., Rietschel, M., Leibenluft, E., Kustanovich, V., Lajonchere, C. M., Sutcliffe, J. S., Skuse, D., Gill, M., Gallagher, L., Mendell, N. R., Craddock, N., Owen, M. J., O'Donovan, M. C., Shaikh, T. H., Susser, E., Delisi, L. E., Sullivan, P. F., Deutsch, C. K., Rapoport, J., Levy, D. L., King, M. C., & Sebat, J. (2009). Microduplications of 16p11.2 are associated with schizophrenia. *Nat Genet*, *41*(11), 1223-1227. doi:10.1038/ng.474
- McCloy, R. A., Rogers, S., Caldon, C. E., Lorca, T., Castro, A., & Burgess, A. (2014). Partial inhibition of Cdk1 in G 2 phase overrides the SAC and decouples mitotic events. *Cell Cycle*, 13(9), 1400-1412. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24626186. doi:10.4161/cc.28401
- McConville, B. J., Sanberg, P. R., Fogelson, M. H., King, J., Cirino, P., Parker, K. W., & Norman, A. B. (1992). The effects of nicotine plus haloperidol compared to nicotine only and placebo nicotine only in reducing tic severity and frequency in Tourette's disorder. *Biol Psychiatry*, 31(8), 832-840.
- McCool, M. F., Patel, S., Talati, R., & Ragozzino, M. E. (2008). Differential involvement of M1-type and M4-type muscarinic cholinergic receptors in the dorsomedial striatum in task switching. *Neurobiol Learn Mem*, 89(2), 114-124. doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2007.06.005
- McCracken, J. T., McGough, J., Shah, B., Cronin, P., Hong, D., Aman, M. G., Arnold, L. E., Lindsay, R., Nash, P., Hollway, J., McDougle, C. J., Posey, D., Swiezy, N., Kohn, A., Scahill, L., Martin, A., Koenig, K., Volkmar, F., Carroll, D., Lancor, A., Tierney, E., Ghuman, J., Gonzalez, N. M., Grados, M., Vitiello, B., Ritz, L., Davies, M., Robinson, J., & McMahon, D. (2002). Risperidone in children with autism and serious behavioral problems. *N Engl J Med*, 347(5), 314-321. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa013171
- McDougle, C. J., Brodkin, E. S., Naylor, S. T., Carlson, D. C., Cohen, D. J., & Price, L. H. (1998). Sertraline in adults with pervasive developmental disorders: a prospective open-label investigation. *J Clin Psychopharmacol*, 18(1), 62-66.

- McDougle, C. J., Holmes, J. P., Carlson, D. C., Pelton, G. H., Cohen, D. J., & Price, L. H. (1998). A double-blind, placebo-controlled study of risperidone in adults with autistic disorder and other pervasive developmental disorders. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 55(7), 633-641.
- McDougle, C. J., Naylor, S. T., Cohen, D. J., Volkmar, F. R., Heninger, G. R., & Price, L. H. (1996). A double-blind, placebo-controlled study of fluvoxamine in adults with autistic disorder. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 53(11), 1001-1008.
- McFarlane, H. G., Kusek, G. K., Yang, M., Phoenix, J. L., Bolivar, V. J., & Crawley, J. N. (2008). Autism-like behavioral phenotypes in BTBR T+tf/J mice. *Genes Brain Behav*, 7(2), 152-163. doi:10.1111/j.1601-183X.2007.00330.x
- McTighe, S. M., Neal, S. J., Lin, Q., Hughes, Z. A., & Smith, D. G. (2013). The BTBR mouse model of autism spectrum disorders has learning and attentional impairments and alterations in acetylcholine and kynurenic acid in prefrontal cortex. *PLoS One*, 8(4), 62189-62200. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0062189
- Medline Â. Autism spectrum disorder: Terminology, epidemiology, and pathogenesis. (2016). *American Psychiatric Association. Autism spectrum disorder. In: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition, American Psychiatric Association*, p.50. Retrieved from http://www.uptodate.com.ezproxy.uaeu.ac.ae/contents/autism-spectrumdisorder-terminology-epidemiology-andpathogenesis/abstract/1?utdPopup=true
- Mefford, H. C., Cooper, G. M., Zerr, T., Smith, J. D., Baker, C., Shafer, N., Thorland, E. C., Skinner, C., Schwartz, C. E., Nickerson, D. A., & Eichler, E. E. (2009). A method for rapid, targeted CNV genotyping identifies rare variants associated with neurocognitive disease. *Genome Res*, 19(9), 1579-1585. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19506092. doi:10.1101/gr.094987.109
- Mefford, H. C., Muhle, H., Ostertag, P., von Spiczak, S., Buysse, K., Baker, C., Franke, A., Malafosse, A., Genton, P., Thomas, P., Gurnett, C. A., Schreiber, S., Bassuk, A. G., Guipponi, M., Stephani, U., Helbig, I., & Eichler, E. E. (2010). Genome-wide copy number variation in epilepsy: novel susceptibility loci in idiopathic generalized and focal epilepsies. *PLoS Genet*, 6(5), 1000962-1000970. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1000962
- Meier, G., Apelt, J., Reichert, U., Grassmann, S., Ligneau, X., Elz, S., Leurquin, F., Ganellin, C. R., Schwartz, J. C., Schunack, W., & Stark, H. (2001). Influence of imidazole replacement in different structural classes of histamine H(3)receptor antagonists. *Eur J Pharm Sci*, 13(3), 249-259.
- Meyer, U., Feldon, J., & Dammann, O. (2011). Schizophrenia and autism: both shared and disorder-specific pathogenesis via perinatal inflammation? *Pediatr Res*, 69, 26r-33r. doi:10.1203/PDR.0b013e318212c196

- Meyza, K. Z., & Blanchard, D. C. (2017). The BTBR mouse model of idiopathic autism - Current view on mechanisms. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 76, 99-110. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.12.037
- Mikhail, F. M., Lose, E. J., Robin, N. H., Descartes, M. D., Rutledge, K. D., Rutledge, S. L., Korf, B. R., & Carroll, A. J. (2011). Clinically relevant single gene or intragenic deletions encompassing critical neurodevelopmental genes in patients with developmental delay, mental retardation, and/or autism spectrum disorders. *Am J Med Genet A*, 155a(10), 2386-2396. doi:10.1002/ajmg.a.34177
- Ming, X., Gordon, E., Kang, N., & Wagner, G. C. (2008). Use of clonidine in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Brain Dev*, 30(7), 454-460. doi:10.1016/j.braindev.2007.12.007
- Mommert, S., Gschwandtner, M., Koether, B., Gutzmer, R., & Werfel, T. (2012). Human memory Th17 cells express a functional histamine H4 receptor. *Am J Pathol*, 180(1), 177-185.
- Monnet-Tschudi, F., Defaux, A., Braissant, O., Cagnon, L., & Zurich, M. G. (2011). Methods to assess neuroinflammation. *Curr Protoc Toxicol, Chapter 12*, Unit12 19. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22058053. doi:10.1002/0471140856.tx1219s50
- Moore, M. L., Eichner, S. F., & Jones, J. R. (2004). Treating functional impairment of autism with selective serotonin-reuptake inhibitors. *Ann Pharmacother*, 38(9), 1515-1519. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15292500. doi:10.1345/aph.1D543
- Moore, S. J., Turnpenny, P., Quinn, A., Glover, S., Lloyd, D. J., Montgomery, T., & Dean, J. C. (2000). A clinical study of 57 children with fetal anticonvulsant syndromes. *J Med Genet*, *37*(7), 489-497. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10882750.
- Morgan, J. T., Chana, G., Pardo, C. A., Achim, C., Semendeferi, K., Buckwalter, J., Courchesne, E., & Everall, I. P. (2010). Microglial activation and increased microglial density observed in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in autism. *Biol Psychiatry*, 68(4), 368-376. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20674603. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.05.024
- Moy, S. S., Nadler, J. J., Perez, A., Barbaro, R. P., Johns, J. M., Magnuson, T. R., Piven, J., & Crawley, J. N. (2004). Sociability and preference for social novelty in five inbred strains: an approach to assess autistic-like behavior in mice. *Genes Brain Behav*, 3(5), 287-302. doi:10.1111/j.1601-1848.2004.00076.x
- Moy, S. S., Nadler, J. J., Poe, M. D., Nonneman, R. J., Young, N. B., Koller, B. H., Crawley, J. N., Duncan, G. E., & Bodfish, J. W. (2008). Development of a mouse test for repetitive, restricted behaviors: relevance to autism. *Behav*

Brain Res, 188(1), 178-194. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18068825. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2007.10.029

- Moy, S. S., Nadler, J. J., Young, N. B., Perez, A., Holloway, L. P., Barbaro, R. P., Barbaro, J. R., Wilson, L. M., Threadgill, D. W., Lauder, J. M., Magnuson, T. R., & Crawley, J. N. (2007). Mouse behavioral tasks relevant to autism: phenotypes of 10 inbred strains. *Behav Brain Res*, 176(1), 4-20. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16971002. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2006.07.030
- Moya-Garcia, A. A., Rodriguez, C. E., Morilla, I., Sanchez-Jimenez, F., & Ranea, J. A. (2011). The function of histamine receptor H4R in the brain revealed by interaction partners. *Front Biosci (Schol Ed)*, *3*, 1058-1066.
- Muhle, R., Trentacoste, S. V., & Rapin, I. (2004). The genetics of autism. *Pediatrics*, *113*(5), e472-486. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15121991.
- Mukaetova-Ladinska, E. B. (2017). Silent lives: why do we fail community-dwelling people with dementia? *Age Ageing*, *46*(3), 341-343. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28338848. doi:10.1093/ageing/afx028
- Mukaetova-Ladinska, E. B., Westwood, J., & Perry, E. K. (2010). Cholinergic Component of Autism Spectrum Disorder. *The Neurochemical Basis of Autism*, 129-161. Retrieved from http://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-1-4419-1272-5_9 doi:10.1007/978-1-4419-1272-5_9
- Mulatinho, M. V., de Carvalho Serao, C. L., Scalco, F., Hardekopf, D., Pekova, S., Mrasek, K., Liehr, T., Weise, A., Rao, N., & Llerena, J. C., Jr. (2012). Severe intellectual disability, omphalocele, hypospadia and high blood pressure associated to a deletion at 2q22.1q22.3: case report. *Mol Cytogenet*, 5(1), 30-36. doi:10.1186/1755-8166-5-30
- Muller, N. (2007). Tourette's syndrome: clinical features, pathophysiology, and therapeutic approaches. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci*, 9(2), 161-171.
- Naaijen, J., Bralten, J., Poelmans, G., consortium, I., Glennon, J. C., Franke, B., & Buitelaar, J. K. (2017). Glutamatergic and GABAergic gene sets in attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder: association to overlapping traits in ADHD and autism. *Transl Psychiatry*, 7(1), 999-1005. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28072412. doi:10.1038/tp.2016.273
- Naddafi, F., & Mirshafiey, A. (2013). The neglected role of histamine in Alzheimer's disease. *Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen*, 28(4), 327-336. doi:10.1177/1533317513488925
- Nadeem, A., Ahmad, S. F., Al-Harbi, N. O., Attia, S. M., Alshammari, M. A., Alzahrani, K. S., & Bakheet, S. A. (2019). Increased oxidative stress in the

cerebellum and peripheral immune cells leads to exaggerated autism-like repetitive behavior due to deficiency of antioxidant response in BTBR T+tf/J mice. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, 89, 245-253. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.09.012

- Nadeem, A., Ahmad, S. F., Bakheet, S. A., Al-Harbi, N. O., Al-Ayadhi, L. Y., Attia, S. M., & Zoheir, K. M. A. (2017). Toll-like receptor 4 signaling is associated with upregulated NADPH oxidase expression in peripheral T cells of children with autism. *Brain Behav Immun*, 61, 146-154. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2016.12.024
- Nadler, J. J., Moy, S. S., Dold, G., Trang, D., Simmons, N., Perez, A., Young, N. B., Barbaro, R. P., Piven, J., Magnuson, T. R., & Crawley, J. N. (2004).
 Automated apparatus for quantitation of social approach behaviors in mice. *Genes Brain Behav*, 3(5), 303-314. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15344923. doi:10.1111/j.1601-183X.2004.00071.x
- Naik, U. S., Gangadharan, C., Abbagani, K., Nagalla, B., Dasari, N., & Manna, S. K. (2011). A study of nuclear transcription factor-kappa B in childhood autism. *PLoS One*, 6(5), 19488-19493. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21573053. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019488
- Nakagawa, Y., & Chiba, K. (2016). Involvement of Neuroinflammation during Brain Development in Social Cognitive Deficits in Autism Spectrum Disorder and Schizophrenia. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 358(3), 504-515. doi:10.1124/jpet.116.234476
- Nakai, N., Nagano, M., Saitow, F., Watanabe, Y., Kawamura, Y., Kawamoto, A., Tamada, K., Mizuma, H., Onoe, H., Watanabe, Y., Monai, H., Hirase, H., Nakatani, J., Inagaki, H., Kawada, T., Miyazaki, T., Watanabe, M., Sato, Y., Okabe, S., Kitamura, K., Kano, M., Hashimoto, K., Suzuki, H., & Takumi, T. (2017). Serotonin rebalances cortical tuning and behavior linked to autism symptoms in 15q11-13 CNV mice. *Sci Adv*, *3*(6), 84-96. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28691086. doi:10.1126/sciadv.1603001
- Nakamura, T., Itadani, H., Hidaka, Y., Ohta, M., & Tanaka, K. (2000). Molecular cloning and characterization of a new human histamine receptor, HH4R. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 279*(2), 615-620.
- Narahari, A., Hussain, M., & Sreeram, V. (2017). MicroRNAs as Biomarkers for Psychiatric Conditions: A Review of Current Research. *Innov Clin Neurosci*, 14(1-2), 53-55. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28386521.
- Nash, K., & Carter, K. J. (2016). Treatment options for the management of pervasive developmental disorders. *Int J Psychiatry Med*, 51(2), 201-210. doi:10.1177/0091217416636600

- Nathan, P. J., Boardley, R., Scott, N., Berges, A., Maruff, P., Sivananthan, T., Upton, N., Lowy, M. T., Nestor, P. J., & Lai, R. (2013). The safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics and cognitive effects of GSK239512, a selective histamine H3 receptor antagonist in patients with mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease: a preliminary investigation. *Curr Alzheimer Res*, 10(3), 240-251.
- Nestler, E. J., & Hyman, S. E. (2010). Animal models of neuropsychiatric disorders. *Nat Neurosci, 13*(10), 1161-1169. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20877280. doi:10.1038/nn.2647
- Nguyen, M., Roth, A., Kyzar, E. J., Poudel, M. K., Wong, K., Stewart, A. M., & Kalueff, A. V. (2014). Decoding the contribution of dopaminergic genes and pathways to autism spectrum disorder (ASD). *Neurochem Int*, 66, 15-26. doi:10.1016/j.neuint.2014.01.002
- Nicolini, C., & Fahnestock, M. (2017). The valproic acid-induced rodent model of autism. *Exp Neurol*, 299, 217-227. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28472621. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2017.04.017
- Nicolson, R., Craven-Thuss, B., & Smith, J. (2006). A prospective, open-label trial of galantamine in autistic disorder. *J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol*, *16*(5), 621-629. doi:10.1089/cap.2006.16.621
- Niederhofer, H., Staffen, W., & Mair, A. (2002). Galantamine may be effective in treating autistic disorder. *Bmj*, 325(7377), 1417-1423.
- Nijmeijer, S., Leurs, R., & Vischer, H. F. (2010). Constitutive activity of the histamine H(1) receptor. *Methods Enzymol*, 484, 127-147.
- Noland, J. S., Steven Reznick, J., Stone, W. L., Walden, T., & Sheridan, E. H. (2010). Better working memory for non-social targets in infant siblings of children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Dev Sci*, 13(1), 244-251. doi:10.1111/j.1467-7687.2009.00882.x
- Nord, A. S., Roeb, W., Dickel, D. E., Walsh, T., Kusenda, M., O'Connor, K. L., Malhotra, D., McCarthy, S. E., Stray, S. M., Taylor, S. M., Sebat, J., King, B., King, M. C., & McClellan, J. M. (2011). Reduced transcript expression of genes affected by inherited and de novo CNVs in autism. *Eur J Hum Genet*, *19*(6), 727-731. doi:10.1038/ejhg.2011.24
- Ogata, H., Ihara, H., Murakami, N., Gito, M., Kido, Y., & Nagai, T. (2014). Autism spectrum disorders and hyperactive/impulsive behaviors in Japanese patients with Prader-Willi syndrome: a comparison between maternal uniparental disomy and deletion cases. *Am J Med Genet A*, *164A*(9), 2180-2186. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24850752. doi:10.1002/ajmg.a.36615
- Ohja, K., Gozal, E., Fahnestock, M., Cai, L., Cai, J., Freedman, J. H., Switala, A., El-Baz, A., & Barnes, G. N. (2018). Neuroimmunologic and Neurotrophic

Interactions in Autism Spectrum Disorders: Relationship to Neuroinflammation. *Neuromolecular Med*, 20(2), 161-173. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29691724. doi:10.1007/s12017-018-8488-8

- Ojha, S., Javed, H., Azimullah, S., Abul Khair, S. B., & Haque, M. E. (2015). Neuroprotective potential of ferulic acid in the rotenone model of Parkinson's disease. *Drug Des Devel Ther*, 9, 5499-5510. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26504373. doi:10.2147/DDDT.S90616
- Ojha, S., Javed, H., Azimullah, S., Abul Khair, S. B., & Haque, M. E. (2016). Glycyrrhizic acid Attenuates Neuroinflammation and Oxidative Stress in Rotenone Model of Parkinson's Disease. *Neurotox Res*, 29(2), 275-287. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26607911. doi:10.1007/s12640-015-9579-z
- Orekhova, E. V., Stroganova, T. A., Prokofyev, A. O., Nygren, G., Gillberg, C., & Elam, M. (2008). Sensory gating in young children with autism: relation to age, IQ, and EEG gamma oscillations. *Neurosci Lett*, 434(2), 218-223. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18313850. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2008.01.066
- Owen, R., Sikich, L., Marcus, R. N., Corey-Lisle, P., Manos, G., McQuade, R. D., Carson, W. H., & Findling, R. L. (2009). Aripiprazole in the treatment of irritability in children and adolescents with autistic disorder. *Pediatrics*, 124(6), 1533-1540. doi:10.1542/peds.2008-3782
- Owley, T., Salt, J., Guter, S., Grieve, A., Walton, L., Ayuyao, N., Leventhal, B. L., & Cook, E. H., Jr. (2006). A prospective, open-label trial of memantine in the treatment of cognitive, behavioral, and memory dysfunction in pervasive developmental disorders. *J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol*, 16(5), 517-524. doi:10.1089/cap.2006.16.517
- Owley, T., Walton, L., Salt, J., Guter, S. J., Jr., Winnega, M., Leventhal, B. L., & Cook, E. H., Jr. (2005). An open-label trial of escitalopram in pervasive developmental disorders. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 44(4), 343-348. doi:10.1097/01.chi.0000153229.80215.a0
- Panksepp, J., & Lensing, P. (1991). Brief report: a synopsis of an open-trial of naltrexone treatment of autism with four children. J Autism Dev Disord, 21(2), 243-249.
- Panula, P., Chazot, P. L., Cowart, M., Gutzmer, R., Leurs, R., Liu, W. L., Stark, H., Thurmond, R. L., & Haas, H. L. (2015). International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. XCVIII. Histamine Receptors. *Pharmacol Rev*, 67(3), 601-655. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26084539. doi:10.1124/pr.114.010249

- Pardo, C. A., Vargas, D. L., & Zimmerman, A. W. (2005). Immunity, neuroglia and neuroinflammation in autism. *Int Rev Psychiatry*, 17(6), 485-495. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16401547. doi:10.1080/02646830500381930
- Paschou, P., Fernandez, T. V., Sharp, F., Heiman, G. A., & Hoekstra, P. J. (2013). Genetic susceptibility and neurotransmitters in Tourette syndrome. *Int Rev Neurobiol*, *112*, 155-177. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24295621. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-411546-0.00006-8
- Pasciuto, E., Borrie, S. C., Kanellopoulos, A. K., Santos, A. R., Cappuyns, E., D'Andrea, L., Pacini, L., & Bagni, C. (2015). Autism Spectrum Disorders: Translating human deficits into mouse behavior. *Neurobiol Learn Mem*, 124, 71-87. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26220900. doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2015.07.013
- Passani, M. B., & Blandina, P. (2011). Histamine receptors in the CNS as targets for therapeutic intervention. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, 32(4), 242-249. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2011.01.003
- Patterson, P. H. (2012). Maternal infection and autism. *Brain Behav Immun*, 26(3), 393. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22001185. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2011.09.008
- Paval, D. (2017). A Dopamine Hypothesis of Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Dev Neurosci*, 39(5), 355-360. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28750400. doi:10.1159/000478725
- Paval, D., Rad, F., Rusu, R., Niculae, A. S., Colosi, H. A., Dobrescu, I., & Dronca, E. (2017). Low Retinal Dehydrogenase 1 (RALDH1) Level in Prepubertal Boys with Autism Spectrum Disorder: A Possible Link to Dopamine Dysfunction? *Clin Psychopharmacol Neurosci*, *15*(3), 229-236. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28783931. doi:10.9758/cpn.2017.15.3.229
- Penagarikano, O., Abrahams, B. S., Herman, E. I., Winden, K. D., Gdalyahu, A., Dong, H., Sonnenblick, L. I., Gruver, R., Almajano, J., Bragin, A., Golshani, P., Trachtenberg, J. T., Peles, E., & Geschwind, D. H. (2011). Absence of CNTNAP2 leads to epilepsy, neuronal migration abnormalities, and core autism-related deficits. *Cell*, 147(1), 235-246. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.08.040
- Perry, E. K., Lee, M. L., Martin-Ruiz, C. M., Court, J. A., Volsen, S. G., Merrit, J., Folly, E., Iversen, P. E., Bauman, M. L., Perry, R. H., & Wenk, G. L. (2001). Cholinergic activity in autism: abnormalities in the cerebral cortex and basal forebrain. *Am J Psychiatry*, *158*(7), 1058-1066. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11431227. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.158.7.1058

- Peter, Z., Oliphant, M. E., & Fernandez, T. V. (2017). Motor Stereotypies: A Pathophysiological Review. *Front Neurosci*, 11, 171-176. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28405185. doi:10.3389/fnins.2017.00171
- Piochon, C., Kloth, A. D., Grasselli, G., Titley, H. K., Nakayama, H., Hashimoto, K., Wan, V., Simmons, D. H., Eissa, T., Nakatani, J., Cherskov, A., Miyazaki, T., Watanabe, M., Takumi, T., Kano, M., Wang, S. S., & Hansel, C. (2015). Corrigendum: Cerebellar plasticity and motor learning deficits in a copynumber variation mouse model of autism. In *Nat Commun*, 5, 5586-5598.
- Pobbe, R. L., Defensor, E. B., Pearson, B. L., Bolivar, V. J., Blanchard, D. C., & Blanchard, R. J. (2011). General and social anxiety in the BTBR T+ tf/J mouse strain. *Behav Brain Res*, 216(1), 446-451. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20816701. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2010.08.039
- Posey, D. J., Puntney, J. I., Sasher, T. M., Kem, D. L., & McDougle, C. J. (2004). Guanfacine treatment of hyperactivity and inattention in pervasive developmental disorders: a retrospective analysis of 80 cases. *J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol*, 14(2), 233-241. doi:10.1089/1044546041649084
- Prell, G. D., Hough, L. B., Khandelwal, J., & Green, J. P. (1996). Lack of a precursor-product relationship between histamine and its metabolites in brain after histidine loading. *J Neurochem*, 67(5), 1938-1944.
- Provensi, G., Costa, A., Passani, M. B., & Blandina, P. (2016). Donepezil, an acetylcholine esterase inhibitor, and ABT-239, a histamine H3 receptor antagonist/inverse agonist, require the integrity of brain histamine system to exert biochemical and procognitive effects in the mouse. *Neuropharmacology*, 109, 139-147. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27291828. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2016.06.010
- Prut, L., & Belzung, C. (2003). The open field as a paradigm to measure the effects of drugs on anxiety-like behaviors: a review. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 463(1-3), 3-33.
- Purcell, A. E., Jeon, O. H., Zimmerman, A. W., Blue, M. E., & Pevsner, J. (2001). Postmortem brain abnormalities of the glutamate neurotransmitter system in autism. *Neurology*, 57(9), 1618-1628.
- Qian, Y., Chen, M., Forssberg, H., & Diaz Heijtz, R. (2013). Genetic variation in dopamine-related gene expression influences motor skill learning in mice. *Genes Brain Behav*, 12(6), 604-614. doi:10.1111/gbb.12062
- Ragozzino, M. E., Pal, S. N., Unick, K., Stefani, M. R., & Gold, P. E. (1998).
 Modulation of hippocampal acetylcholine release and spontaneous alternation scores by intrahippocampal glucose injections. *J Neurosci, 18*(4), 1595-1601.

- Ramalingam, A., Zhou, X. G., Fiedler, S. D., Brawner, S. J., Joyce, J. M., Liu, H. Y., & Yu, S. (2011). 16p13.11 duplication is a risk factor for a wide spectrum of neuropsychiatric disorders. *J Hum Genet*, 56(7), 541-544. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21614007. doi:10.1038/jhg.2011.42
- Rapanelli, M. (2017a). The magnificent two: histamine and the H3 receptor as key modulators of striatal circuitry. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, 73, 36-40. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27773554. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2016.10.002
- Rapanelli, M., Frick, L., Pogorelov, V., Ohtsu, H., Bito, H., & Pittenger, C. (2017b). Histamine H3R receptor activation in the dorsal striatum triggers stereotypies in a mouse model of tic disorders. *Transl Psychiatry*, 7(1), 1013-1021. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28117842. doi:10.1038/tp.2016.290
- Rapanelli, M., Frick, L. R., Horn, K. D., Schwarcz, R. C., Pogorelov, V., Nairn, A. C., & Pittenger, C. (2016a). The Histamine H3 Receptor Differentially Modulates Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase (MAPK) and Akt Signaling in Striatonigral and Striatopallidal Neurons. *J Biol Chem*, 291(40), 21042-21052. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27510032. doi:10.1074/jbc.M116.731406
- Rapanelli, M., & Pittenger, C. (2016b). Histamine and histamine receptors in Tourette syndrome and other neuropsychiatric conditions. *Neuropharmacology*, 106, 85-90. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.08.019
- Ravnan, J. B., Tepperberg, J. H., Papenhausen, P., Lamb, A. N., Hedrick, J., Eash, D., Ledbetter, D. H., & Martin, C. L. (2006). Subtelomere FISH analysis of 11 688 cases: an evaluation of the frequency and pattern of subtelomere rearrangements in individuals with developmental disabilities. *J Med Genet*, 43(6), 478-489. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16199540. doi:10.1136/jmg.2005.036350
- Riedel, G., Kang, S. H., Choi, D. Y., & Platt, B. (2009). Scopolamine-induced deficits in social memory in mice: reversal by donepezil. *Behav Brain Res*, 204(1), 217-225. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19527754. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2009.06.012
- Robinson, W. P., Bernasconi, F., Mutirangura, A., Ledbetter, D. H., Langlois, S., Malcolm, S., Morris, M. A., & Schinzel, A. A. (1993). Nondisjunction of chromosome 15: origin and recombination. *Am J Hum Genet*, *53*(3), 740-751. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8352279.
- Robinson, W. P., Binkert, F., Gine, R., Vazquez, C., Muller, W., Rosenkranz, W., & Schinzel, A. (1993). Clinical and molecular analysis of five inv dup(15) patients. *Eur J Hum Genet*, 1(1), 37-50. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8069650.
- Robinson, W. P., Spiegel, R., & Schinzel, A. A. (1993). Deletion breakpoints associated with the Prader-Willi and Angelman syndromes (15q11-q13) are not sites of high homologous recombination. *Hum Genet*, 91(2), 181-184. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8462978.
- Rocha, S. M., Pires, J., Esteves, M., Graca, B., & Bernardino, L. (2014). Histamine: a new immunomodulatory player in the neuron-glia crosstalk. *Front Cell Neurosci*, 8, 120-126. doi:10.3389/fncel.2014.00120
- Rodier, P. M., Ingram, J. L., Tisdale, B., & Croog, V. J. (1997). Linking etiologies in humans and animal models: studies of autism. *Reprod Toxicol*, 11(2-3), 417-422. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9100317.
- Rodriguez, J. I., & Kern, J. K. (2011). Evidence of microglial activation in autism and its possible role in brain underconnectivity. *Neuron Glia Biol*, 7(2-4), 205-213. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22874006. doi:10.1017/S1740925X12000142
- Ronesi, J. A., Collins, K. A., Hays, S. A., Tsai, N. P., Guo, W., Birnbaum, S. G., Hu, J. H., Worley, P. F., Gibson, J. R., & Huber, K. M. (2012). Disrupted Homer scaffolds mediate abnormal mGluR5 function in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *Nat Neurosci*, 15(3), 431-440. doi:10.1038/nn.3033
- Rossi, P. G., Posar, A., Parmeggiani, A., Pipitone, E., & D'Agata, M. (1999). Niaprazine in the treatment of autistic disorder. *J Child Neurol*, 14(8), 547-550. doi:10.1177/088307389901400814
- Rubenstein, J. L., & Merzenich, M. M. (2003). Model of autism: increased ratio of excitation/inhibition in key neural systems. *Genes Brain Behav*, 2(5), 255-267. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14606691.
- Rugino, T. A., & Samsock, T. C. (2002). Levetiracetam in autistic children: an openlabel study. *J Dev Behav Pediatr, 23*(4), 225-230.
- Ruhela, R. K., Prakash, A., & Medhi, B. (2015). An urgent need for experimental animal model of autism in drug development. *Ann Neurosci, 22*(1), 44-49. doi:10.5214/ans.0972.7531.220210
- Sadek, B., Khan, N., Darras, F. H., Pockes, S., & Decker, M. (2016a). The dualacting AChE inhibitor and H3 receptor antagonist UW-MD-72 reverses amnesia induced by scopolamine or dizocilpine in passive avoidance paradigm in rats. *Physiol Behav*, 165, 383-391. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27568232. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.08.022
- Sadek, B., Saad, A., Latacz, G., Kuder, K., Olejarz, A., Karcz, T., Stark, H., & Kiec-Kononowicz, K. (2016b). Non-imidazole-based histamine H3 receptor antagonists with anticonvulsant activity in different seizure models in male adult rats. *Drug Des Devel Ther*, 10, 3879-3898. Retrieved from

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27932863. doi:10.2147/DDDT.S116192

- Sadek, B., Saad, A., Sadeq, A., Jalal, F., & Stark, H. (2016c). Histamine H3 receptor as a potential target for cognitive symptoms in neuropsychiatric diseases. *Behav Brain Res*, 312, 415-430. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2016.06.051
- Sadek, B., Saad, A., Subramanian, D., Shafiullah, M., Lazewska, D., & Kiec-Kononowiczc, K. (2016d). Anticonvulsant and procognitive properties of the non-imidazole histamine H3 receptor antagonist DL77 in male adult rats. *Neuropharmacology*, 106, 46-55. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.10.023
- Sadek, B., & Stark, H. (2016e). Cherry-picked ligands at histamine receptor subtypes. *Neuropharmacology*, 106, 56-73. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.11.005
- Sahoo, S., Padhy, S. K., Singla, N., & Singh, A. (2017). Effectiveness of clozapine for the treatment of psychosis and disruptive behaviour in a child with Atypical Autism: A case report and a brief review of the evidence. Asian J Psychiatr, 29, 194-195. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28704788. doi:10.1016/j.ajp.2017.07.012
- Samaco, R. C., McGraw, C. M., Ward, C. S., Sun, Y., Neul, J. L., & Zoghbi, H. Y. (2013). Female Mecp2(+/-) mice display robust behavioral deficits on two different genetic backgrounds providing a framework for pre-clinical studies. *Hum Mol Genet*, 22(1), 96-109. doi:10.1093/hmg/dds406
- Sanchez, L. E., Campbell, M., Small, A. M., Cueva, J. E., Armenteros, J. L., & Adams, P. B. (1996). A pilot study of clomipramine in young autistic children. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry, 35(4), 537-544. doi:10.1097/00004583-199604000-00021
- Savage, D. D., Rosenberg, M. J., Wolff, C. R., Akers, K. G., El-Emawy, A., Staples, M. C., Varaschin, R. K., Wright, C. A., Seidel, J. L., Caldwell, K. K., & Hamilton, D. A. (2010). Effects of a novel cognition-enhancing agent on fetal ethanol-induced learning deficits. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 34(10), 1793-1802. doi:10.1111/j.1530-0277.2010.01266.x
- Scahill, L., Aman, M. G., McDougle, C. J., McCracken, J. T., Tierney, E., Dziura, J., Arnold, L. E., Posey, D., Young, C., Shah, B., Ghuman, J., Ritz, L., & Vitiello, B. (2006). A prospective open trial of guanfacine in children with pervasive developmental disorders. *J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol*, 16(5), 589-598. doi:10.1089/cap.2006.16.589
- Schibli, R., & Schubiger, P. A. (2002). Current use and future potential of organometallic radiopharmaceuticals. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging*, 29(11), 1529-1542. doi:10.1007/s00259-002-0900-8

- Schlotter, K., Boeckler, F., Hubner, H., & Gmeiner, P. (2005). Fancy bioisosteres: metallocene-derived G-protein-coupled receptor ligands with subnanomolar binding affinity and novel selectivity profiles. *J Med Chem*, 48(11), 3696-3699. doi:10.1021/jm050170s
- Schmitt, U., & Hiemke, C. (1998). Combination of open field and elevated plusmaze: A suitable test battery to assess strain as well as treatment differences in rat behavior. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 22(7), 1197-1215. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0278584698000517. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0278-5846(98)00051-7
- Schneider, E. H., Schnell, D., Strasser, A., Dove, S., & Seifert, R. (2010). Impact of the DRY motif and the missing "ionic lock" on constitutive activity and Gprotein coupling of the human histamine H4 receptor. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 333(2), 382-392.
- Schneider, E. H., & Seifert, R. (2016). The histamine H4-receptor and the central and peripheral nervous system: A critical analysis of the literature. *Neuropharmacology*, 106, 116-128. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.05.004
- Schneider, T., Roman, A., Basta-Kaim, A., Kubera, M., Budziszewska, B., Schneider, K., & Przewlocki, R. (2008). Gender-specific behavioral and immunological alterations in an animal model of autism induced by prenatal exposure to valproic acid. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *33*(6), 728-740. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18396377. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2008.02.011
- Scott-Van Zeeland, A. A., Abrahams, B. S., Alvarez-Retuerto, A. I., Sonnenblick, L. I., Rudie, J. D., Ghahremani, D., Mumford, J. A., Poldrack, R. A., Dapretto, M., Geschwind, D. H., & Bookheimer, S. Y. (2010). Altered functional connectivity in frontal lobe circuits is associated with variation in the autism risk gene CNTNAP2. *Sci Transl Med*, 2(56), 80-91. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3001344
- Seeman, P. (2010). Dopamine D2 receptors as treatment targets in schizophrenia. *Clin Schizophr Relat Psychoses*, 4(1), 56-73. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20643630. doi:10.3371/CSRP.4.1.5
- Seifert, R., & Wenzel-Seifert, K. (2002). Constitutive activity of G-protein-coupled receptors: cause of disease and common property of wild-type receptors. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol*, 366(5), 381-416.
- Shabab, T., Khanabdali, R., Moghadamtousi, S. Z., Kadir, H. A., & Mohan, G. (2017). Neuroinflammation pathways: a general review. *Int J Neurosci*, 127(7), 624-633. doi:10.1080/00207454.2016.1212854
- Shah, A., & Wing, L. (2006). Psychological approaches to chronic catatonia-like deterioration in autism spectrum disorders. *Int Rev Neurobiol*, 72, 245-264.

Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16697302. doi:10.1016/S0074-7742(05)72015-8

- Shan, L., Bao, A. M., & Swaab, D. F. (2015). The human histaminergic system in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Trends Neurosci*, 38(3), 167-177. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2014.12.008
- Shan, L., Bossers, K., Luchetti, S., Balesar, R., Lethbridge, N., Chazot, P. L., Bao, A. M., & Swaab, D. F. (2012). Alterations in the histaminergic system in the substantia nigra and striatum of Parkinson's patients: a postmortem study. *Neurobiol Aging*, 33(7), 1488.e1-1488.e13
- doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.10.016
- Sheldrick, R. C., & Carter, A. S. (2018). State-Level Trends in the Prevalence of Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) from 2000 to 2012: A Reanalysis of Findings from the Autism and Developmental Disabilities Network. J Autism Dev Disord, 48(9), 3086-3092. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29654453. doi:10.1007/s10803-018-3568-z
- Shi, L., Smith, S. E., Malkova, N., Tse, D., Su, Y., & Patterson, P. H. (2009). Activation of the maternal immune system alters cerebellar development in the offspring. *Brain Behav Immun*, 23(1), 116-123. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18755264. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2008.07.012
- Silverman, J. L., Yang, M., Lord, C., & Crawley, J. N. (2010). Behavioural phenotyping assays for mouse models of autism. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 11(7), 490-502. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20559336. doi:10.1038/nrn2851
- Silverman, J. L., Yang, M., Turner, S. M., Katz, A. M., Bell, D. B., Koenig, J. I., & Crawley, J. N. (2010). Low stress reactivity and neuroendocrine factors in the BTBR T+tf/J mouse model of autism. *Neuroscience*, 171(4), 1197-1208. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20888890. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.09.059
- Simon, T., Laszlo, V., Lang, O., Buzas, E., & Falus, A. (2011). Histamine regulates relevant murine dendritic cell functions via H4 receptor. *Front Biosci (Elite Ed)*, 3, 1414-1424.
- Smit, M. J., Hoffmann, M., Timmerman, H., & Leurs, R. (1999). Molecular properties and signalling pathways of the histamine H1 receptor. *Clin Exp Allergy*, 29, 19-28.
- Soghomonian, J. J., Zhang, K., Reprakash, S., & Blatt, G. J. (2017). Decreased parvalbumin mRNA levels in cerebellar Purkinje cells in autism. *Autism Res*, 10(11), 1787-1796. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28707805. doi:10.1002/aur.1835

- Sokol, D. K., Dunn, D. W., Edwards-Brown, M., & Feinberg, J. (2002). Hydrogen proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy in autism: preliminary evidence of elevated choline/creatine ratio. *J Child Neurol*, 17(4), 245-249. doi:10.1177/088307380201700401
- Srinivasan, P. (2009). A review of dietary interventions in autism. Ann Clin Psychiatry, 21(4), 237-247.
- Stark, H., Sadek, B., Krause, M., Huls, A., Ligneau, X., Ganellin, C. R., Arrang, J. M., Schwartz, J. C., & Schunack, W. (2000). Novel histamine H(3)-receptor antagonists with carbonyl-substituted 4-(3-(phenoxy)propyl)-1H-imidazole structures like ciproxifan and related compounds. *J Med Chem*, 43(21), 3987-3994.
- Steele, S. D., Minshew, N. J., Luna, B., & Sweeney, J. A. (2007). Spatial working memory deficits in autism. J Autism Dev Disord, 37(4), 605-612. doi:10.1007/s10803-006-0202-2
- Stefansson, H., Rujescu, D., Cichon, S., Pietilainen, O. P., Ingason, A., Steinberg, S., Fossdal, R., Sigurdsson, E., Sigmundsson, T., Buizer-Voskamp, J. E., Hansen, T., Jakobsen, K. D., Muglia, P., Francks, C., Matthews, P. M., Gylfason, A., Halldorsson, B. V., Gudbjartsson, D., Thorgeirsson, T. E., Sigurdsson, A., Jonasdottir, A., Bjornsson, A., Mattiasdottir, S., Blondal, T., Haraldsson, M., Magnusdottir, B. B., Giegling, I., Moller, H. J., Hartmann, A., Shianna, K. V., Ge, D., Need, A. C., Crombie, C., Fraser, G., Walker, N., Lonnqvist, J., Suvisaari, J., Tuulio-Henriksson, A., Paunio, T., Toulopoulou, T., Bramon, E., Di Forti, M., Murray, R., Ruggeri, M., Vassos, E., Tosato, S., Walshe, M., Li, T., Vasilescu, C., Muhleisen, T. W., Wang, A. G., Ullum, H., Djurovic, S., Melle, I., Olesen, J., Kiemeney, L. A., Franke, B., Sabatti, C., Freimer, N. B., Gulcher, J. R., Thorsteinsdottir, U., Kong, A., Andreassen, O. A., Ophoff, R. A., Georgi, A., Rietschel, M., Werge, T., Petursson, H., Goldstein, D. B., Nothen, M. M., Peltonen, L., Collier, D. A., St Clair, D., & Stefansson, K. (2008). Large recurrent microdeletions associated with schizophrenia. Nature, 455(7210), 232-236. doi:10.1038/nature07229
- Stephan, D. A. (2008). Unraveling autism. *Am J Hum Genet*, 82(1), 7-9. doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2007.12.003
- Stromland, K., Nordin, V., Miller, M., Akerstrom, B., & Gillberg, C. (1994). Autism in thalidomide embryopathy: a population study. *Dev Med Child Neurol*, 36(4), 351-356. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8157157.
- Stubbs, G., Henley, K., & Green, J. (2016). Autism: Will vitamin D supplementation during pregnancy and early childhood reduce the recurrence rate of autism in newborn siblings? *Med Hypotheses*, 88, 74-78. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26880644. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2016.01.015

- Tabarean, I. V., Sanchez-Alavez, M., & Sethi, J. (2012). Mechanism of H2 histamine receptor dependent modulation of body temperature and neuronal activity in the medial preoptic nucleus. *Neuropharmacology*, 63(2), 171-180.
- Tabet, A. C., Verloes, A., Pilorge, M., Delaby, E., Delorme, R., Nygren, G., Devillard, F., Gerard, M., Passemard, S., Heron, D., Siffroi, J. P., Jacquette, A., Delahaye, A., Perrin, L., Dupont, C., Aboura, A., Bitoun, P., Coleman, M., Leboyer, M., Gillberg, C., Benzacken, B., & Betancur, C. (2015). Complex nature of apparently balanced chromosomal rearrangements in patients with autism spectrum disorder. *Mol Autism*, *6*, 19-32. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25844147. doi:10.1186/s13229-015-0015-2
- Takuma, K., Hara, Y., Kataoka, S., Kawanai, T., Maeda, Y., Watanabe, R., Takano, E., Hayata-Takano, A., Hashimoto, H., Ago, Y., & Matsuda, T. (2014). Chronic treatment with valproic acid or sodium butyrate attenuates novel object recognition deficits and hippocampal dendritic spine loss in a mouse model of autism. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, *126*, 43-49. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25240644. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2014.08.013
- Tao, Y. X. (2008). Constitutive activation of G protein-coupled receptors and diseases: insights into mechanisms of activation and therapeutics. *Pharmacol Ther*, 120(2), 129-148.
- Theoharides, T. C., Tsilioni, I., Patel, A. B., & Doyle, R. (2016). Atopic diseases and inflammation of the brain in the pathogenesis of autism spectrum disorders. *Transl Psychiatry*, 6(6), 844-852. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27351598. doi:10.1038/tp.2016.77
- Thomas, A., Burant, A., Bui, N., Graham, D., Yuva-Paylor, L. A., & Paylor, R. (2009). Marble burying reflects a repetitive and perseverative behavior more than novelty-induced anxiety. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 204(2), 361-373. doi:10.1007/s00213-009-1466-y
- Thomas, J. P., Maiorino, M., Ursini, F., & Girotti, A. W. (1990). Protective action of phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase against membranedamaging lipid peroxidation. In situ reduction of phospholipid and cholesterol hydroperoxides. *J Biol Chem*, 265(1), 454-461. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2294113.
- Threlfell, S., Exley, R., Cragg, S. J., & Greenfield, S. A. (2008). Constitutive histamine H2 receptor activity regulates serotonin release in the substantia nigra. *J Neurochem*, 107(3), 745-755.
- Tiligada, E., Kyriakidis, K., Chazot, P. L., & Passani, M. B. (2011). Histamine pharmacology and new CNS drug targets. *CNS Neurosci Ther*, 17(6), 620-628. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22070192. doi:10.1111/j.1755-5949.2010.00212.x

- Tyrtyshnaia, A. A., Lysenko, L. V., Madamba, F., Manzhulo, I. V., Khotimchenko, M. Y., & Kleschevnikov, A. M. (2016). Acute neuroinflammation provokes intracellular acidification in mouse hippocampus. *J Neuroinflammation*, *13*(1), 283-293. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27809864. doi:10.1186/s12974-016-0747-8
- Ullmann, R., Turner, G., Kirchhoff, M., Chen, W., Tonge, B., Rosenberg, C., Field, M., Vianna-Morgante, A. M., Christie, L., Krepischi-Santos, A. C., Banna, L., Brereton, A. V., Hill, A., Bisgaard, A. M., Muller, I., Hultschig, C., Erdogan, F., Wieczorek, G., & Ropers, H. H. (2007). Array CGH identifies reciprocal 16p13.1 duplications and deletions that predispose to autism and/or mental retardation. *Hum Mutat*, 28(7), 674-682. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17480035. doi:10.1002/humu.20546
- Umukoro, S., Adewole, F. A., Eduviere, A. T., Aderibigbe, A. O., & Onwuchekwa, C. (2014). Free radical scavenging effect of donepezil as the possible contribution to its memory enhancing activity in mice. *Drug Res (Stuttg)*, 64(5), 236-239. doi:10.1055/s-0033-1357126
- Uvebrant, P., & Bauziene, R. (1994). Intractable epilepsy in children. The efficacy of lamotrigine treatment, including non-seizure-related benefits. *Neuropediatrics*, 25(6), 284-289. doi:10.1055/s-2008-1073041
- Vargas, D. L., Nascimbene, C., Krishnan, C., Zimmerman, A. W., & Pardo, C. A. (2005). Neuroglial activation and neuroinflammation in the brain of patients with autism. *Ann Neurol*, 57(1), 67-81. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15546155. doi:10.1002/ana.20315
- Vassos, E., Collier, D. A., Holden, S., Patch, C., Rujescu, D., St Clair, D., & Lewis, C. M. (2010). Penetrance for copy number variants associated with schizophrenia. *Hum Mol Genet*, 19(17), 3477-3481. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddq259
- Veenstra-VanderWeele, J., Muller, C. L., Iwamoto, H., Sauer, J. E., Owens, W. A., Shah, C. R., Cohen, J., Mannangatti, P., Jessen, T., Thompson, B. J., Ye, R., Kerr, T. M., Carneiro, A. M., Crawley, J. N., Sanders-Bush, E., McMahon, D. G., Ramamoorthy, S., Daws, L. C., Sutcliffe, J. S., & Blakely, R. D. (2012). Autism gene variant causes hyperserotonemia, serotonin receptor hypersensitivity, social impairment and repetitive behavior. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109(14), 5469-5474. doi:10.1073/pnas.1112345109
- Viktorin, A., Uher, R., Reichenberg, A., Levine, S. Z., & Sandin, S. (2017). Autism risk following antidepressant medication during pregnancy. *Psychol Med*, 47(16), 2787-2796. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28528584. doi:10.1017/S0033291717001301
- Voineagu, I., Wang, X., Johnston, P., Lowe, J. K., Tian, Y., Horvath, S., Mill, J., Cantor, R. M., Blencowe, B. J., & Geschwind, D. H. (2011). Transcriptomic analysis of autistic brain reveals convergent molecular pathology. *Nature*,

474(7351), 380-384. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21614001. doi:10.1038/nature10110

- Volkmar, F., Cook, E. H., Jr., Pomeroy, J., Realmuto, G., & Tanguay, P. (1999).
 Practice parameters for the assessment and treatment of children, adolescents, and adults with autism and other pervasive developmental disorders.
 American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry Working Group on Quality Issues. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry, 38, 32s-54s.
- von Coburg, Y., Kottke, T., Weizel, L., Ligneau, X., & Stark, H. (2009). Potential utility of histamine H3 receptor antagonist pharmacophore in antipsychotics. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett*, 19(2), 538-542. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed &dopt=Citation&list_uids=19091563. doi:S0960-894X(08)01073-1 [pii] 10.1016/j.bmcl.2008.09.012
- Vorstman, J. A. S., Parr, J. R., Moreno-De-Luca, D., Anney, R. J. L., Nurnberger, J. I., Jr., & Hallmayer, J. F. (2017). Autism genetics: opportunities and challenges for clinical translation. *Nat Rev Genet*, 18(6), 362-376. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28260791. doi:10.1038/nrg.2017.4
- Wada, H., Inagaki, N., Yamatodani, A., & Watanabe, T. (1991). Is the histaminergic neuron system a regulatory center for whole-brain activity? *Trends Neurosci*, 14(9), 415-418.
- Walker, B. R., Diefenbach, K. S., & Parikh, T. N. (2007). Inhibition within the nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS) ameliorates environmental exploration deficits due to cerebellum lesions in an animal model for autism. *Behav Brain Res*, 176(1), 109-120. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2006.08.008
- Wang, H., Liu, J., Zong, Y., Xu, Y., Deng, W., Zhu, H., Liu, Y., Ma, C., Huang, L., Zhang, L., & Qin, C. (2010). miR-106b aberrantly expressed in a double transgenic mouse model for Alzheimer's disease targets TGF-beta type II receptor. *Brain Res*, 1357, 166-174. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20709030. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2010.08.023
- Wang, L., Almeida, L. E., Spornick, N. A., Kenyon, N., Kamimura, S., Khaibullina, A., Nouraie, M., & Quezado, Z. M. (2015). Modulation of social deficits and repetitive behaviors in a mouse model of autism: the role of the nicotinic cholinergic system. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 232(23), 4303-4316. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26337613. doi:10.1007/s00213-015-4058-z
- Wang, S. S., Kloth, A. D., & Badura, A. (2014). The cerebellum, sensitive periods, and autism. *Neuron*, *83*(3), 518-532. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2014.07.016
- Wei, H., Yuan, Y., Liu, S., Wang, C., Yang, F., Lu, Z., Wang, C., Deng, H., Zhao, J., Shen, Y., Zhang, C., Yu, X., & Xu, Q. (2015). Detection of circulating

miRNA levels in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry*, *172*(11), 1141-1147. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26183697. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.14030273

- Weiss, L. A., Shen, Y., Korn, J. M., Arking, D. E., Miller, D. T., Fossdal, R., Saemundsen, E., Stefansson, H., Ferreira, M. A., Green, T., Platt, O. S., Ruderfer, D. M., Walsh, C. A., Altshuler, D., Chakravarti, A., Tanzi, R. E., Stefansson, K., Santangelo, S. L., Gusella, J. F., Sklar, P., Wu, B. L., & Daly, M. J. (2008). Association between microdeletion and microduplication at 16p11.2 and autism. *N Engl J Med*, 358(7), 667-675. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa075974
- Wetmore, D. Z., & Garner, C. C. (2010). Emerging pharmacotherapies for neurodevelopmental disorders. J Dev Behav Pediatr, 31(7), 564-581. doi:10.1097/DBP.0b013e3181ee3833
- Willem Verhoeven, J. E. a. I. F. (2011). Autism Spectrum Disorders: The Role of Genetics in Diagnosis and Treatment. Retrieved from http://www.intechopen.com/books/autism-spectrum-disorders-the-role-ofgenetics-in-diagnosis-and-treatment/autism-and-genetic-syndromes. doi:10.5772/19161
- Witkin, J. M., & Nelson, D. L. (2004). Selective histamine H3 receptor antagonists for treatment of cognitive deficiencies and other disorders of the central nervous system. *Pharmacol Ther*, 103(1), 1-20. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15251226. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2004.05.001
- Wong, C. T., Bestard-Lorigados, I., & Crawford, D. A. (2019). Autism-related behaviors in the cyclooxygenase-2-deficient mouse model. *Genes Brain Behav*, 18(1), 12506-12518. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30027581. doi:10.1111/gbb.12506
- Wong, H. H., & Smith, R. G. (2006). Patterns of complementary and alternative medical therapy use in children diagnosed with autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord, 36(7), 901-909. doi:10.1007/s10803-006-0131-0
- Woolfenden, S., Sarkozy, V., Ridley, G., Coory, M., & Williams, K. (2012). A systematic review of two outcomes in autism spectrum disorder - epilepsy and mortality. *Dev Med Child Neurol*, 54(4), 306-312. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8749.2012.04223.x
- Wright, C., Shin, J. H., Rajpurohit, A., Deep-Soboslay, A., Collado-Torres, L., Brandon, N. J., Hyde, T. M., Kleinman, J. E., Jaffe, A. E., Cross, A. J., & Weinberger, D. R. (2017). Altered expression of histamine signaling genes in autism spectrum disorder. *Transl Psychiatry*, 7(5), 1126-1133. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28485729. doi:10.1038/tp.2017.87

- Xu, G., Strathearn, L., Liu, B., & Bao, W. (2018). Prevalence of Autism Spectrum Disorder Among US Children and Adolescents, 2014-2016. JAMA, 319(1), 81-82. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29297068. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.17812
- Xu, X. L., Zong, R., Li, Z., Biswas, M. H., Fang, Z., Nelson, D. L., & Gao, F. B. (2011). FXR1P but not FMRP regulates the levels of mammalian brainspecific microRNA-9 and microRNA-124. *J Neurosci*, *31*(39), 13705-13709. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21957233. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2827-11.2011
- Yamasaki, T., Tamai, I., & Matsumura, Y. (2001). Activation of histamine H3 receptors inhibits renal noradrenergic neurotransmission in anesthetized dogs. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 280(5), 1450-1456.
- Yang, M., Clarke, A. M., & Crawley, J. N. (2009). Postnatal lesion evidence against a primary role for the corpus callosum in mouse sociability. *Eur J Neurosci*, 29(8), 1663-1677. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19419429. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009.06714.x
- Young, A. M., Campbell, E., Lynch, S., Suckling, J., & Powis, S. J. (2011). Aberrant NF-kappaB expression in autism spectrum condition: a mechanism for neuroinflammation. *Front Psychiatry*, 2, 27-34. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21629840. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2011.00027
- Zampeli, E., & Tiligada, E. (2009). The role of histamine H4 receptor in immune and inflammatory disorders. *Br J Pharmacol*, *157*(1), 24-33.
- Zhang, Y., Gao, D., Kluetzman, K., Mendoza, A., Bolivar, V. J., Reilly, A., Jolly, J. K., & Lawrence, D. A. (2013). The maternal autoimmune environment affects the social behavior of offspring. *J Neuroimmunol*, 258(1-2), 51-60. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23537887. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2013.02.019
- Zhao, H., Jiang, Y. H., & Zhang, Y. Q. (2018). Modeling autism in non-human primates: Opportunities and challenges. *Autism Res*, 11(5), 686-694. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29573234. doi:10.1002/aur.1945
- Zuddas, A., Ledda, M. G., Fratta, A., Muglia, P., & Cianchetti, C. (1996). Clinical effects of clozapine on autistic disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*, 153(5), 738-746.

List of Publications

- Eissa, N., Jayaprakash, P., Azimullah, S., Ojha, S.K., Al-Houqani, M., Jalal, F.Y., Lazewska, D., Kiec-Kononowicz, K., & Sadek, B. (2018). The histamine H3R antagonist DL77 attenuates autistic behaviors in a prenatal valproic acidinduced mouse model of autism. *Scientific Reports*, 8, 1-15.
- Eissa, N., Al-Houqani, M., Sadeq, A., Ojha, S. K., Sasse, A., & Sadek, B. (2018). Current Enlightenment About Etiology and Pharmacological Treatment of Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, *12*, 304-330.
- Eissa, N., Khan, N., Ojha, S. K., Lazewska, D., Kiec-Kononowicz, K., & Sadek, B. (2018). The Histamine H3 Receptor Antagonist DL77 Ameliorates MK801-Induced Memory Deficits in Rats. *Front Neurosci*, 12, 42-52.